
 

  wincoil.gov | Page 1  

 
REVISED 
AGENDA 

 
Winnebago County Courthouse  

400 West State Street, Rockford, IL 61101 
County Board Room, 8th Floor 

 

Thursday, June 13, 2024 
6:00 p.m. 

 
1. Call to Order  ............................................................................... Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
 
2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance………………………….……………………………………Aaron Booker  
 
3. Agenda Announcements .............................................................. Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
 
4. Roll Call ................................................................................................ Clerk Lori Gummow 
 
5. Awards, Presentations, Public Hearings and Public Participation 

A. Awards – None 
B. Presentations – None 
C. Public Hearings – None 
D. Public Participation – None 

 
6. Approval of Minutes .................................................................... Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 

A. Approval of May 9, 2024 minutes  
B. Layover of May 23, 2024 minutes  

 
7. Consent Agenda………………………………………………….………………………Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 

A. Raffle Report   
B. Auditor’s Report 

 
8. Appointments (Per County Board rules, Board Chairman appointments require a 30-day 

layover unless there is a suspension of the rule) 
A. Rockford Corridor Improvement, Inc., Annual Compensation: None 

1. Pastor Maurice A. West (Reappointment), Rockford, Illinois, to serve 3-year term 
expiring November 2026 

2. LoRayne Logan (Reappointment), Rockford, Illinois, to serve 3-year term expiring May 
2027 

B. Howard Union Cemetery Association, Annual Compensation: None 



 

wincoil.gov | Page 2  

1. George Fagerstrom (Reappointment), Pecatonica, Illinois, to serve 6-year term 
expiring June 2030 

2. Kris Smith (New Appointment), Davis, Illinois, to serve 6-year term expiring June 2030 
 

9. Reports of Standing Committees ………………………………………………….Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
 

A. Finance Committee ....................................................... John Butitta, Committee Chairman 
1. Committee Report 
2. Ordinance for a Budget Amendment for State’s Attorney VOCA Grant Renewal to be 

Laid Over 
3. Ordinance for a Budget Amendment for Bond Paying Agent Fees to be Laid Over 

 
B. Zoning Committee ........................................................ Jim Webster, Committee Chairman 

Planning and/or Zoning Requests: 
1. Committee Report 

 
C. Economic Development Committee .......................... John Sweeney, Committee Chairman 

1. Committee Report 
2. Resolution Authorizing Execution of a Development Agreement with the Village of New 

Milford for a $400,000 Host Fee Loan Pursuant to the Economic Development, 
Business Incentive and Host Fee Program Policy 
 

D. Operations and Administrative Committee ............ Keith McDonald, Committee Chairman 
1. Committee Report 
2. Resolution Awarding Purchase of Detective Squad Vehicle for Sheriff’s Office using CIP 

24 Funds 
Cost:  $49,153 

3. Resolution Awarding Purchase of Crime Scene Vehicle for Sheriff’s Office using CIP 24 
Funds  
Cost: $49,298 

4. Ordinance Amending Chapter 6 of the Winnebago County Code to Give the Winnebago 
County Liquor Control Commission the Authority to Grant Exemptions to Section 5/6-
11 of the Liquor Control Act of 1934 which prohibits the Sale of Alcoholic Liquor Near 
Churches, Schools, and Hospitals to be Laid Over 
 

E. Public Works Committee ............................................. Dave Tassoni, Committee Chairman 
1. Committee Report 

 
F. Public Safety and Judiciary Committee……………………Brad Lindmark, Committee Chairman 

1. Committee Report 
 

G. Legislative and Lobbying Committee……………………….Jaime Salgado, Committee Chairman 
1. Committee Report 

 
10. Unfinished Business …………………………….……………………………………..Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 

 



 

wincoil.gov | Page 3  

Appointments read in on April 25, 2024 
A.  Twelve Mile Grove Cemetery Association, Annual Compensation: None 

1.   Gordon Dirksen (New Appointment), Pecatonica, Illinois, to serve 6-year term expiring  
May 2030 

2. Mark Hazzard (New Appointment), Winnebago, Illinois, to serve 6-year term expiring 
May 2030 

 
B.   Cherry Valley Cemetery Association, Annual Compensation: None 

1. Ryan Gordon (Reappointment), So. Beloit, Illinois, to serve 6-year term expiring May 
2030 

2. Christopher Nelson (Reappointment), Cherry Valley, Illinois, to serve 6-year term 
expiring May 2030 

 
C.  Durand Sanitary District, Annual Compensation: $500  

1. Ken Gibler (Reappointment), Durand, Illinois, to serve a 3-year term expiring May 2027 
 
D. Emergency Telephone System Board, Annual Compensation: None 

1. Todd Stockburger (Reappointment), Rockford, Illinois, to serve 3-year term expiring 
May 2027 

2. Edward J. “E.J.” Dilonardo (Reappointment), Roscoe, Illinois, to serve 3-year term 
expiring May 2027 
 

E.   Four Rivers Sanitation Authority, Annual Compensation: $6,000 
1. Richard Mowris (Reappointment), Rockford, Illinois, to serve a 3-year term expiring 

April 2027 
 
Appointments read in on May 9, 2024 
A. Cherry Valley Fire Protection District, Annual Compensation: $4,500 

1. Steve Schwartz (Reappointment), Cherry Valley, Illinois, to serve a 3-year term expiring 
May 2027 
  

B. New Milford Fire Protection District, Annual Compensation:  $1,000 
1. Robert Sickler (Reappointment), Rockford, Illinois, to serve a 3-year term expiring May 

2027 
 

C.  North Park Public Water District, Annual Compensation: $1,200 
1. Todd Scott (Reappointment), Machesney Park, Illinois, to serve a 5-year term expiring 

May 2029 
 

D.  Northwest Fire Protection District, Annual Compensation: $1,000 
1. Matt Lawrence (Reappointment), Machesney Park, Illinois, to serve a 3-year term 

expiring May 2027 
 

E.  Otter Creek Utility Board, Annual Compensation: None 
1. Roger Allen (Reappointment), Davis, Illinois, to serve a 5-year term expiring May 2029 



 

wincoil.gov | Page 4  

 Public Works Committee 
A. (24-023) Ordinance Amending Chapter 50, Article IV of the Winnebago County Code and 

Adopting a Surface Water Management – Fee Schedule Laid Over from May 23, 2024 
Meeting 
Cost:  $N/A      C.B. District: County Wide 
 

11. New Business………………………………………………………………………………Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
(Per County Board rules, passage will require a suspension of Board rules). 
 

12. Announcements & Communications ..................................................... Clerk Lori Gummow 
A. Correspondence (see packet)   

 
13.  Adjournment …………………………………………………………………………..….Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
 

Next Meeting:  Thursday, June 27, 2024 



Awards,  
Presentations,  
Public Hearings  

and Public Participation 



Approval of 
Minutes 























CONSENT 
AGENDA 



All applying organizations have complied with the requirements of the Winnebago

LICENSE # OF
# RAFFLES NAME OF ORGANIZATION LICENSE DATES AMOUNT

31115 1 GIGI'S PLAYHOUSE 06/17/24-07/29/24 $1,800.00
31116 1 ROCKFORD ART MUSEUM 6/14/2024 $1,500.00
31117 1 ROCKFORD STEEL PIGS 06/01/24-09/28/24 $700.00

31118 1
ST. STANISCAUS KOSTKA 
CHURCH 8/11/2024 $2,000.00

31119 1
ST. STANISCAUS KOSTKA 
CHURCH 8/11/2024 $150.00

31120 1 WEST GATEWAY COALITION 06/19/24-09/03/24 $400.00

31121 1
AAUW- ROCKFORD AREA 
BRANCH 07/09/24-07/16/24 $4,999.00

31122 1 FAMILY PEACE CENTER 7/11/2024 $1,000.00

31123 1

AMERICAN LEGION WALTER 
GRAHAM AUXILIARY POST 
#332 9/14/2024 $100.00

31124 1
CENTER FOR SIGHT AND 
HEARING 6/24/2024 $2,500.00

LICENSE # OF
# RAFFLES NAME OF ORGANIZATION LICENSE DATES AMOUNT

LICENSE # OF
# RAFFLES NAME OF ORGANIZATION LICENSE DATES AMOUNT

RAFFLE APPLICATION REPORT

Presently the County Clerk's office has  Raffle Applications submitted by
  9  different organization for 10  Raffles.

County Raffle Ordinance.  All fees have been collected, bonds received and all
individuals involved with the raffles have received the necessary Sheriff's

Department clearance.

The Following Have Requested A Class A, General License

The Following Have Requested a Class B, MULTIPLE (2, 3 OR 4) LICENSE

The Following Have Requested a Class C, One Time Emergency License



The Following Have Requested a Class D,E,& F Limited Annual License
LICENSE # OF

# RAFFLES NAME OF ORGANIZATION LICENSE DATES AMOUNT

31114 1 ROCKTON LIONS CLUB 09/2024-05/2024 $100.00

Deputy Clerk Daisy Carrillo

Date
Winnebago County Clerk

This concludes my report,

13-Jun-24LORI GUMMOW







Appointments 



      404 Elm Street • Room 533 • Rockford, IL 61101 | Website: www.WinCoIL.gov 
It is our mission to provide high quality services and promote a safe community for all people in Winnebago County. 

Executive Summary 
Date: June 13, 2024 
From: County Board Chairman Joseph V. Chiarelli 
Topic: Board Appointment 
State of Illinois Public Act 099-0634 requires disclosure of appointments to local public entities. 
County Code Chapter 2, Article II, Division 4, Section 2-88 states, “The Chairman shall make all 
appointments to commissions, boards, authorities, or special districts with the advice and consent of the 
county board, or as otherwise provided by law.” 
Recommendation: County Board Chairman Joseph V. Chiarelli recommends 
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………. 
LoRayne Logan of Rockford, Illinois to serve a 3-year term expiring June 2027 and Pastor 
Maurice A. West of Rockford, Illinois to serve 3-year term expiring November 2026 on the 
Rockford Corridor Improvement, Inc. Board 

Rockford Corridor Improvement, Inc. 

Location: 1401 N 2nd Street 
Rockford, IL 61107-3044 

Description: 501(C)3 - To reduce the burdens which neighborhood blight imposes on units of 
government. 

Board 
Composition: 

The Board of Directors shall consist of seven (7) Directors appointed as follows: 
• Two (2) appointed by the Mayor of the City of Rockford;
• Two (2) appointed by the Chairman of the Winnebago County Board;
• Two (2) appointed by the Superintendent of the Rockford Public Schools:
• One (1) appointed by the Rockford Local Development Corporation
• At least one (1) of the seven (7) Directors shall be employed by or on the Board of
Directors of a Rockford, Illinois, bank.
Nominations for Positions available on the Board shall be presented in writing to the
other Directors at least ten (10) days prior to the election date; election of new
Directors or election of current Directors to a second term shall be elected by the
Board of Directors at the Annual Meeting.

Compensation: None 
Bond: None 

Attorney: None 
Meetings: One Annual Meeting and “As Needed” Meetings 

Origin of Entity: Local 501(C)3 
Property 

Tax/Funding: None 

Consolidation: If applicable  



1

Karen Elyea

From: John Holmstrom III <John.Holmstrom@acjohnston.com>
Sent: Friday, May 31, 2024 9:37 AM
To: Joseph Chiarelli
Cc: Karen Elyea
Subject: Rockford Corridor Improvement

CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organization. Exercise caution when opening attachments or clicking links, 
especially from unknown senders. 

Chairman Chiarelli, 

                As you may recall, Rockford Corridor Improvement is a local non‐profit organization that was formed in 2014 to 
“leverage” the recent public investment in the West State Street Corridor improvement plan and in the two grade 
schools in the same neighborhood by assisting in the demolition of abandoned houses in the Ellis Heights 
neighborhood.  Over the last 10 years, RCI has invested over $1.3 million in the demolition of abandoned houses, grants 
to support housing rehab, Habitat for Humanities projects, sidewalk repairs, and the Zion West Enterprises 
neighborhood organization, and donated over 30 vacant lots to the owners of adjoining homes. 

                Rockford Corridor Improvement has seven board members: 

 Two are appointed by the County Board Chairman—currently these are Maurice West Sr. and LoRayne Logan 
(LoRayne was appointed to fill the unexpired term of Peg Wartowski). 

 Two by the Rockford Mayor—currently Shaun McCarren and me; 
 Two by the Superintendent of District 205 schools—currently Ben Holmstrom and Frank Wehrstein; 
 One by the President of the Rockford Local Development Authority—Currently Jamie Cassell (Jamie has served 

as the President of RCI for 10 years). 

                The board members serve for three‐year terms, and the current terms expire this year. They are both very 
valuable, active, board members.   

                I would appreciate it if you would let me know if you intend to reappoint  Pastor West and LoRayne as board 
members or if you want to make different appointments. 

 

John 
  

 
               
John Holmstrom 
AC Johnston 
1401 North Second St. 
Rockford, IL  61107 
john.holmstrom@acjohnston.com 
815‐963‐7438 (w) 
815‐985‐5037 (c) 
  
The contents of this e-mail message and any attachments are intended solely for the addressee(s) named in this 
message. This communication is intended to be and to remain confidential and may be subject to applicable 



2

attorney/client and/or work product privileges. If you are not the intended recipient of this message, or if this message has 
been addressed to you in error, please immediately alert the sender by reply e-mail and then delete this message and its 
attachments. Do not deliver, distribute or copy this message and/or any attachments and if you are not the intended 
recipient, do not disclose the contents or take any action in reliance upon the information contained in this communication 
or any attachments. 
 



 

  1 

1401 North Second Rockford, IL 61107 P 815-963-7400 F 815-963-7415 
 

April 6, 2021 

Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 

404 Elm Street 

Room 533 

Rockford, Illinois 61101 

 

RE: Rockford Corridor Improvement, Inc. Community Revitalization Progress 

Dear Joe, 

Rockford Corridor Improvement, Inc., (RCI) was organized in January 2014 for the following 

purposes: (a) to reduce the burdens which neighborhood blight imposes on units of government; (b) 

to combat community deterioration and lessen neighborhood tensions by facilitating the improvement 

of key corridors in the City of Rockford through the acquisition and demolition of abandoned 

buildings; and (c) to facilitate the eventual reuse of impacted property in a beneficial manner. The 

term “Key Corridors” means significant arterial roadways in the City of Rockford and areas along 

routes that children use to get to and from grade school.  RCI is governed by a Board of seven Directors 

consisting of 2 members appointed by the Mayor of the City of Rockford (currently Shaun McCarren 

and John Holmstrom), 2 members appointed by the Chairman of the Winnebago County Board 

(currently Peg Wartowski and Pastor Maurice West), one member appointed by the President of the 

Rockford Local Development Corporation (currently Jamie Cassell, who is the President of the 

organization), and 2 members appointed by the Superintendent of the Rockford Public Schools 

(currently Anthony Wilson and Frank Wehrstein). 

We believe that it is particularly important to focus on the creation of “safe routes” for grade 

school kids.  The removal of blighted properties will also increase property values of neighboring 

properties and deter criminal activity that takes place in abandoned, vacant houses.  A number of 

studies in other communities have found that the demolition of abandoned houses increases the value 

of property in the vicinity by as much as 5% to 10%.   



  2 

RCI is a non-profit corporation exempt from Federal income tax under Section 501(c)(3) of 

the Internal Revenue Code.  RCI concentrates the acquisition and demolition of dangerous abandoned 

houses to try to have a significant impact on a neighborhood; i.e., the organization can have a greater 

impact by concentrating on several structures in the same neighborhood rather than demolishing the 

same number of structures scattered throughout the City.  

 Each board member serves for a three year term and the initial terms were to expire on the 

first annual meeting after December 1, 2017.  Under the by-laws, if a board member is to be re-

appointed for an additional term, the appointment is to be made by whomever appointed that board 

member to his or her initial term.  The annual meeting is scheduled for April 2018.  

RCI does not have a compensated staff.  All staff services are provided by A C Johnston, LLC 

at no charge.   

The neighborhood where RCI has initially focused its efforts is the “Ellis Heights” 

neighborhood.  Ellis Heights is bisected by West State Street, a major highway corridor, and is served 

by two grade schools:  Lewis Lemon and Ellis Arts Academy.  The City has recently made a substantial 

investment to improve West State Street through the Ellis Heights neighborhood adding greenspace, 

wider pavement, landscaping, and sites for commercial development. 

The Ellis Heights neighborhood has a large number of abandoned houses; when RCI was 

formed, over 20% of the housing stock was vacant, and in a more recent survey by the City, over 320 

houses in the neighborhood were reportedly vacant.  Over 65% of the occupied residences are rentals.   

The population of Ellis Height is approximately 67% African-American.  Approximately 47% of the 

population lives below the poverty line.  The average household income in Ellis Heights is 

approximately $25,000, compared to the average household income in the County of approximately 

$50,000. 

The City and RCI have entered a series of  agreements (the “Development Agreements”) for 

the acquisition and demolition of abandoned residences in Ellis Heights. Under each Development 

Agreement, RCI provides the funds for the demolition of each structure, and after a house is 

demolished, RCI may take title to the lot through the City’s exercise of its statutory demolition powers. 

So far, RCI has demolished approximately 50 houses under these agreements.  In general, the houses 

in the Initial Development Agreement were handled through what is referred to as the “Fast Track” 

program—something of a misnomer given the length of time it takes for the City to go through the 



  3 

state-mandated steps.  This process involves the City giving notice to everyone with an interest in the 

property (frequently including delinquent tax purchasers), obtaining bids for demolition and asbestos 

abatement, contracting for the work, obtaining a demolition lien on each parcel, foreclosing its lien in 

a process similar to the foreclosure of a mortgage, and advertising the parcel for judicial sale.  At the 

conclusion of this process, which can take up to 36 months or longer, the City takes title to the lot.  It 

then must go through a state-mandated process to transfer the lot to RCI.  Because of the time and cost 

involved, the City has rarely gone through this foreclosure process, so most of the vacant lots are 

owned by private owners or the County Trustee and are subject to the City’s demolition lien. 

RCI may also acquire property by donation from banks (which may be gifts of title to the 

property or the bank’s interest as mortgagee), by direct transfer from the City, or by donation from 

third parties.  For example, the structure at 204 Irving Avenue was donated to RCI by Judson 

University in 2015.  In some instances, the City has acquired an abandoned house by purchasing it 

from the Trustee who holds title to tax-delinquent parcels on behalf of Winnebago County. 

So far, the demolition and other costs for RCI have been contributed by William Charles 

Construction Company, Northwestern Illinois Contractors Association, Winnebago County, local 

banks, and services contributed by a local law firm.   

The Development Agreements provide that houses will be selected for demolition by the 

mutual agreement of the City and RCI.  RCI will provide the funds for the demolition, and the bidding 

process will be conducted by the City on RCI’s behalf using the City’s demolition bidding 

specifications.  Additionally, the City solicits bids, provides the asbestos inspections, and arranges for 

the disconnection of utilities.  The City’s legal staff would also handle the foreclosure of the City’s 

demolition lien if they decided to pursue that approach.  The City’s community development staff 

verifies that each house is eligible for demolition under state law and handles the posting and mailing 

of notices to all parties claiming an interest in the property.  The City provides these services in 

connection with the demolition/restoration work at no cost to RCI. 

In this regard, RCI has investigated the possibility of building new “for sale” houses on lots 

which it acquires.  We have worked with a local bank, builder, and appraiser to assess the level of 

subsidy that would be necessary.  At present, our assessment is that it would take a total subsidy of 

approximately $50,000 per house to support the construction and sale of modest houses in the Ellis 

Heights neighborhood. 



  4 

In addition to the abandoned houses that are demolished by RCI in collaboration with the City 

under the annual Development Agreements, RCI and the City have formed a partnership under the 

Blight Reduction Program. The Blight Reduction Program (“BRP”) is a federally funded program that 

is administered through the Illinois Housing Development Authority (“IHDA”).  The BRP is a U.S. 

Treasury forgivable loan program that awards funds to community not-for-profits to “target blighted, 

vacant, residential properties in specific communities for demolition, greening, and eventual reuse, 

repurpose, and/or redevelopment.”  The program requires cities to form partnerships with non-profit 

organizations to acquire and demolish abandoned houses in census tracts that the City identifies as 

“blighted.”  In 2016 the partnership of the City and RCI secured a commitment for a $1,190,000 

forgivable loan from IHDA to demolish abandoned homes in the Ellis Heights and Kishwaukee School 

areas.  The County has a similar partnership with Comprehensive Community Solutions.    

The BRP provides up to $35,000 per house to cover the costs of acquisition, clearing title, 

demolition, planting grass or other landscaping, lot maintenance, and up to $1700 of administration 

costs.  The program requirements are incredibly complex and compliance requires a very substantial 

commitment of time and effort from City staff.  Basically, however, the BRP requires that the City 

obtain clear title to an abandoned house before any demolition can take place.  The City then transfers 

the house to RCI subject the obligation of RCI to repay the City for the costs that the City has incurred 

in obtaining clear title.  RCI then contracts out the demolition and applies to IHDA for a loan to cover 

the cost of repaying the City, demolition, “greening,” and administration.  If the work complies with 

the IHDA rules, IHDA makes a loan to RCI and RCI uses the loan proceeds to repay the City, cover 

the demolition costs, and pay the administrative charge to the City.  RCI does not retain any 

administrative, overhead, or supervisory charges.  Assuming that RCI complies with the program rules 

going forward, the IHDA loan is forgiven over a three-year period although under some circumstances 

it may be forgiven earlier; i.e., if the lot is transferred to an adjoining homeowner.  

Under the BRP, RCI demolished 49 abandoned houses.  Consistent with BRP guidelines and 

RCI’s policies, RCI will donate these demolished lots to qualifying adjoining homeowners, churches, 

and organizations.    

In total, about 100 blighted houses have been demolished by RCI under the Development 

Agreements and the BRP and the total demolition costs funded by RCI outside of the BRP to date are 

approximately $750,000.   Currently, RCI and the City of Rockford are in the process of pursuing 26 



  5 

additional abandoned houses under these two projects and intend to pursue more properties as funds 

allow. 

The mission of RCI is to acquire and demolish abandoned houses, and to turn the property 

over (by donation or sale) to an appropriate owner for an appropriate use as promptly as possible.  RCI 

does not intend to hold property indefinitely or to redevelop property itself, so it is not like a “Land 

Bank” in that respect.  “Appropriate owners” may be the owners of adjoining houses, the Park District, 

a local church, a community garden, the School District, the local development corporation, a 

developer interested in constructing a new house.  Property may be transferred subject to restrictive 

covenants which will control the nature, design, and scale of any future use and will prohibit certain 

uses which the City determines are unacceptable.  In this regard, the Development Agreements all 

provide that any lots transferred for the construction of new residences must be for market rate, single 

family, owner-occupied residences or for any other use approved by the City. To date, fifteen lots have 

been transferred to an adjoining homeowner or church, and several lots which abut other City-owned 

lots have been retained by the City,. 

In addition to the demolition of abandoned houses, RCI has donated equipment and start-up 

capital for Zion West Enterprises (“ZWE”).  ZWE is a collaborative effort organized by Reverend 

Hightower at Mount Zion Missionary Baptist Church which employs residents of Ellis Heights in 

maintaining vacant lots in the neighborhood under contracts with the City, RCI, churches, and other 

private property owners. ZWE resulted from the efforts of the City staff, the United Way, the 

Community Foundation of Northern Illinois, and RCI.  They started with a contract with the City to 

maintain 26 lots and currently are responsible for maintaining over 350. 

RCI was also able to obtain a matching grant from the Northwestern Illinois Contractor’s 

Association to cover $50,000 toward the cost to improve the sidewalk along Andrews Street from 

Avon to Lewis Lemon School. The remaining costs, which wound up being well in excess of $50,000, 

were paid by the City.  This is the route of the “walking school bus” along which YMCA staff and 

volunteers escort children to and from Lewis Lemon.   

Not surprisingly, there are some challenges in an effort like what RCI has undertaken.  

• The complexity of the foreclosure process in Illinois leads to long foreclosure times.  

As of 2017, Illinois is reported to have one of the longest foreclosure times in the 

country—an average of over 1000 days (https://www.nolo.com/legal-

https://www.nolo.com/legal-encyclopedia/states-with-long-foreclosure-timelines.html
https://www.nolo.com/legal-encyclopedia/states-with-long-foreclosure-timelines.html
https://www.nolo.com/legal-encyclopedia/states-with-long-foreclosure-timelines.html


  6 

encyclopedia/states-with-long-foreclosure-timelines.html) or 215 days in an 

uncontested case (https://www.foreclosure.com/statelaw_IL.html).  Even if there is 

no opposition and the court’s and attorney’s calendars permit the process to work 

as fast as is theoretically possible, it will take over 15 months to complete a 

foreclosure. 

• The U.S. Treasury guidelines for the BRP lack the flexibility to necessary to address 

differences in taxing powers at the local level. The IHDA BRP rules are modeled 

in accordance with U.S. Treasury guidelines, and are designed for states which have 

completely different tax delinquency systems from Illinois. This lack of flexibility 

in IHDA BRP rules results in a more burdensome process to eliminate delinquent 

taxes and receive reimbursement for these expenses under the program. Although 

RCI was able to bring about a change in state legislation to ease the delinquent tax 

burden on the City for properties acquired under the BRP, the City had purchased 

over 30 properties before the law became effective.   

• Currently, there is no comprehensive strategy for the reuse of the vacant lots created 

by the demolition of abandoned houses or, for that matter, for neighborhood 

improvement in which the demolition of abandoned houses plays a part.  Such a 

strategy might include infrastructure improvements, school-neighborhood 

relationships, employment and training, options available through land banks, 

community development financial organizations or other private financing sources, 

etc. Additionally, Rockford is not a Home-Rule municipality. If Rockford were to 

become a Home-Rule municipality, the flexibility of Home Rule powers could 

assist in the implementation of a comprehensive strategy to address neighborhood 

redevelopment.  

• The cost of new home construction in neighborhoods like Ellis Heights is 

essentially double what the finished house would appraise.  Without substantial 

subsidies, it is simply not possible to build new housing on the lots created through 

the BRP and RCI projects. As an alternative, we are currently investigating the 

possibility of creating a forgivable loan fund that would provide financing to 

https://www.nolo.com/legal-encyclopedia/states-with-long-foreclosure-timelines.html
https://www.nolo.com/legal-encyclopedia/states-with-long-foreclosure-timelines.html


  7 

homeowners in the Ellis Heights neighborhood for remodeling or home 

improvements. 

If you have any questions or would like any additional information, please feel free to give 

me a call. 

Best regards, 

         Respectfully,  

 

        John Holmstrom 

 

 

 



MAURICE	A.	WEST	
6353	Sawgrass	Drive		 (815)	978-8205	
Rockford,	IL	61114	 maurice.west@icloud.com		
								

Summary		
	
Experienced	religious	and	community	leader	with	a	demonstrated	history	of	working	in	religious	institutions	
and	private	sector.	Skilled/demonstrated	experience	in	church	management,	biblical	interpretation,	nonprofit	
organizations,	analysis,	counseling/mentoring,	and	management.	Retired	as	a	Senior	Business	Management	
Manager	 with	 over	 thirty-six	 (36)	 years	 of	 defense	 industry	 experience	 managing	 business	 units	 and	
implementing	new	techniques	for	highly	technical	and	complex	systems	for	both	domestic	and	international	
customers.	Demonstrated	ability	to	manage	diverse	and	challenging	assignments	and	develop	new	initiatives	
from	concept	 to	execution	stage.	 	Strong	religious	 training	 in	structured	and	non-structured	environments.		
Promotes	results	through	team	leadership	and	collaboration	across	all	organizations.			
																																																		

Experience	
	
ROCKFORD	MINISTERS	FELLOWSHIP,	Rockford,	IL	 2014-Present	
President.		 2020-Present	
Provide	 guidance/representation	 for	 a	 fellowship	 of	 churches	 within	 the	 Rockford	 region	 on	 community	
engagement,	social	injustice	issues,	political	issues,	educational	issues,	etc.	
	
Vice	President	 2016-2020	
	
BOARD	OF	FIRE	&	POLICE	COMMISSIONERS,	Rockford,	IL	 2014-2021	
One	of	three	commissioners	responsible	for	examinations	for	membership	in	the	fire	and	police	departments	
and	for	promotions	within	the	departments.	Elected	as	Board	Chair	in	September	2017.	
	
ROCKFORD	CORRIDOR	IMPROVEMENT	(RCI),	Rockford,	IL	 2014-Present	
Board	 member	 approved	 by	 the	 Winnebago	 County	 Board.	 	 RCI	 exists	 to	 (a)	 reduce	 the	 burdens	 which	
neighborhood	 blight	 imposes	 on	 units	 of	 government;	 (b)	 combat	 community	 deterioration	 and	 lessen	
neighborhood	tensions	by	facilitating	the	improvement	of	key	corridors	in	Rockford	through	the	acquisition	
and	demolition	of	abandoned	buildings	and	(c)	facilitate	the	potential	reuse	of	impacted	property.	
	
TRANSFORM	ROCKFORD,	Rockford,	IL	 2013-2014	
Co-Leader	of	the	Analysis	Team.	Provide	Analysis	Team	guidance	for	the	standup	of	the	Transform	Rockford	
initiative	which	lead	to	the	initial	visioning	efforts,	and	segment	and	spoke	teams	drafting	strategy	and	plans.	
	
WEST	SIDE	CHURCH	OF	GOD	IN	CHRIST,	Rockford,	IL	 	
Lead	Pastor	 1999-Present	
Responsible	for	all	administration	of	the	church.	Delegate	and	oversee	the	planning	of	outreach	activities	in	the	
surrounding	community.	Oversee	the	 incorporation	of	new	members	and	work	toward	creating	an	 inviting	
environment	in	the	congregation.	Provide	leadership	training	and	opportunities	to	male	and	female	ministry	
staff.	Guide	the	church	toward	a	positive	and	uplifting	worship	experience	that	focuses	on	making	the	Lord	
Jesus	Christ	the	number	one	objective.	
	
Assistant	Pastor	 1991-1999	
Support	the	vision	of	the	Lead	Pastor	by	serving	in	any	role	necessary.	Administer	all	ordinances	of	the	church	
in	the	absence	or	in	cooperation	with	the	Lead	Pastor.	
	
WONDER	DISTRICT	CHURCH	OF	GOD	IN	CHRIST,	Rockford,	IL	 	
District	Superintendent	 2011-Present	
Administration	/	leadership	support,	within	Wisconsin	First	Ecclesiastical	Jurisdiction	(Milwaukee)	on	behalf	
of	the	Jurisdictional	Bishop,	to	pastors	of	churches	in	Rockford	and	Freeport,	Illinois	assigned	to	this	district.	
	



MAURICE A. WEST PAGE 2 

NORTHROP	GRUMMAN	CORPORATION,	Rolling	Meadows,	IL						 1978-2012	
Homeroom	(Site)	Manager,	Program	Planning	&	Financial	Control		 2010-2012	
Recruit	 and	 develop	 talent	 to	 meet	 organizational	 needs.	 Provide	 tools,	 training,	 technical	 expertise,	 and	
guidance	for	75	employees.	Ensure	compliance	with	executing	specific	process	and	product	deliverables.	
	
Manager,	Division	Financial	Planning		 2009-2010		
Managed	the	Division’s	Financial	Planning	activities	associated	with	the	preparation,	analysis,	reporting,	and	
forecasting	of	the	Division’s	financial	statements	and	key	measures	for	incorporation	in	Corporate	financial	
statements.	

	
Business	Manager,	Advanced	Radio	Frequency	Programs		 2002-2008		
Brought	 in	 to	oversee	and	provide	cost	control	 to	 the	business	activities	of	a	>$700M	highly	advanced	but	
severely	overrun	electronic	warfare	system	(EWS)	for	the	latest	variant	of	the	F-16	aircraft.	
	
Business	Manager,	Infrared	Countermeasures	(IRCM)	Programs		 2000-2002		
Oversee	the	business	activities	of	>	$500M	of	IRCM	products	(directional	infrared	countermeasures	equipment	
and	Missile	Warning	Sensors)	for	International	customers	and	the	U.S.	Air	Force’s	large	aircraft	fleet.	
	
Other	Management	&	Professional	Positions	 	 	 	 	 	 											1978-2000		

• Manager,	Division	Capital	Asset	Management	(Division	Property)	 1996-2000	
• Manager,	Financial	Accounting	Resources		 1992-1996		
• Manager,	Program	Finance,	Classified	Programs	 1983-1992		
• Site	Earned	Value	Implementation	Lead		 1982-1983		
• Program	Planning	&	Financial	Control	Professional		 1978-1982		

	
BOEING	CORPORATION	(MCDONNELL	DOUGLAS),	St.	Louis,	MO						 1977-1978	
Program	Scheduler	(Project	Management)	 	
	
BOY	SCOUTS	OF	AMERICA,	St.	Louis,	MO						 1975-1977	
District	Scout	Executive		 	
Planned,	 directed,	 and	 coordinated	 the	 activities	 of	 a	 geographic	 district	within	 the	 local	 Scouting	 Council	
including	budget	management,	training	of	volunteers	and	coordination	of	annual	fund-raising	activities.	
	

Education		
• MBA,	Keller	Graduate	School	of	Management,	DeVry	University,	1999	(with	Distinction)	
• B.S.,	Lincoln	University,	Jefferson	City,	Missouri	(cum	laude),	1975	

	
Key	Awards		

• Modern	Day	Technology	Leader,	BEYA	STEM	Global	Competitiveness	Conference,	2013	
• Numerous	awards	and	commendations,	Northrop	Grumman	Corporation,	1978-2012	
• Suburban	Civic	Assistance	Association,	Hoffman	Estates,	IL,	Professional	Achievement	Award,	1988	
• Chicago	Area	YMCA	Black	&	Hispanic	Achievers	of	Industry	Award,	1982	
• Eagle	Scout,	Boy	Scouts	of	America,	1968	

	
Other	Ministerial	Activities	

• Church	Business	Manager,	Spates	Temple	Church	of	God	in	Christ,	Elgin,	IL,	1980-1990	
• Advisory	Council	Member,	Christian	Career	Women,	Inc.,	Olmstead,	OH	1983-1989	
• National	Evangelist,	Churches	of	God	in	Christ,	1980-1982	
• Hosted	Religious	Radio	Broadcasts,	Chicago/Elgin	areas	(2	stations)	1978-1980	
• Ordination	–	Churches	of	God	in	Christ,	Memphis,	TN,	May	1978	



LoRayne Logan is President & Founder of workplace staffing and search, a 
certified wholly-woman owned business serving as a strategic business partner to 
regional employers in northern IL and southern WI.   

LoRayne was named the 2019 Citizen of the Year by the Rockford Chamber of 
Commerce and was recognized by the YWCA with the Community Leadership 
Award.  In 2013 she won the Woman Business Owner of the Year and the Service 
Above Self awards.  LoRayne was named to the inaugural group of 20 People You 
Should Know in 2011.  She was recognized as the 2007 Philanthropist of the Year 
for her gift to Rock Valley College, honoring her mentor. 

LoRayne is a founding member and current vice-chair of the Steering Committee 
of Transform Rockford, an initiative formed to facilitate social and economic 
regional transformation.  From 2013-2016 she led the engagement team which 
focused on development engagement of a broad sector of our region’s residents. 
She serves as current vice-president of Rock Valley College Foundation and the 
Rockford Symphony Orchestra Foundation, is a member of the board of directors 
of Rock River Development Partnership and a founding member of the Rockford 
Region Good Government PAC.  She was a member of the City of Rockford Board 
of Fire and Police Commissioners from 2005 – 2018 and served as chair for 11 
years. 

The mission of her business coupled with her extensive civic involvement have 
given her extensive knowledge of our community. 





Reports of 
Standing 

Committees 



FINANCE 
COMMITTEE 



Ordinance Executive Summary
 

Prepared By:         Steve Schultz 

Committee:    Finance Committee 

Committee Date:    June 6, 2024  

Ordinance Title:      Ordinance for a Budget Amendment for State’s Attorney VOCA Grant Renewal 

Board Meeting Date:    June 13, 2024 

Budget Information: 

Was item budgeted?  Yes, through 12/31/23    Appropriation Amount:   $30,087 

If not, explain funding source:  Federal Grant Funding 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code: 60300 (State’s Atty Grants)/various/02120 (VOCA) 

FY2024 Budget Impact: $119,547 

Background Information:  The State’s Attorney office has historically received federal funding through 
the Illinois Criminal Justice Info Authority to provide services to the underserved population of victims of 
crime.  This grant is awarded on a calendar year basis.  The State’s Attorney Office received renewal 
funding for 2024 that has not been reflected in the current budget. 

Recommendation:    Finance Department recommends approval 

Contract/Agreement:   Not applicable 

Legal Review:   Not applicable 

Follow-Up:   Not applicable 



1 

2024 Fiscal Year Finance:   June 6, 2024 
Lay Over: June 13, 2024 

Sponsored by:  Final Vote: June 27, 2024 
John Butitta, Finance Committee Chairman 

2024 CO 

TO:  THE HONORABLE BOARD MEMBERS OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

         The Winnebago County Finance Committee presents the following Ordinance amending the 
Annual Appropriation Ordinance for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2024 and recommends 
its adoption. 

Ordinance for a Budget Amendment for State’s Attorney VOCA Grant Renewal 

WHEREAS, the Winnebago County State’s Attorney has historically provided services to 
the underserved victims of crime through grant awards received from the Illinois Criminal Justice 
Info Authority. The grant award was renewed for the 2024 calendar year; and, 

WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Board adopted the “Annual Budget and Appropriation 
Ordinance” for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2024 at its September 28, 2023 meeting; 
and,  

WHEREAS, 55ILCS 5/6-1003(2014), states, “After the adoption of the county budget, no 
further appropriations shall be made at any other time during such fiscal year, except as provided 
in this Act.  Appropriations in excess of those authorized by the budget in order to meet an 
immediate emergency may be made at any meeting of the board by a two-thirds vote of all the 
members constituting such board, the vote to be taken by ayes and nays and entered on the 
record of the meeting.” 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, that the County Board deems that pursuant to 
provisions as set forth in 55ILCS 5/6-1003(2014), certain conditions have occurred in connection 
with the operations of the County which are deemed to be immediate emergencies; therefore, 
the increases detailed per the attached Request for Budget Amendment are hereby authorized 
for Amendment #24-007 State’s Attorney VOCA Grant Renewal. 



2 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 

JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIR 
 

                                                       JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIR 

JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIR                                           JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIR 

  JEAN CROSBY 
 

                                                                                                      JEAN CROSBY 
 

  JOE HOFFMAN 
 

                                                                                JOE HOFFMAN 
 

 
KEITH MCDONALD  KEITH MCDONALD 

JOHN F. SWEENEY  JOHN F. SWEENEY 

  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

                                                                    MICHAEL THOMPSON 
   

 
The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this  day of  2024. 

 

 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 

 
 
 
 



5/23/2024
State's Attorney J Hanley

0303-State's Atty Grants Fund

Department 
Org Number

Object 
(Account) 
Number

Project 
Number Object (Account) Description

Adopted 
Budget

Amendments 
Previously 
Approved

Revised 
Approved 

Budget
Increase 

(Decrease)

Revised
Budget after 

Approved 
Budget 

Amendment
Expenditures

60300 41110 02120 Regular Salary $22,742 $0 $22,742 $94,562 $117,304
60300 41221 02120 Life Insurance $23 $0 $23 $85 $108
60300 48211 02120 Health Insurance $5,305 $0 $5,305 $14,000 $19,305
60300 48220 02120 Indirect Costs $0 $0 $0 $10,900 $10,900

Revenue
60300 32110 02120 Federal Operating Grants ($30,087) $0 ($30,087) (119,547)                ($149,634)

$0
Reason budget amendment is required:

Revenue Source: Federal grant funding

AMENDMENT NO:
SUBMITTED BY:

Impact to fiscal year 2024 budget:  $119,947

TOTAL ADJUSTMENT:

None

DATE SUBMITTED:
DEPARTMENT:

FUND#:

Potential alternatives to budget amendment:

The State's Attorney office received a one-year renewal for their Victims of Crime Act grant funded through the Illinois Criminal Justice 
Info Authority effective 1/1/2024 - 12/31/2024.  The renewal status was unknown when the FY24 budget was created. 

2024-007

60300-State's Atty GrantsDEPT. BUDGET NO.

2024
WINNEBAGO COUNTY

FINANCE  COMMITTEE
REQUEST FOR BUDGET AMENDMENT



Ordinance Executive Summary
 

Prepared By:         Steve Schultz 

Committee:    Finance Committee 

Committee Date:    June 6, 2024  

Ordinance Title:      Ordinance for a Budget Amendment for Bond Paying Agent Fees 

Board Meeting Date:    June 13, 2024 

Budget Information: 

Was item budgeted?  No   Appropriation Amount:   $0 

If not, explain funding source:  Various corresponding Debt Service Revenue Sources 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code: Various Debt Service Funds 

FY2024 Budget Impact: $2,724 

Background Information:  BNY Mellon charges an annual paying agent fee for each of the County's bonds 
and debt certificates.  Notice was received by the County that fees would be increased subsequent to the 
approval of the FY2024 budget.  This amendment will properly reflect the increased fees and ensure the 
debt service funds are adequately funded for the increase. 

Recommendation:    Finance Department recommends approval 

Contract/Agreement:   Not applicable 

Legal Review:   Not applicable 

Follow-Up:   Not applicable 



1 

2024 Fiscal Year Finance:   June 6, 2024 
Lay Over: June 13, 2024 

Sponsored by:  Final Vote: June 27, 2024 
John Butitta, Finance Committee Chairman 

2024 CO 

TO:  THE HONORABLE BOARD MEMBERS OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

         The Winnebago County Finance Committee presents the following Ordinance amending the 
Annual Appropriation Ordinance for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2024 and recommends 
its adoption. 

Ordinance for a Budget Amendment for Bond Paying Agent Fees 

WHEREAS, Bank of New York Mellon acts as the paying agent for the County’s bonds and 
debt certificates. The County pays an annual paying agent fee for each bond. Notice was received 
by the County that fees would be increased subsequent to the approval of the FY2024 budget. 
This amendment will properly reflect the increased fees and ensure the debt service funds are 
adequately funded for the increases; and, 

WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Board adopted the “Annual Budget and Appropriation 
Ordinance” for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2024 at its September 28, 2023 meeting; 
and,  

WHEREAS, 55ILCS 5/6-1003(2014), states, “After the adoption of the county budget, no 
further appropriations shall be made at any other time during such fiscal year, except as provided 
in this Act.  Appropriations in excess of those authorized by the budget in order to meet an 
immediate emergency may be made at any meeting of the board by a two-thirds vote of all the 
members constituting such board, the vote to be taken by ayes and nays and entered on the 
record of the meeting.” 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, that the County Board deems that pursuant to 
provisions as set forth in 55ILCS 5/6-1003(2014), certain conditions have occurred in connection 
with the operations of the County which are deemed to be immediate emergencies; therefore, 
the increases detailed per the attached Request for Budget Amendment are hereby authorized 
for Amendment #24-006 Bond Administration Fees. 



2 
 

 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 

JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIR 
 

                                                       JOHN BUTITTA, CHAIR 

JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIR                                           JAIME SALGADO, VICE CHAIR 

  JEAN CROSBY 
 

                                                                                                      JEAN CROSBY 
 

  JOE HOFFMAN 
 

                                                                                JOE HOFFMAN 
 

 
KEITH MCDONALD  KEITH MCDONALD 

JOHN F. SWEENEY  JOHN F. SWEENEY 

  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

                                                                    MICHAEL THOMPSON 
   

 
The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this  day of  2024. 

 

 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 

 
 
 
 



5/23/2024
Debt Service Funds Steve Schultz

Various Debt Service Funds

Department 
Org Number

Object 
(Account) 
Number

Project 
Number Object (Account) Description

Adopted 
Budget

Amendments 
Previously 
Approved

Revised 
Approved 

Budget
Increase 

(Decrease)

Revised 
Budget after 

Approved 
Budget 

Amendment
Expenditures

50900 45311 Bond Administration Fees $428 $0 $428 $375 $803
51200 45311 Bond Administration Fees $750 $0 $750 $75 $825
51300 45311 Bond Administration Fees $750 $0 $750 $75 $825
51400 45311 Bond Administration Fees $750 $0 $750 $75 $825
51800 45311 Bond Administration Fees $0 $0 $0 $825 $825
54400 45311 Bond Administration Fees $750 $0 $750 $75 $825
54800 45311 Bond Administration Fees $0 $0 $0 $825 $825
55000 45311 Bond Administration Fees $750 $0 $750 $75 $825
57500 45311 Bond Administration Fees $428 $0 $428 $375 $803
57900 45311 Bond Administration Fees $750 $0 $750 $75 $825
59900 45311 Bond Administration Fees $750 $0 $750 $75 $825
40100 49110 Transfer to Other Funds $7,661,800 $0 $7,661,800 $1,725 $7,663,525
41700 49110 Transfer to Other Funds $1,388,800 $0 $1,388,800 $75 $1,388,875
46300 49110 Transfer to Other Funds $200,500 $0 $200,500 $38 $200,538
46400 49110 Transfer to Other Funds $200,500 $0 $200,500 $37 $200,537
49300 49110 Transfer to Other Funds $2,213,641 $0 $2,213,641 $75 $2,213,716
49400 49110 Transfer to Other Funds $976,500 $0 $976,500 $75 $976,575
52500 49110 Transfer to Other Funds $399,950 $0 $399,950 $75 $400,025

Revenue
50900 32210 State Income Tax ($706,953) $0 ($706,953) (375)                        ($707,328)
54400 32210 State Income Tax ($331,369) $0 ($331,369) (75)                          ($331,444)
57500 32210 State Income Tax ($273,378) $0 ($273,378) (375)                        ($273,753)
17000 32211 Income Tax Bond Transfer $1,660,465 $0 $1,660,465 824                         $1,661,289
51200 39110 Transfer from Other Funds ($976,500) $0 ($976,500) (75)                          ($976,575)
51300 39110 Transfer from Other Funds ($399,950) $0 ($399,950) (75)                          ($400,025)
51400 39110 Transfer from Other Funds ($401,000) $0 ($401,000) (75)                          ($401,075)
51800 39110 Transfer from Other Funds $0 $0 $0 (825)                        ($825)
54800 39110 Transfer from Other Funds $0 $0 $0 (825)                        ($825)
55000 39110 Transfer from Other Funds ($657,200) $0 ($657,200) (75)                          ($657,275)
57900 39110 Transfer from Other Funds ($158,800) $0 ($158,800) (75)                          ($158,875)
59900 39110 Transfer from Other Funds ($2,231,641) $0 ($2,231,641) (75)                          ($2,231,716)

$2,924
Reason budget amendment is required:

Revenue Source: N/A

AMENDMENT NO:
SUBMITTED BY:

Impact to fiscal year 2024 budget:  $2,924

TOTAL ADJUSTMENT:

None

DATE SUBMITTED:
DEPARTMENT:

FUND#:

Potential alternatives to budget amendment:

BNY Mellon charges an annual paying agent fee for each of the County's bonds and debt certificates.  Notice was received by the 
County that fees would be increased subsequent to the approval of the FY2024 budget.  This amendment will properly reflect the 
increased fees and ensure the debt service funds are adequately funded for the increase.

2024-006

Various Debt Service FundsDEPT. BUDGET NO.

2024
WINNEBAGO COUNTY

FINANCE  COMMITTEE
REQUEST FOR BUDGET AMENDMENT



ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT 

 COMMITTEE 



Resolution Executive Summary 
Committee Date: Monday, June 3, 2024  
Committee: Economic Development 
Prepared By: Chris Dornbush 

County Board Office 
404 Elm Street, Rm 533, Rockford, IL 61101 | wincoil.gov 

Phone: (815) 319- 4225 | E-mail: boardoffice@admin.wincoil.gov 

 

Document Title:  Resolution Authorizing Execution Of A Development Agreement With The 
Village Of New Milford For A $400,000 Host Fee Loan Pursuant To The 
Economic Development, Business Incentive And Host Fee Program Policy 

County Code: 2019-CR-093, Resolution Adopting The Winnebago County Economic 
Development, Business Incentive and Host Fee Program Policy 

Board Meeting Date: Thursday, June 13, 2024 

Budget Information: 
Was item budgeted? No Appropriation Amount:    

$400,000 total over 2 years; 
Years 1-2 $200,000 County Pays 
Years 3-7 $80,000/yr New Milford Pays Back 

If not, explain funding source:   
ORG - OBJ - Project Code: 41700 - 43190 Budget Impact: Yes, as set forth in loan 

schedule. Year 1 (2024): $200,000 

Background Information: 
In 2019 Winnebago County Board approved the Resolution Adopting The Winnebago County 
Economic Development, Business Incentive and Host Fee Program Policy to promote economic 
development with the overall objectives of strengthening the local economy, creating jobs and 
diversifying the County’s property tax base. The Village of New Milford has requested project 
financing as established in this program for a $400,000 loan at a 0% interest rate for a total loan 
period of 7 years from the County to assist in the Baxter Road Water Line Extension (2024-CR-
024, 2024-CR-062, 2024-CR-063) to facilitate economic development west of I-39. Years 1-2 (2 
years) the County would disburse the funds to the Village ($200,000), Years 3-7 (5 years) the 
Village would pay funds back to the County ($80,000). 

Recommendation: 
Winnebago County Administration supports the development and use of host fees for this loan to 
assist in the growth of the Equalized Assessed Value (EAV), job growth, and increased sales tax 
dollars. 

Contract/Agreement: 
Yes, as attached with Resolution. 

Legal Review:  
Yes 

Follow-Up: 
The Village of New Milford and/or County Staff can provide updates regarding the progression 
of the project. 

https://wincoil.gov/
mailto:boardoffice@admin.wincoil.gov


SPONSORED BY:  John Sweeney              County Board Meeting: June 13, 2024 
 

 
RESOLUTION 

OF THE 
COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
2024 CR _______ 

 
SUBMITTED BY:  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

 
 

 
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

WITH THE VILLAGE OF NEW MILFORD FOR A $400,000 HOST FEE LOAN 
PURSUANT TO THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT, BUSINESS INCENTIVE AND 

HOST FEE PROGRAM POLICY 
 

 
WHEREAS, Winnebago County, Illinois (hereinafter, “County”) is a duly organized and 

existing county created under the provisions of the laws of the State of Illinois, and is now 
operating under and pursuant to the provisions of the Counties Code, as amended, 55 ILCS 5/1 et 
seq. (the “Counties Code”), is a “unit of local government” as defined in Article 7, Section 1 of 
the Constitution of the State of Illinois; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Village of New Milford, Illinois (hereinafter, “Village”) is a duly 
organized and existing municipal corporation and body politic of the State of Illinois now 
operating under and pursuant to the provisions of the Illinois Municipal Code, as amended, 65 
ILCS 5/1-1-1 et seq. (the “Municipal Code”), is a “unit of local government” as defined in Article 
7, Section 1 of the Constitution of the State of Illinois; and is a “public agency” as defined in 
Section 2 of the Intergovernmental Cooperation Act, as amended, 5 ILCS 220/1 et seq. (the 
“Intergovernmental Cooperation Act”); and 
 

WHEREAS, Article VII, Section 5 of the Intergovernmental Cooperation Act, 5 ILCS 
220/5, provides that “[a]ny one or more public agencies may contract with any one or more other 
public agencies to perform any governmental services, activity or undertaking or to combine, 
transfer, or exercise any powers, functions, privileges, or authority which any of the public 
agencies entering into the contract is authorized by law to perform, provided that such contract 
shall be approved by the governing bodies of each party to the contract and except where 
specifically and expressly prohibited by law. Such contract shall set forth fully the purposes, 
powers, rights, objectives and responsibilities of the contracting parties.”; and 
 

WHEREAS, the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois approved a 
“Resolution Adopting The Winnebago County Economic Development, Business Incentive And 
Host Fee Program Policy” (2019-CR-093) (hereinafter “Program”), to facilitate other local units 
of government in Winnebago County to grow the economy by establishing a zero percent (0%) 
host fee loan program as set forth within the Program and Redevelopment Agreement (hereinafter, 
“Agreement”); and  

 
 
 



Page 2 of 3 
 

WHEREAS, the Agreement, identified as “Exhibit A” and attached establishes the 
contractual agreement between the County and the Village; and  
 

WHEREAS, the County, in cooperation with the Village, has determined that it is in the 
best interests of the County as a whole, including the Village, to develop certain real property 
located within the jurisdictional bounds of Winnebago County and for the County to assist with 
project gap financing, pursuant to the terms and provisions of this Agreement; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Program, a unit of local government, as defined by Article 7, 

Section 1 of the Constitution of the State of Illinois may request host fee funds from the County, 
which shall be subject to certain criteria being met and the funds shall only be used for TIF eligible 
expenses, as defined by state law, 65 ILCS 55/11-74.4-3(q); and  
 

WHEREAS, all host fee fund requests and development agreements under the Program 
shall be dependent upon the availability of funds and also require the approval of the County Board 
of the County of Winnebago, Illinois; and  
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Program, the Village is requesting a zero percent (0%) interest 
loan in the amount of Four Hundred Thousand Dollars ($400,000.00), that will be paid back to the 
County in whole at the end of a seven (7) year term, the first two (2) years the County will distribute 
the funds to the Village, and Years 3 through 7, the Village will make annual equal payments to 
the County; and  

 
WHEREAS, for the other Intergovernmental Cooperation Agreement (2024-CR-024) 

approved by the County Board on February 8, 2024, the Parties will adhere to the new terms only 
for the stated $400,000 Loan that the County is facilitating, however the balance of the project 
shall still adhere to the original repayment terms as stated in 2024-CR-024; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County, after due and careful consideration of the request, has 

concluded that this Agreement with the Village, will further the growth opportunity of the 
County, facilitate development, create the potential for increasing the assessed valuation of real 
estate, increase economic activity within the County as a whole, and otherwise be in the best 
interest of the County by furthering the health, safety, morals, and welfare of its citizens as it 
relates to the Baxter Road Waterline Extension Project approved by the County Board on April 
11, 2024 (2024-CR-062 and 2024-CR-063). 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois that Joseph Chiarelli, the Winnebago County Board Chairman, is authorized 
and directed to, on behalf of the County of Winnebago, enter into a development agreement with 
the Village of New Milford, attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the development agreement entered into by Joseph 
Chiarelli pursuant to the authority granted in this Resolution shall contain substantially the same 
terms as the development agreement which is attached to this Resolution and marked as “Exhibit 
A”. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and effect 
immediately upon its adoption. 
 



Page 3 of 3 
 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Clerk of the County Board is hereby directed 
to prepare and deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the Winnebago County Clerk, 
Winnebago County Administrator, Winnebago County Auditor, the Winnebago County Chief 
Operations Officer, and the Winnebago County Financial Director Officer. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

        Economic Development Committee 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 
   

JOHN SWEENEY, CHAIRMAN  JOHN SWEENEY, CHAIRMAN 

TIM NABORS, VICE CHAIR  TIM NABORS, VICE CHAIR 

JEAN CROSBY  JEAN CROSBY 

ANGELA FELLARS  ANGELA FELLARS 

VALERIE HANSERD  VALERIE HANSERD 

BRAD LINDMARK  BRAD LINDMARK 

JOHN PENNEY  JOHN PENNEY 
 
The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2024. 
 

 
 
 

 

ATTESTED BY: JOSEPH V. CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 



EXHIBIT A 

 1 / 6 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

 This Development Agreement (“Agreement”) is made as of this ____ day of 
___________, 2024, by and between the County of Winnebago, Illinois, a body politic and 
corporate, having its principal offices located at 404 Elm Street, Rockford, Illinois (hereinafter 
“County”) and the Village of New Milford, an Illinois municipal corporation, having its principal 
offices located at 6771 11th Street, New Milford, Illinois (hereinafter “Village”). The County and 
Village are collectively referred to herein as “Parties” or individually as a “Party”. 
  
 

RECITALS 

 WHEREAS, the County is a duly organized and existing county created under the 
provisions of the laws of the State of Illinois, and is now operating under and pursuant to the 
provisions of the Counties Code, as amended, 55 ILCS 5/1 et seq. (the “Counties Code”), is a 
“unit of local government” as defined in Article 7, Section 1 of the Constitution of the State of 
Illinois; and  

 WHEREAS, the Village is a duly organized and existing municipal corporation and body 
politic of the State of Illinois now operating under and pursuant to the provisions of the Illinois 
Municipal Code, as amended, 65 ILCS 5/1-1-1 et seq. (the “Municipal Code”), is a “unit of local 
government” as defined in Article 7, Section 1 of the Constitution of the State of Illinois; and is a 
“public agency” as defined in Section 2 of the Intergovernmental Cooperation Act, as amended, 5 
ILCS 220/1 et seq. (the “Intergovernmental Cooperation Act”); and 

WHEREAS, Article VII, Section 5 of the Intergovernmental Cooperation Act, 5 ILCS 
220/5, provides that “[a]ny one or more public agencies may contract with any one or more other 
public agencies to perform any governmental services, activity or undertaking or to combine, 
transfer, or exercise any powers, functions, privileges, or authority which any of the public 
agencies entering into the contract is authorized by law to perform, provided that such contract 
shall be approved by the governing bodies of each party to the contract and except where 
specifically and expressly prohibited by law. Such contract shall set forth fully the purposes, 
powers, rights, objectives and responsibilities of the contracting parties.”; and  

WHEREAS, the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois approved a 
“Resolution Adopting The Winnebago County Economic Development, Business Incentive And 
Host Fee Program Policy” (2019-CR-093) (hereinafter “Program”), to facilitate other local units 
of government in Winnebago County to grow the economy by establishing a zero percent (0%) 
host fee loan program as set forth within the Program and Agreement; and  

WHEREAS, this Agreement, identified as “Exhibit A”, establishes the contractual 
agreement between the County and the Village; and  

WHEREAS, the County, in cooperation with the Village, has determined that it is in the 
best interests of the County as a whole, including the Village, to develop certain real property 
located within the jurisdictional bounds of Winnebago County and for the County to assist with 
project gap financing, pursuant to the terms and provisions of this Agreement; and 



 2 / 6 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Program, a unit of local government, as defined by Article 7, 
Section 1 of the Constitution of the State of Illinois may request host fee funds from the County, 
which shall be subject to certain criteria being met and the funds shall only be used for TIF eligible 
expenses, as defined by state law, 65 ILCS 55/11-74.4-3(q); and  

WHEREAS, all host fee fund requests and development agreements under the Program 
shall be dependent upon the availability of funds and also require the approval of the County Board 
of the County of Winnebago, Illinois; and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Program, the Village is requesting a zero percent (0%) interest 
loan in the amount of Four Hundred Thousand Dollars ($400,000.00), that will be paid back to the 
County in whole at the end of a seven (7) year term, the first two (2) years the County will distribute 
the funds to the Village, and Years 3 through 7, the Village will make annual equal payments to 
the County; and  

WHEREAS, the other Intergovernmental Cooperation Agreement (2024-CR-024) 
approved by the County Board on February 8, 2024, the Parties will adhere to the new terms only 
for the stated $400,000 Loan that the County is facilitating, however the balance of the project 
shall still adhere to the original repayment terms as stated in 2024-CR-024; and 

WHEREAS, the County, after due and careful consideration of the request, has 
concluded that this Agreement with the Village, will further the growth opportunity of the 
County, facilitate development, create the potential for increasing the assessed valuation of real 
estate, increase economic activity within the County as a whole, and otherwise be in the best 
interest of the County by furthering the health, safety, morals, and welfare of its citizens as it 
relates to the Baxter Road Waterline Extension Project approved by the County Board on April 
11, 2024 (2024-CR-062 and 2024-CR-063). 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements 
contained in this Agreement and other good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency of which 
is hereby acknowledged, the County and the Village agree as follows: 

 

I. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS. The above Recitals are incorporated in this 
Agreement by their reference and made part of this Agreement. 
 

II. HOST FEE FUNDS UNDER THE PROGRAM  
 
a. DISBURSEMENT OF HOST FEE FUNDS. Subject to the Program criteria, the 

County will disburse the total amount of Four Hundred Thousand Dollars 
($400,000.00) in host fee funds to the Village over a two (2) year period, as set 
forth in section I (c) below. Year One (1) through Year Two (2) in the amount of 
Two Hundred Thousand Dollars ($200,000.00). 
 



 3 / 6 
 

i. The County shall disburse each annual payment to the Village within one 
(1) year of all parties’ approval and follow the schedule as provided in 
section I (c). Any extension of the disbursement timeframe shall be 
mutually agreed upon by the parties.  
 

b. REPAYMENT OF HOST FEE FUNDS. Within one (1) year of the last 
payment received from the County to the Village, the Village shall begin repaying 
the County annually in equal payments in the amount of Eighty Thousand Dollars 
($80,000.00), at a zero percent (0%) interest rate as set forth in section I (c) below 
over a Five (5) year period, until the loan is paid in full. Any extension of the 
repayment timeframe shall be mutually agreed upon by the parties. 

 
i. However, prior to the end of the initial Two (2) year period as set forth in 

section I (c) below, the Village may request in writing to the County to 
cease the remaining disbursements of the host fee funds. Upon the County 
receiving the written request from the Village, the Village shall begin 
making equal annual payments to the County within one (1) year of the 
last payment received by the Village, with a payment each year thereafter 
until the loan is paid in full. Equal annual payments shall be defined by the 
total funds received by the Village divided by the prescribed Five (5) year 
repayment period.  
 

c. HOST FEE FUNDS PAYMENT SCHEDULE.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

III. DEFAULT. Should the Village fail to make any payment to the County as set forth in 
section I (b) (i), it will constitute a default of this Agreement and may result in the 
County instituting proceedings to collect the amount owed.   

Winnebago County loan $400,000 to the Village of New Milford 

Loan 
Year Year Payment Structure   County 

Disbursements   
  County 

Receivables  

1 2024 Winnebago County 
Payments to Village of New 

Milford 

 $ (200,000.00)  $                      -    

2 2025  $ (200,000.00)  $                      -    

3 2026 

Village of New Milford 
Payments back to the 
Winnebago County 

 $                       -     $          80,000.00  
4 2027  $                       -     $          80,000.00  
5 2028  $                       -     $          80,000.00  
6 2029  $                       -     $          80,000.00  
7 2030  $                       -     $          80,000.00  

    $ (400,000.00)  $     400,000.00  



 4 / 6 
 

 
IV. EFFECTIVE DATE AND TERM. This Agreement will take effect as soon as it is 

signed by all authorized representatives of the parties. The term of the loan will be for 
a seven (7) year period. 

 

V. NOTICE. Unless otherwise specified, any notice, demand or request required 
hereunder shall be given in writing at the addresses set forth below, by any of the 
following means: (a) personal service; (b) overnight courier, or (c) registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested. 
 

 
 

If to the County: 
 

 
If to the Village: 

County of Winnebago 
Attn: Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
404 Elm Street, Room 533 
Rockford, Illinois 61101 
 

Village of New Milford 
Attn: President Timothy Owens 
6771 11th Street 
New Milford, Illinois 61109 

 
With Copies to: 

 

 
With Copies to: 

Office of the Winnebago County State’s 
Attorney Civil Bureau 
Courthouse Building 
400 W. State Street, Suite 804 
Rockford, Illinois 61101 
 

Village of New Milford Legal Counsel 
Barrick, Switzer, Long, Balsley & Van 
Evera, LLP 
6833 Stalter Drive 
Rockford, Illinois 61108 

   
 
Such addresses may be changed by notice to the other parties given in the same manner 
provided above.  Any notice, demand, or request sent pursuant to this Section shall be 
effective upon receipt or refusal of delivery. 
    

VI. WAIVER.  The failure of either party hereto at any time or times to enforce any provision 
of this Agreement shall in no way be construed to be a waiver of such provisions or to 
affect the validity of this Agreement or any part hereof, or the right of either party 
thereafter to enforce each and every provision in accordance with the terms of this 
Agreement. 
 

VII. ASSIGNMENT. Neither party shall assign this Agreement without the prior written 
approval of the other party. 

 



 5 / 6 
 

VIII. AMENDMENTS. Any amendments shall be by written instrument executed by the 
parties hereto, acting therein by their duly authorized representatives. 

 
IX. GOVERNING LAW. The parties agree this Agreement has been executed and 

delivered in Illinois and that their relationship and any and all disputes, controversies 
or claims arising under this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of 
Illinois. The parties further agree that the exclusive venue for all such disputes shall be 
the Circuit Court of the 17th Judicial Circuit of Winnebago County, Illinois. 

 
X. HEADINGS. Sections and other headings contained in this Agreement are for 

reference purposes only and are not intended to describe, interpret, define or limit the 
scope, extent or intent of this Agreement or any provision hereof. 

 
XI. SEVERABILITY. If any provisions, covenants, agreements or portions of this 

Agreement or its application to any person, entity or property is held invalid, such 
invalidity shall not invalidate any other portion of this Agreement. The parties intend 
to be bound to this agreement even in the event that a portion of the agreement is 
declared invalid, in accordance with law. 

 
XII. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which 

shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same 
instrument.  

 
XIII. AUTHORITY. The County and Village each warrant to the other that they have the 

authority to enter into this Agreement and that the person or persons executing this 
Agreement on their behalf has been duly authorized to act as the representative or 
officer of each respective party in affixing their signatures to the Agreement. The 
County and Village hereto agree to sign such documents, enact such ordinances or 
resolutions, or perform such further obligations as may be necessary to effectuate the 
purposes of this Agreement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 6 / 6 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by 
their duly authorized officers on the above date.  

 

Village of New Milford, an Illinois 
municipal corporation 

 County of Winnebago, Illinois, a body 
politic and corporate 

By: 

 

By: 
Timothy Owens 
Village President of the Village of  
New Milford, Illinois  

 Joseph V. Chiarelli                      
Chairman of the County Board of the  
County of Winnebago, Illinois 

   
ATTEST:   

Sharon K. Baumgartner, Clerk of the 
Village of New Milford, Illinois 

 Lori Gummow, Clerk of the 
County Board of the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois 

 

































































































































OPERATIONS & 
ADMINISTRATIVE

 COMMITTEE 



Resolution Executive Summary 
For ARPA or CIP Projects 

Prepared By: Purchasing Department for Sheriff’s Office 
Committee Name: Operations and Administrative Committee 
Committee Date: June 6, 2024 
Board Date:  June 13, 2024     
Resolution Title: Resolution Awarding Purchase of Detective Squad Vehicle for Sheriff’s 

Office Using CIP 24 Funds  

Budget Information 
Budgeted? YES   Amount Budgeted?  $100,000   
If not, originally budgeted, explain the funding source?  
If ARPA or CIP funded, original Board approved amount?   $100,000 
Over or Under approved amount? UNDER   By: $4,692  
Reason for ARPA or CIP increase?  N/A 
If ARPA funded, was it approved by Baker Tilly?  N/A 
ORG/OBJ/Project Codes: 82200-46410-C2405    Descriptor: CIP 24-Automobile 
Budget Impact?  $49,153 

Background Information: The Winnebago County Sheriff’s Office (WCSO) requested the purchase 
of (2) Detective Squad Vehicle using CIP 24 funds. The vehicle purchase is for a 2024 Ford Explorer. 
This is the second purchase to complete this request for a project total of $95,307. 

The Purchasing Department and the Sheriff’s Office reached out for quotes and availability.  Rock 
River Ford presented the best offer in the amount of $43,180, out of three quotes obtained (see 
Resolution Exhibit A).   

Bandt Communications Inc. will provide the specialized fabricating of this vehicle in the amount of 
$5,973 (See Resolution Exhibit B). 

Recommended By:  Sheriff Gary Caruana and Deputy Chief Kyle Boomer 

Follow-Up Steps:  Purchasing Department will prepare and submit Purchase Orders to Rock 
River Ford in the amount of $43,180 and Bandt Communications, Inc. in the amount of $5,973. 



  County Board Meeting: June 13, 2024 

R E S O L U T I O N 
of the 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:   Keith McDonald 
Submitted by:  Operations and Administrative Committee 

2024 CR 

RESOLUTION AWARDING PURCHASE OF DETECTIVE SQUAD VEHICLE 
FOR SHERIFF’S OFFICE USING CIP 24 FUNDS 

WHEREAS, the Code of Ordinances for the County of Winnebago, Illinois, provides as in 
Section 2-357 (b) (1), Conditions for use. All procurements whose value equals or exceeds the 
competitive bidding threshold of $30,000 shall be awarded by competitive sealed bidding in 
accordance with this section except as otherwise provided in 2-357(c) (Request for Proposals), 2-
357(d) (Professional Services), 2-357(e) (Sole-Source), 2-357(f) (Emergency Procurements), 2-357 
(g) (Cooperative Joint Purchasing) or as provided by State statute; and

WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Sheriff’s Office requested the purchase of a Detective
Squad, Ford Explorer, using CIP 24 funds; and 

WHEREAS, the Purchasing Department and the Sheriff’s Office obtained quotes for price 
and delivery, resulting in the lowest price and best lead time from Rock River Ford; and  

WHEREAS, the Operations & Administrative Committee of the County Board for the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois has reviewed the quotes for the Detective Squad Vehicle and 
Vehicle Fabricating, (Resolution Exhibit A and B) and recommends awarding the purchases 
to Rock River Ford and Bandt Communications Inc., respectively. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois, that the Director of Purchasing is authorized to issue Purchase Orders, 
on behalf of Winnebago County to Anderson Dealerships, Inc., DBA Rock River Ford, 224 
North Alpine Road, Rockford, Illinois in the amount of $43,180 and Bandt Communications, Inc. 
1621 Gale Drive, Beloit, Wisconsin in the amount of $5,973.  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and effective immediately 
upon its adoption and the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized to prepare and 
deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the Director of Purchasing, Finance Director, 
County Administrator, County Sheriff, County Board Office and County Auditor.    



Respectfully Submitted, 
       OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

 

AGREE  DISAGREE 
 
 
 

  

KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

 KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 
 
 

                            VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 
 

PAUL ARENA 
 
 

                                                                             PAUL ARENA 
 
 

JOHN BUTITTA 
 

                                                                         JOHN BUTITTA 
 
 

JOE HOFFMAN 
 

                                                                          JOE HOFFMAN 
 
 

JAIME SALGADO       JAIME SALGADO 
 
 

MICHAEL THOMPSON  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 
The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2024. 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIR OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 



Rock River Ford Brad Manning Ford Morrow Brother's Ford

Explorer XLT 4X4 43,180.03$   43,895.00$   43,525.00$   

Outfitting 5,972.89$  5,972.89$   5,972.89$  

Total: 49,152.92$   49,867.89$   49,497.89$   

QUOTE TAB
24NB-2332

DETECTIVE SQUAD VEHICLE USING CIP 2024 FUNDS

Purchasing Department  |  404 Elm St, Rm 202, Rockford, IL 61101  |  www.wincoil.gov
Phone: (815) 319- 4380   |  Email: purchasing@purchasing.wincoil.gov







Resolution Executive Summary 
For ARPA or CIP Projects 

Prepared By: Purchasing Department for Sheriff’s Office 
Committee Name: Operations and Administrative Committee 
Committee Date: June 6, 2024 
Board Date:  June 13, 2024     
Resolution Title: Resolution Awarding Purchase of Crime Scene Vehicle for Sheriff’s Office 

Using CIP 24 Funds  

Budget Information 
Budgeted? YES   Amount Budgeted?  $55,000 
If not, originally budgeted, explain the funding source?  
If ARPA or CIP funded, original Board approved amount?   $55,000  
Over or Under approved amount? UNDER   By: $5,702  
Reason for ARPA or CIP increase?  N/A 
If ARPA funded, was it approved by Baker Tilly?  N/A 
ORG/OBJ/Project Codes: 82200-46410-C2416    Descriptor: CIP 24-Automobile 
Budget Impact?  $49,298        

Background Information: The Winnebago County Sheriff’s Office (WCSO) requested the purchase 
of (1) Crime Scene Vehicle using CIP 24 funds. The vehicle purchase is for a 2024 Ford Explorer. 

The Purchasing Department and the Sheriff’s Office reached out for quotes and availability.  Rock 
River Ford presented the best offer in the amount of $43,325, out of three quotes obtained (see 
Resolution Exhibit A).  

Bandt Communications Inc. will provide the specialized fabricating of this vehicle in the amount of 
$5,973 (See Resolution Exhibit B). 

Recommended By:  Sheriff Gary Caruana and Deputy Chief Kyle Boomer 

Follow-Up Steps:  Purchasing Department will prepare and submit Purchase Orders to Rock 
River Ford in the amount of $43,325 and Bandt Communications, Inc. in the amount of $5,973. 



  County Board Meeting: June 13, 2024 

R E S O L U T I O N 
of the 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:   Keith McDonald 
Submitted by:  Operations and Administrative Committee 

2024 CR 

RESOLUTION AWARDING PURCHASE OF CRIME SCENE VEHICLE 
FOR SHERIFF’S OFFICE USING CIP 24 FUNDS 

WHEREAS, the Code of Ordinances for the County of Winnebago, Illinois, provides as in 
Section 2-357 (b) (1), Conditions for use. All procurements whose value equals or exceeds the 
competitive bidding threshold of $30,000 shall be awarded by competitive sealed bidding in 
accordance with this section except as otherwise provided in 2-357(c) (Request for Proposals), 2-
357(d) (Professional Services), 2-357(e) (Sole-Source), 2-357(f) (Emergency Procurements), 2-357 
(g) (Cooperative Joint Purchasing) or as provided by State statute; and

WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Sheriff’s Office requested the purchase of a Detective
Squad, Ford Explorer, using CIP 24 funds; and 

WHEREAS, the Purchasing Department and the Sheriff’s Office obtained quotes for price 
and delivery, resulting in the lowest price and best lead time from Rock River Ford; and  

WHEREAS, the Operations & Administrative Committee of the County Board for the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois has reviewed the quotes for the Detective Squad Vehicle and 
Vehicle Fabricating, (Resolution Exhibit A and B) and recommends awarding the purchases 
to Rock River Ford and Bandt Communications Inc., respectively. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois, that the Director of Purchasing is authorized to issue Purchase Orders, 
on behalf of Winnebago County to Anderson Dealerships, Inc., DBA Rock River Ford, 224 
North Alpine Road, Rockford, Illinois in the amount of $43,325 and Bandt Communications, Inc. 
1621 Gale Drive, Beloit, Wisconsin in the amount of $5,973.  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and effective immediately 
upon its adoption and the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized to prepare and 
deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the Director of Purchasing, Finance Director, 
County Administrator, County Sheriff, County Board Office and County Auditor.    



Respectfully Submitted, 
       OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

 

AGREE  DISAGREE 
 
 
 

  

KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

 KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 
 
 

                            VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 
 

PAUL ARENA 
 
 

                                                                             PAUL ARENA 
 
 

JOHN BUTITTA 
 

                                                                         JOHN BUTITTA 
 
 

JOE HOFFMAN 
 

                                                                          JOE HOFFMAN 
 
 

JAIME SALGADO       JAIME SALGADO 
 
 

MICHAEL THOMPSON  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 
The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2024. 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIR OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 



Rock River Ford Brad Manning Ford Morrow Brother's Ford

Explorer XLT 4X4 $43,325.03 $43,895.00 $43,525.00

Outfitting $5,972.89 $5,972.89 $5,972.89

Total $49,297.92 $49,867.89 $49,497.89

QUOTE TAB
24NB-2351

CRIME SCENE VEHICLE USING CIP 2024 FUNDS

Purchasing Department  |  404 Elm St, Rm 202, Rockford, IL 61101  |  www.wincoil.gov
Phone: (815) 319- 4380   |  Email: purchasing@purchasing.wincoil.gov







Ordinance Executive Summary 
Committee Date: Thursday, June 6, 2024 
Committee: Operations & Administrative 
Prepared By: John Giliberti, Assistant State’s Attorney 

Document Title:   Ordinance Amending Chapter 6 of the Winnebago County Code to Give the 
Winnebago County Liquor Control Commission the Authority to Grant 
Exemptions to Section 5/6-11 of the Liquor Control Act of 1934 Which Prohibits 
the Sale of Alcoholic Liquor Near Churches, Schools, and Hospitals 

Board Meeting Date: Thursday, June 13, 2024 

Budget Information: 

Budgeted? No           Amount Budgeted? NA 
If not, originally budgeted, explain the funding source?
If ARPA or CIP funded, original Board approved amount?   NA 
Over or Under approved amount? NA               By: $
If ARPA funded, was it approved by Baker Tilly?  N/A 
ORG/OBJ/Project Codes:       Descriptor: 
Budget Impact?   

Background Information: 
A liquor license application has been made for a pub/gaming lounge in Seward, Illinois. The 
proposed location is within 100 feet of a church.  Illinois law, 235 ILCS 5/6-11(a), prohibits 
issuance of liquor licenses within 100 feet of churches, schools, hospitals and other places.  
However, Illinois law allows governmental entities the power by ordinance to establish regulations 
and restrictions covering the issuance of local liquor licenses and the operations under which local 
liquor licensees may operate, as the public good and convenience may require, so long as those 
regulations are not inconsistent with Illinois law.  

Recommendation: 
Winnebago County’s Liquor Control Commission recommends the Winnebago County Board 
give it the power to grant exemptions to the prohibitions contained in 235 ILCS 5/6-11(a) and to 
limit the hours of operations for such exempted licenses, as the public good and convenience may 
require.      

Contract/Agreement: 
No  

Legal Review:  
Yes 

Follow-Up: 
Staff can follow-up with any questions that the Committee or entire Board may have.



County Board Meeting 
June 13, 2024 

 
ORDINANCE 

OF THE  
COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
2024 CO_____ 

 
SUBMITTED BY: OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

 
SPONSORED BY:  WINNEBAGO COUNTY LIQUOR CONTROL COMMISSIONER 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI, AND WINNEBAGO COUNTY LIQUOR CONTROL COMMISSION 
MEMBERS KEVIN MCCARTHY, JAIME SALGADO AND MICHAEL THOMPSON 

 
 
ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 6 OF THE WINNEBAGO COUNTY CODE TO 

GIVE THE WINNEBAGO COUNTY LIQUOR CONTROL COMMISSION THE 
AUTHORITY TO GRANT EXEMPTIONS TO SECTION 5/6-11 OF THE LIQUOR 

CONTROL ACT OF 1934 WHICH PROHIBITS THE SALE OF ALCOHOLIC LIQUOR 
NEAR CHURCHES, SCHOOLS, AND HOSPITALS  

 
 

WHEREAS, 235 ILCS 5/6-11(a) provides, in part, that no local liquor license shall be 
issued for the sale at retail of alcoholic liquor within 100 feet of, among other entities, any 
church, school, or hospital; and 
 

WHEREAS, 235 ILCS 5/6-11(a-5) provides, in part, that a local liquor control 
commissioner may grant an exemption to the prohibition contained in 235 ILCS 5/6-11(a) if a 
county ordinance authorizes the local liquor control commissioner to grant such an exemption; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, 235 ILCS 5/4-1 provides, in part, that with respect to any territory outside 

the limits of any city, village, or incorporated town the county board has the power by general 
ordinance to establish regulations and restrictions covering the issuance of local liquor licenses 
and the operations under which local liquor licensees may operate, as the public good and 
convenience may require, so long as those regulations and restrictions are not inconsistent with 
state law; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Liquor Control Commission has recommended the 

County Board to give it the power to grant exemptions to the prohibitions contained in 235 ILCS 
5/6-11(a) under such terms as the public good and convenience may require; and         
 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the citizens of Winnebago County, Illinois for 
the Winnebago County Code to be amended to give the Winnebago County Liquor Control 
Commission the authority to grant exemptions to the prohibitions contained in 235 ILCS 5/6-
11(a) and to limit the hours of operation for such exempted licenses as the public good and 
convenience may require. 



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois that section 6-13 of the Winnebago County Code is hereby amended to read 
as follows: 

 
Sec. 6-13. - Business hours.  
 

(a) Except as provided in subsections (b), (c), (d), (e), and (f) of this section, no 
alcoholic liquor shall be sold, offered for sale, furnished, carried out of, or 
consumed by anyone, including the owner and employees thereof, on any 
premises licensed under this chapter from 2:00 a.m. Sunday until the hour of 6:00 
a.m. Monday, nor from 2:00 a.m. to 6:00 a.m. on other days during the week. 
 

(b) If December 31 falls on any day during the week, except Sunday, the closing 
hours shall be extended from 2:00 a.m. until 3:00 a.m. If December 31 falls on a 
Sunday, it shall be lawful for alcoholic liquor to be sold and consumed on a 
licensed premises specified in a class A, B, or C license, and sold on a licensed 
premises specified in a class D license, between the hours of 6:00 p.m. Sunday 
and 3:00 a.m. Monday. 
 

(c) A holder of a class A, B, or C license may sell at retail, on the licensed premises, 
alcoholic liquor for consumption on the premises, as well as sell at retail alcoholic 
liquor in original and unbroken packages, on Sundays, between the hours of 6:00 
a.m. and 12:00 midnight, if the licensee also holds a Sunday license as described 
in section 6-53. 
 

(d) A holder of a class D license may sell at retail, on the licensed premises, alcoholic 
liquor in original and unbroken packages, not for consumption on the premises, 
on Sundays, between the hours of 6:00 a.m. and 12:00 midnight, if the licensee 
also holds a Sunday license, as described in section 6-53. 
 

(e) A holder of a class K license may furnish and/or dispense, on a catered premises, 
alcoholic liquor for consumption on the catered premises at any time and on any 
day of the week, except between the hours of 2:00 a.m. and 6:00 a.m. Tuesday 
through Sunday and 12:01 a.m. and 6:00 a.m. on Mondays. 
 

(f) Whenever the Winnebago County Liquor Control Commission grants an 
exemption to 235 ILCS 5/6-11(a) in issuing a liquor license, the Commission may 
limit the days and hours during which alcoholic liquor may be sold by that 
licensee, and consumed on the licensed premises, to less than those provided 
above in this section, as the Commission deems the public good and convenience 
requires.   
 

(g) The hours of opening and closing as described in this section shall be applicable 
to either Central Standard Time or Central Daylight Savings Time, whichever is 
in effect in the county at the time in question. 

 
(Code 1964, § 3-14; Ord. No. 90-CO-37, § 3-14, 6-28-90; Ord. No. 2010-CO-38, 4-22-

10; Ord. No. 2019-CO-063, 6-27-19) 



State Law reference— Authority of county to fix hours of sale, 235 ILCS 5/6-14. 
  

 BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that the Winnebago County Code is hereby amended 
by adding a section, to be numbered 6-19, which reads as follows: 
 

Sec. 6-19.  Authority to Grant an Exemption to 235 ILCS 5/6-11(a)’s Prohibition 
Against Issuing a Liquor License for the Sale of Alcoholic Liquor Within 100 Feet of 
a Church, School, or Hospital.  
 
The Winnebago County Liquor Control Commission is authorized to grant exemptions to 
the prohibition contained in 235 ILCS 5/6-11(a), and as that statute may be hereafter 
amended, which prohibits the issuance of a local liquor license for the sale of alcoholic 
liquor near churches, schools, and hospitals, among other places.   
 

 
BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict 

herewith are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 
 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that this Ordinance shall be effective immediately 
upon its adoption. 

 
BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that the Clerk of the County Board is hereby directed 

to prepare and deliver certified copies of this Ordinance to the Winnebago County Liquor 
Control Commission, the County Board Chairman, the County Administrator, the County Chief 
Operations Officer, and the County Clerk. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



        Respectfully submitted, 
                                                     OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 
 
 
AGREE       DISAGREE 
 
 
________________________________    __________________________________ 
Keith McDonald, Chair             Keith McDonald, Chair                               
                             
_________________________________          _________________________________ 
Valerie Hanserd, Vice Chair       Valerie Hanserd, Vice Chair  
 
_________________________________          _________________________________ 
Paul Arena                 Paul Arena 
 
_________________________________           ________________________________ 
John Butitta              John Butitta   
 
_________________________________      ________________________________ 
Joe Hoffman                     Joe Hoffman 
 
_________________________________      _________________________________ 
Jaime Salgado                     Jaime Salgado 
 
__________________________________        __________________________________ 
Michael Thompson                    Michael Thompson 
   
 

The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois, this ______ day of ___________________, 2024.  

   
  
       _____________________________ 
       Joseph V. Chiarelli 
       Chairman of the County Board 
       of the County of Winnebago, Illinois 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Lori Gummow 
Clerk of the County Board 
of the County of Winnebago, Illinois 



County Board Meeting 
June 13, 2024 

 
ORDINANCE 

OF THE  
COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
2024 CO_____ 

 
SUBMITTED BY: OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

 
SPONSORED BY:  WINNEBAGO COUNTY LIQUOR CONTROL COMMISSIONER 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI, AND WINNEBAGO COUNTY LIQUOR CONTROL COMMISSION 
MEMBERS KEVIN McCARTHY, JAIME SALGADO AND MICHAEL THOMPSON 

 
 
ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 6 OF THE WINNEBAGO COUNTY CODE TO 

GIVE THE WINNEBAGO COUNTY LIQUOR CONTROL COMMISSION THE 
AUTHORITY TO GRANT EXEMPTIONS TO SECTION 5/6-11 OF THE LIQUOR 

CONTROL ACT OF 1934 WHICH PROHIBITS THE SALE OF ALCOHOLIC LIQUOR 
NEAR CHURCHES, SCHOOLS, AND HOSPITALS  

 
 

WHEREAS, 235 ILCS 5/6-11(a) provides, in part, that no local liquor license shall be 
issued for the sale at retail of alcoholic liquor within 100 feet of, among other entities, any 
church, school, or hospital; and 
 

WHEREAS, 235 ILCS 5/6-11(a-5) provides, in part, that a local liquor control 
commissioner may grant an exemption to the prohibition contained in 235 ILCS 5/6-11(a) if a 
county ordinance authorizes the local liquor control commissioner to grant such an exemption; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, 235 ILCS 5/4-1 provides, in part, that with respect to any territory outside 

the limits of any city, village, or incorporated town the county board has the power by general 
ordinance to establish regulations and restrictions covering the issuance of local liquor licenses 
and the operations under which local liquor licensees may operate, as the public good and 
convenience may require, so long as those regulations and restrictions are not inconsistent with 
state law; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Liquor Control Commission has recommended the 

County Board to give it the power to grant exemptions to the prohibitions contained in 235 ILCS 
5/6-11(a) under such terms as the public good and convenience may require; and         
 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the citizens of Winnebago County, Illinois for 
the Winnebago County Code to be amended to give the Winnebago County Liquor Control 
Commission the authority to grant exemptions to the prohibitions contained in 235 ILCS 5/6-
11(a) and to limit the hours of operation for such exempted licenses as the public good and 
convenience may require. 



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois that section 6-13 of the Winnebago County Code is hereby amended to read 
as follows: 

 
Sec. 6-13. - Business hours.  
 

(a) Except as provided in subsections (b), (c), (d), (e), and (f) of this section, no 
alcoholic liquor shall be sold, offered for sale, furnished, carried out of, or 
consumed by anyone, including the owner and employees thereof, on any 
premises licensed under this chapter from 2:00 a.m. Sunday until the hour of 6:00 
a.m. Monday, nor from 2:00 a.m. to 6:00 a.m. on other days during the week. 
 

(b) If December 31 falls on any day during the week, except Sunday, the closing 
hours shall be extended from 2:00 a.m. until 3:00 a.m. If December 31 falls on a 
Sunday, it shall be lawful for alcoholic liquor to be sold and consumed on a 
licensed premises specified in a class A, B, or C license, and sold on a licensed 
premises specified in a class D license, between the hours of 6:00 p.m. Sunday 
and 3:00 a.m. Monday. 
 

(c) A holder of a class A, B, or C license may sell at retail, on the licensed premises, 
alcoholic liquor for consumption on the premises, as well as sell at retail alcoholic 
liquor in original and unbroken packages, on Sundays, between the hours of 6:00 
a.m. and 12:00 midnight, if the licensee also holds a Sunday license as described 
in section 6-53. 

(d) A holder of a class B license may sell at retail, on the licensed premises, alcoholic 
liquor for consumption on the premises, as well as sell at retail alcoholic liquor in 
original and unbroken packages, on Sundays, between the hours of 6:00 a.m. and 
12:00 midnight, if the licensee also holds a Sunday license. 
 

(e)(d) A holder of a class D license may sell at retail, on the licensed premises, 
alcoholic liquor in original and unbroken packages, not for consumption on the 
premises, on Sundays, between the hours of 6:00 a.m. and 12:00 midnight, if the 
licensee also holds a Sunday license, as described in section 6-53. 
 

(e) A holder of a class K license may furnish and/or dispense, on a catered premises, 
alcoholic liquor for consumption on the catered premises at any time and on any 
day of the week, except between the hours of 2:00 a.m. and 6:00 a.m. Tuesday 
through Sunday and 12:01 a.m. and 6:00 a.m. on Mondays. 
 

(f) Whenever the Winnebago County Liquor Control Commission grants an 
exemption to 235 ILCS 5/6-11(a) in issuing a liquor license, the Commission may 
limit the days and hours during which alcoholic liquor may be sold by that 
licensee, and consumed on the licensed premises, to less than those provided 
above in this section, as the Commission deems the public good and convenience 
requires.   
 

(g) The hours of opening and closing as described in this section shall be applicable 
to either Central Standard Time or Central Daylight Savings Time, whichever is 



in effect in the county at the time in question. 
 
(Code 1964, § 3-14; Ord. No. 90-CO-37, § 3-14, 6-28-90; Ord. No. 2010-CO-38, 4-22-

10; Ord. No. 2019-CO-063, 6-27-19) 
State Law reference— Authority of county to fix hours of sale, 235 ILCS 5/6-14. 

  

 BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that the Winnebago County Code is hereby amended 
by adding a section, to be numbered 6-19, which reads as follows: 
 

Sec. 6-19.  Authority to Grant an Exemption to 235 ILCS 5/6-11(a)’s Prohibition 
Against Issuing a Liquor License for the Sale of Alcoholic Liquor Within 100 Feet of 
a Church, School, or Hospital.  
 
The Winnebago County Liquor Control Commission is authorized to grant exemptions to 
the prohibition contained in 235 ILCS 5/6-11(a), and as that statute may be hereafter 
amended, which prohibits the issuance of a local liquor license for the sale of alcoholic 
liquor near churches, schools, and hospitals, among other places.   
 

 
BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict 

herewith are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 
 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that this Ordinance shall be effective immediately 
upon its adoption. 

 
BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that the Clerk of the County Board is hereby directed 

to prepare and deliver certified copies of this Ordinance to the Winnebago County Liquor 
Control Commission, the County Board Chairman, the County Administrator, the County Chief 
Operations Officer, and the County Clerk. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



        Respectfully submitted, 
                                                     OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 
 
 
AGREE       DISAGREE 
 
 
________________________________    __________________________________ 
Keith McDonald, Chair             Keith McDonald, Chair                               
                             
_________________________________          _________________________________ 
Valerie Hanserd, Vice Chair       Valerie Hanserd, Vice Chair  
 
_________________________________          _________________________________ 
Paul Arena                 Paul Arena 
 
_________________________________           ________________________________ 
John Butitta              John Butitta   
 
_________________________________      ________________________________ 
Joe Hoffman                     Joe Hoffman 
 
_________________________________      _________________________________ 
Jaime Salgado                     Jaime Salgado 
 
__________________________________        __________________________________ 
Michael Thompson                    Michael Thompson 
   
 

The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois, this ______ day of ___________________, 2024.  

   
  
       _____________________________ 
       Joseph V. Chiarelli 
       Chairman of the County Board 
       of the County of Winnebago, Illinois 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Lori Gummow 
Clerk of the County Board 
of the County of Winnebago, Illinois 



UNFINISHED 
BUSINESS 



Appointments 



PUBLIC WORKS 
 COMMITTEE 



















1 
 

ARTICLE IV. SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT 
 

Sec. 50-246. Title 
This article shall be known, cited and referenced to as the “Surface Water Management Ordinance”. 
 
Sec. 50-247. Purpose and scope of article. 
The purpose of this article is to establish regulations for unincorporated areas of the county that 
reasonably manage adverse effects to and by surface water to impacted areas and new 
development, occurring on or after the effective date of this ordinance (August 24, 2006), as 
amended. Specifically, potential surface water effects are: 

(a) Flooding. Flooding is addressed by: 

(1) Regulating Development in Floodplain Areas. This title refers to the Illinois Sample Flood 
Damage Prevention Ordinance (IDNR⁄OWR, as amended)1Illinois State Model Floodplain 
Ordinance, the technical portions of which are Sections 6, 7, 8, 9, and 10. These sections, as 
adjusted to reflect county recognition of Flood Hazard Areas in addition to FEMA's Special 
Flood Hazard Areas, are hereby included in the Technical Regulations. Besides the public 
interest in reducing flood damages, the purpose of these requirements is to comply with Federal 
Regulations (Paragraph 60.3(d) of 44 CFR 59-60), in order for Winnebago County to remain in 
good standing with the National Flood Insurance Program. 

a. Developments shall be regulated in accordance with the base flood standard, which is 
indicated in the definition of Floodplain in the following section 50-248. Also see the 
definitions of Development and especially Substantial Improvement which enumerates 
exceptions. 

(2) Stormwater Detention Regulations. These regulations address escalation in flooding within 
new Developments and/or impacted areas, which increase the amount of impervious surface. 
The maximum controlled stormwater runoff release rate shall not exceed the natural safe 
stormwater drainage capacity of the downstream system, which has been found to be 0.2 cubic 
feet per second, per acre in the county. Details of compliance with this requirement are hereby 
incorporated in the Technical Regulations. 

a. The following, however, shall not be included:  

i.Traditional agricultural uses. 
ii. The construction of single-family dwellings on lots or parcels of land which were of 
record prior to August 12, 1976June 24, 1982.2 
iii. Modification of single-family dwellings which will continue to be used as single-family 
dwellings. 
iv. The use of lands adjacent and contiguous to and which discharge directly into the 
Rock, Pecatonica, Sugar, or Kishwaukee Rivers. 
v. Improvement of existing roadways which does not increase the number of traffic lanes in 
the typical cross section of the roadway. 

(3) Post Construction Runoff Quantity Controls. These are controls, like Stormwater Detention, 
that address the increased runoff associated with many types of development, but are more 
commonly associated with terms such as Low Impact Development and 'Green' Communities. 
Post Construction Runoff Control is a Best Management Practice (BMP) required of the County 
by the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES), Phase II. Allowances for such 
controls are hereby incorporated in the Technical Regulations. 

1. water quality degradation. This degradation, often called pollution, is addressed by: 

 
1 Illinois Sample Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance, updated May, 2022 
2 New Lot of Record date from Winnebago County  



2 
 

(b) Construction Site Erosion and Sediment Control. These controls apply to any Land 
Disturbing Activity (see definition) with the intent that the transport of sediment via wind or 
rainwater runoff from sites affected by land disturbing activities be limited, as closely as 
practicable, to that which would have occurred if the land had been left in its undisturbed state. 
This is a BMP of NPDES Phase II; and has been addressed by a standard ordinance 
developed by the Winnebago County Association for Clean Water Action (WinACWA) 2005. 
Provisions of this ordinance are hereby incorporated in the Technical Regulations. 

a. Except that, where floodplains are not involved, erosion and sediment control plans shall 
not be required for submittal for any of the following, provided that the person responsible 
for any such development shall implement necessary soil erosion and sediment control 
measures consistent with the principles of this regulation: 

 
i. Excavation below final grade for the basement and footings of a single-
family residence and appurtenant structures on a site in excess of one acre for 
which a building permit has been issued by the County of Winnebago; 
1.  Agricultural use of land, including the implementation of 

conservation measures included in a farm conservation plan approved by the 
Winnebago County Soil and Water Conservation District, and including the 
construction of agricultural structures; 

2. Installation, renovation, or replacement of a septic system to serve an 
existing dwelling or structure. 

(2) Post Construction Runoff Quality Controls. These are additional controls, extending 
beyond the construction phase, which address water quality on a continuous basis. They 
can be as simple as some Low Impact Development techniques or as complex as a small 
surface water treatment plant. Post Construction Runoff Control is a Best Management 
Practice (BMP) required of the County by the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination 
System (NPDES), Phase II. Allowances for such controls are hereby incorporated in the 
Technical Regulations. 

Sec. 50-248. Definitions. 

(a) The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning. 
When language contained within the Winnebago County Unified Development Ordinance is 
referenced, and in conflict with this section, the language in this section shall be applied to the 
provisions of this ordinance. 

Accessory Structure means a structure located on the same lot with the principal building and is 
customarily incidental and subordinate to the use of the principal building. 

Administrator means the Winnebago County Engineer, or his/her designee. With regard to 
Construction Site Erosion and Sediment Control provisions of this Article and the Technical 
Regulations, on sites for which a building permit is required or pending, the term shall also include 
the Building Official of Winnebago County, and the Winnebago County Soil and Water 
Conservation District Executive Director, or his/her designee. 

Authority means any agency with regulatory powers, Winnebago County, for the purpose of this 
ordinance. 

Base flood means the flood having a one percent chance of being equaled or exceeded in any given 
year, also known as the 100-year flood. 



3 
 

Base flood elevation (BFE) means the elevation in relation to mean sea level of the crest of the 
base flood. Basement means that portion of a building having its floor sub-grade (below ground 
level) on all sides. 

Best Management Practices (BMP) means the primary method to manage stormwater runoff and 
mitigate pollution entering waterways. BMPs are tools, practices, and methods of stormwater 
management that control peak stormwater runoff rate, improve water quality, and manage runoff 
volume. (For additional guidance, see Section 1102 of the Technical Regulations.) 

Building means a walled and roofed structure, including gas or liquid storage tank, that is 
principally above ground, including manufactured homes, prefabricated buildings, mobile homes,  
and gas or liquid storage tanks. The term also includes recreational vehicles and travel trailers 
installed on a site for more than one hundred eighty (180) days per year. 

Certify or certification means formally attesting that the specific inspections and tests where 
required have been performed, and that such tests comply with the applicable requirements of 
this Ordinance. 

Clearing means any activity that removes vegetative ground cover. 

Concentrated Animal Feeding Operation (CAFO) is defined as a Large CAFO pursuant to 35 Illinois 
Administrative Code 502.103. (https://www.ilsos.gov/departments/index/admincodindex.html ) 3 

   

Control structure means a facility constructed to regulate the volume of stormwater runoff released 
during a specific length of time. 

County means the County of Winnebago, Illinois. 

County board Board means the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois. 

Critical Facility means any facility which is critical to the health and welfare of the population and, if 
flooded, would create an added dimension to the disaster. Damage to these critical facilities can 
impact the delivery of vital services, can cause greater damage to other sectors of the community, or 
can put special populations at risk. 

Examples of critical facilities where flood protection should be required include: emergency 
services facilities (such as fire and police stations), schools, hospitals retirement homes and 
senior care facilities, major roads and bridges, critical utility sites (telephone switching stations or 
electrical transformers, and hazardous material storage facilities (chemicals, petrochemicals, 
hazardous or toxic substances). 

Development (see also Land Disturbing Activity) means any manmade change to improved or 
unimproved land, including, but not limited to, 

(1) demolition, construction, reconstruction, repair, placement of a building, or any 
structural alteration to a building; 
(2) substantial improvement of an existing building; 

 
3 New Definition added; specific to Large CAFOs. 



4 
 

(3) installation of a mobile home or manufactured home on a site, preparing a site for a 
mobile home or manufactured home, or installing a travel trailer on a site for more than one 
hundred eighty (180) days per year; 
(4) installation of utilities, construction of roads, bridges, culverts or similar projects; 
(5) construction or erection of levees, dams walls or fences; 
(6) drilling, mining, filling, dredging, grading, excavating, paving, or other 
alterations of the ground surface; 
(7) storage or manufacture of materials, chemicals or other substances in floodplains, 
including the placement of gas and liquid (other than water) storage tanks. This definition 
is further refined in the prohibition enumerated in section 50-249(d)(17), 
(8) channel modifications or any other activity that might change the direction, height, 
or velocity of flood or surface waters. 

“Development” does not include routine maintenance of existing buildings and facilities, 
resurfacing roads, or gardening, plowing, and similar practices that do not involve filing, grading, or 
construction of levees. 

District means the Winnebago County Soil and Water Conservation District. 

Dry bottom stormwater storage area means a facility designed to be normally dry which accumulates 
excess stormwater only during periods when the restricted stormwater runoff release rate is less 
than the stormwater inflow rate. 

Elevating of a building or structure means a method of minimizing flood damage wherein the lowest 
completely and permanently enclosed floor of a building or structure must be raised above a 
specified level, safe from significant damage from the base flood. 

Engineer means the Winnebago County Engineer and person(s) designated by the County of 
Winnebago to review, approve, or enforce erosion and sediment control plans or storm water 
pollution prevention plans. 

Excavation means any act by which organic matter, earth, sand, gravel, rock or any similar material 
is cut into, dug, quarried, uncovered, removed, displaced, relocated or bulldozed, and shall include 
the conditions resulting therefrom. 

Existing grade means the vertical location of the existing ground surface prior to excavation or filling. 

Existing Manufactured Mobile Home Park or Subdivision means a manufactured mobile home park 
or subdivision for which the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the manufactured 
mobile homes are to be affixed or buildings to be constructed (including, at a minimum, the 
installation of utilities, the construction of streets, and either final site grading or the pouring of 
concrete pads) is completed before the effective date of the floodplain management regulations 
adopted by a community. 

Expansion to an Existing Manufactured Mobile Home Park or Subdivision means the preparation of 
additional sites by the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the manufactured 
mobile homes are to be affixed (including the installation of utilities, the construction of streets, and 
either final site grading or the pouring of concrete pads). 

FEMA means Federal Emergency Management Agency. 



5 
 

Fill means earth, sand, gravel, rock or any other material which is deposited, placed, replaced, 
dumped, pushed, pulled, transported or removed by man to a new location, and shall include the 
condition resulting therefrom. 

Final grade means the vertical location of the ground or pavement surface after the grading work is 
completed in accordance with the site development plan. 

Flood or flooding means a general and temporary condition of partial or complete inundation of 
normally dry land areas from the overflow of inland waters, or the unusual and rapid accumulation of 
runoff of surface waters from any source. 

Flood Fringe means that portion of the floodplain outside of the regulatory floodway. 

Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) means a map prepared by the Federal Emergency Management 
Agency that depicts the floodplain or special flood hazard area (SFHA) within a community. This 
map includes insurance rate zones and may or may not depict floodways and show base flood 
elevations. For the purpose of this ordinance, the FIRM is that specified under the definition of 
Floodplain. 

Flood Insurance Study (FIS) means an examination, evaluation and determination of flood hazards 
and, if appropriate, corresponding water surface elevations. For the purpose of this ordinance, the 
FIS is that prepared for Winnebago County in companion with the FIRM. 

Floodplain, Flood Hazard Area, and Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA) (These terms are 
synonymous, except SFHA is specific to FIRMs) means those lands within the unincorporated 
county that are subject to inundation by the base flood. The SFHAs of the county are generally 
identified as such on panel numbers 17201C0020D to 17201C0415D, inclusive, of the countywide 
Flood Insurance Rate Map of Winnebago County, Illinois, prepared by the Federal Emergency 
Management Agency and dated September 6, 2006, and as may be subsequently amended by 
FEMA. Floodplain also includes those areas of known or suspected and subsequently delineated 
flooding as identified by the county by observation or sound hydraulic and hydrologic principles. 

Floodproofing means any combination of structural or nonstructural additions, changes, or 
adjustments to structures which reduce or eliminate flood damage to real estate, property and their 
contents. 

Floodproofing Certificate means a form published by the Federal Emergency management agency 
that is used to certify that a building has been designed and constructed to be structurally dry flood 
proofed to the flood protection elevation. 

Flood Protection Elevation (FPE) means the elevation of the base flood plus one foot of freeboard at 
any given location in the floodplain. 

Floodway means that portion of the floodplain required to store and convey the base flood. The 
floodway for the floodplains shall be as delineated on the countywide Flood Insurance Rate Maps of 
the county prepared by FEMA and dated September 6, 2006, or as may be subsequently amended 
by FEMA. The floodways for each of the remaining floodplains of the county shall be according to 
the best data available from the Federal, State, or other sources. 



6 
 

Freeboard means An an increment of elevation added to the base flood elevation to provide a factor 
of safety for uncertainties in calculations, future watershed development, unknown localized 
conditions, wave actions and unpredictable effects such as those caused by ice or debris jams. 

Garage means a building, either attached or detached, used or designed to be used primarily for the 
parking and storage of vehicles. 

Grading means excavation or fill or any combination thereof and shall include the conditions 
resulting from any excavation or fill. 

Historic Structure means any structure that is: 

3. Listed individually in the National Register of Historic Places or preliminarily 
determined by the Secretary of the Interior as meeting the requirements for 
individual listing on the National Register. 
4. Certified or preliminarily determined by the Secretary of the Interior as contributing 
to the historic district or a district preliminarily determined by the Secretary to qualify as 
a registered historic district. 
5. Individually listed on the state inventory of historic places by the Illinois Historic 
Preservation Agency. 
6. Individually listed on a local inventory of historic places that has been certified by the 
Illinois Historic Preservation Agency. 

Hydric soil means a soil having a seasonal high water table at or near the surface of the soil most 
of the year. 

Hydrophyte means a plant growing in water or in soil too saturated with water for most plants to 
survive. 

IDNR⁄OWR means Illinois Department of Natural Resources⁄Office of Water Resources. 

Impacted area means any parcel, or any portion of a parcel, within unincorporated Winnebago 
County, that includes a stormwater easement, a detention easement, drainage way, flood zone, 
flood plain, or flood way, and plat provisions4, and is affected by a natural or man-made event or 
action in such a way that is a violation of the provisions of this ordinance in its entirety. 

Impervious surface. Impervious area means any hard-surfaced, compacted area that does not 
readily absorb or retain water, including but not limited to building roofs, asphalt and concrete 
surfaces, and graveled areas. 

Inspector means the person designated to review, approve, or enforce erosion and sediment control 
plans or storm water pollution prevention plans. 

Intermediate development means land disturbing activity that occurs on property of no less than 
25,000 square feet and less than one (1) acre, and is not a public road improvement or mining 
development. 

Landscape or Land disturbing activity means any grading, excavation or fill placement activity which, 
in any combination, affects an area of one acre or more; or that may discharge soil and erosion into, 

 
4 Recorded plat restrictions and requirements are subject to requirements of this Ordinance. 



7 
 

or affect the performance of, any stormwater conveyance system; or alters or has the potential to 
alter existing floodwater storage, conveyance or direction of flow. Gardening, crop farming and 
measures necessary to reestablish healthy soil-stabilizing vegetation are not landscape disturbing 
activities. 

Lot of record means an area of land designated as a lot of record or subdivision recorded pursuant 
to law. 

Lowest floor means the lowest floor of the lowest enclosed area, including the basement. An 
unfinished or flood-resistant enclosure usable solely for parking of vehicles, building access or 
storage, in an area other than a basement area, shall not be considered a building's lowest floor, 
provided that such enclosure is not built so as to render the structure in violation of the applicable 
flood hazard area requirements of this article. 

Major development means land disturbing activity great than 1 acre, that is not classified as a public 
road improvement, or mining development. 

Manufactured home means a building assembly or system of building sub-assemblies, designed for 
habitation as a dwelling for one (1) or more persons, including the necessary electrical, plumbing, 
heating, ventilating and other service systems, which is of closed or open construction and which is 
made or assembled by a manufacturer, on or off the building site, for installation, or assembly and 
installation, on the building site, with a permanent foundation.structure, transportable in one or more 
sections, which is built on a permanent chassis and is designed for use with or without a permanent 
foundation when connected to the required utilities.5 

 For floodplain management purposes, the term "manufactured home" also includes park  trailers, 
travel trailers, and other similar vehicles placed on a site for greater than 180  consecutive days. 

Manufactured home park or subdivision means a parcel or contiguous parcels of land divided into two or more 
manufactured home lots for rent or for sale. 

Market value means the full fair cash value of real property as determined by the purchase price a willing 
buyer and seller would arrive at in the open market. The full fair cash value of real property shall be presumed 
to be the equalized assessment of the property. 

Mining development means land disturbing activity that consists of extracting and/or mining material or 
aggregate resources. Activity is conducted upon a recorded parcel of land exceeding 2 acres and involves the 
removal of 10 feet or more of overburden. 

Minor development means land disturbing activity that consists of hydrologic disturbance of less than 25,000 
square feet and is not a public road improvement or mining development. 

Mobile home means  a single-family dwelling built on a permanent chassis designed for residential occupancy 
and containing complete electrical, plumbing, and sanitary facilities and designed to be installed in a 
permanent or semi-permanent manner with or without a permanent foundation, which is capable of being 
drawn over public highways as a unit, or in sections, and which is certified pursuant to the "National 
Manufactured Housing Construction and Safety Standards Act of 1974, 42 U.S.C. 5401 et seq., as amended. 

 
5 Amended definition consistent with Winnebago County Unified Development Ordinance. 



8 
 

"Manufactured Homes" are not considered a "Mobile Home." Park model homes and the like which meet this 
definition are considered mobile homes.6 

 For floodplain management purposes, the term "mobile home" also includes park trailers,  travel 
trailers, and other similar vehicles placed on a site for greater than 180  consecutive  days 

Natural drainage means the existing runoff pattern of water on the ground surface prior to construction. 

New Construction means structures for which the start of construction commenced or after the effective date of 
floodplain management regulations adopted by a community and includes any subsequent improvements of such 
structures. 

New Manufactured Mobile Home Park or Subdivision means a manufactured mobile home park or subdivision for 
which the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the manufactured mobile homes are to be 
affixed or buildings to be constructed (including, at a minimum, the installation of utilities, the construction of 
streets, and either final site grading or the pouring of concrete pads) is completed on or after the effective date of 
the floodplain management regulations adopted by a community.7 

NFIP means National Flood Insurance Program. 

Parcel means all contiguous land held in one ownership. 

Permitting authority means the County of Winnebago. 

Person means an individual, public or private corporation, government, partnership or unincorporated 
association. 

Planned development means any large-scale land development consisting of unconventional or creative lotting 
designs, ownership arrangements, land use patterns, land use mixes or other features uniquely permitted and 
regulated through the procedures identified for planned unit developments, planned community developments, or 
precise plan developments. 

Post Construction Runoff Control means runoff control(s) over quantity (rate or volume) of flow; or quality 
(presence of suspended solids, chemicals, or other materials) of surface water leaving a development after 
construction is completed. 

Positive gravity outlet means the drainage of an area in a manner that will ensure complete removal of all surface 
water by means of natural gravity. 

Principal use means the main permitted or intended use of land and⁄or buildings as distinguished from a 
subordinate or accessory use. 

Public road improvement means land disturbing activity that takes place in a public right-of-way or part thereof 
and does not include the construction of a building. Related construction includes, but is not limited to culverts, 
bridges, roadways, sidewalks, and bike paths. Public recreational trails and linear railroad developments shall be 
considered public road improvements with respect to the requirements of this Ordinance, even if the public 
recreation trail or linear railroad development is not located within a public right-of-way. 

Removal means cutting vegetation to the ground or stumps, complete extraction, or killing by spraying. 

Recreational Vehicle or Travel Trailer  (see also, Mobile home) means a vehicle which is: 

(1) built on a single chassis; 
(2) four hundred (400) square feet or less in size; 

 
6 Amended definition consistent with Winnebago County Unified Development Ordinance. 
7 Reflects amended definition of mobile home. 



9 
 

(3) designed to be self-propelled or permanently towable by a light duty truck and designed primarily not 
for use as a permanent dwelling but as temporary living quarters for recreational, camping, travel or 
seasonal use. 

Runoff means that portion of precipitation or irrigation on an area which does not infiltrate into the soils, but 
instead flows off the surface of the land. 

Repetitive Loss means Flood related damages sustained by a structure on two separate occasions during a ten 
year period for which the cost of repairs at the time of each such flood event on the average equals or exceeds 
twenty-five percent (25%) of the market value of the structure before the damage occurred. 

Sediment⁄sedimentation means transported and deposited soil particles or aggregates, usually by wind or 
water. 

SFHA- See definition of floodplain. 

Shed means a relatively small accessory building often purchased pre-built or as a kit in pre-fabricated sections. 
It is not designed to be served by heat, electricity, or plumbing and it is commonly not placed on a permanent 
foundation when under two hundred (200) square feet in area. A ‘shed’ is typically intended to store lawn, 
garden, or pool care equipment.  

Site means a lot or parcel of land, or a contiguous combination thereof, where construction activity is performed. 

Start of Construction includes substantial improvement and means the date the building permit was issued. This, 
provided the actual start of construction, repair, reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition placement or other 
improvement, was within one hundred eighty (180) days of the permit date. The actual start means either the first 
placement of permanent construction of a structure on a site, such as the pouring of slab or footings, the 
installation of piles, the construction of columns or any work beyond the stage of excavation or placement of a 
mobile home, or manufactured home on a foundation. For a substantial improvement, actual start of construction 
means the first alteration of any wall, ceiling, floor or other structural part oaf a building whether or not that 
alteration affects the external dimensions of the building. 

Storm Water Conveyance and Storage System means any river, stream, creek, brook, branch, flowage, ravine, 
or natural or artificial drainageway, lake, pond, wetland, roadway drainage, storm sewer, etc. in or into which 
surface or groundwater flows, either perennially or intermittently. 

Stripping means any activity that removes the vegetative surface cover including tree removal, clearing, and 
storage or removal of topsoil. 

Structure means anything which is constructed or erected with a fixed location on the ground or attached to 
something having a fixed location on the ground. A building or a fence shall be considered a structure. 

Structure means anything erected, the use of which requires more or less permanent location on the ground or 
attached to something having a permanent location on the ground. A building, garage, shed, or a fence shall be 
considered a structure.8 

Subdivision means any division of land into two or more parts, including transfers of land between adjacent 
property owners for the purpose of ownership transfer or future development. 

Substantial Damage means damage of any origin sustained by a structure whereby the cumulative percentage of 
damage during the life of the building equals or exceeds fifty percent (50%) of the market value of the structure 
before the damage occurred regardless of actual repair work performed. Volunteer labor and materials must be 
included in this determination. The term includes “Repetitive Loss Buildings” (see definition). 

 
8 Buildings, garages, sheds and fences must comply with the requirements of this Ordinance as they all are potential obstructions 
to water flow in the floodplain. 



10 
 

Substantial Improvement means any reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition or improvement of a structure taking 
place during the life of the building in which the cumulative percentage of improvements:equalsimprovements 
equals or exceeds fifty percent (50%) of the market value of the structure before the improvement or repair is 
started, or increases the floor area by more than twenty percent (20%). 

 “Substantial improvement” is considered to occur when the first alteration of any wall, ceiling,  floor 
or other structural part of the building commences, whether or not that alteration affects  the external 
dimensions of the structure. This term includes structures which have incurred  repetitive loss or substantial 
damage, regardless of the actual repair work done. 

 The term does not include: 

(1) Any project for improvement of a structure to comply with existing state or local health, 
sanitary, or safety code specifications which are solely necessary to assure safe living 
conditions, or 
(2) any alteration of a structure listed on the National Register of Historic Places or the Illinois 
Register of Historic Places. 

Traditional agricultural use means a use commonly classed as agricultural or horticultural, including forestry, 
crop farming, truck gardening, wholesale nursery operations, animal husbandry, the operation of any 
machinery or vehicles incidental to such uses, and the construction of single-family dwellings and other farm 
structures associated with such uses.  

 The term does not include Uses uses such as grain storage and processing, feed and fertilizer 
 manufacture and processing, farm machinery repair or sales, Concentrated Animal Feeding 
Operations,  or other similar agri-businesses which substantially increase the size of paved or compacted 
areas by  more than 25,000 square feet (cumulative) causing significant or measurable increases in 
stormwater  runoff shall not be considered traditional agricultural uses.9 

Technical regulations meansmean the Winnebago County Surface Water Management Technical Regulations, 
which are adopted by the county County to specify the details of compliance with the scope of this Ordinance. 
While this Ordinance contains these definitions and establishes county policy, administrative matters, and legal 
foundation, the Technical Regulations, still a public document, requires measurements, planning and execution 
by engineers, architects, surveyors, or other certified or qualified persons, not the general public. Technical 
regulations may also be more subject to amendment as better methods are documented or environmental 
standards grow more strictstricter. 

Tributary watershed means the entire catchment area that contributes stormwater runoff to a given point. 

Vacant means land on which there are no structures or only structures which are secondary to the use or 
maintenance of the land itself. 

Violation means the failure of a structure or other development to be fully compliant with the county's surface 
water management regulations. A structure or other development without the required federal, state, and⁄or local 
permits and elevation certification is presumed to be in violation until such time as the documentation is provided. 

Waste means an unwanted byproduct of the developing⁄building process including construction-generated litter. 

Wetland, according to the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, means lands transitional between terrestrial and aquatic 
systems where the water tableareas where water covers the soil, or is usually present either at or near the 
surface of the soil all year or the land is covered by shallow waterfor varying periods of time during the year, 
including during the growing season. For purposes of this classification wetlands must have one or more of the 
following three attributes: (1) at least periodically, the land supports predominantly hydrophytes; (2) the substrate 

 
9 Amended definition. Added concentrated animal feeding operations (see new definition), and clarified size of paved or 
compacted areas. 



11 
 

is predominantly undrained hydric soil; and (3) the substrate is nonsoil and is saturated with water or covered by 
shallow water at some time during the growing season of the year (US Fish & Wildlife Service). 

Wet bottom stormwater storage area means a facility that contains a body of water and which accumulates 
excess stormwater during periods when the restricted stormwater runoff release rate is less than the stormwater 
inflow rate. 

(b) Words not defined in this section shall be interpreted in accordance with definitions contained in 

Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary, 1993 editionMerriam Webster Online Dictionary. 

Sec. 50-249. Administration.10 
(a) Administration of this article shall be the responsibility of the Administrator, who shall have authority to 

perform all duties enumerated in this section. The Administrator shall develop and maintain a familiarity 
with all state and federal laws related to floodplain management and drainage, including section 404 of 
the Federal Water Pollution Control Act of 1972 and subsequent amendments thereto (42 USC 133433 
USC 1251); and Statewide Permits issued by IDNR⁄OWR. The Administrator shall not issue a permit 
with respect to this article until clearance necessary from the respective state and federal agencies is 
obtained. No development or activity that constituteswithin an impacted area regulated by this article, 
shall commence in any area known or suspected to be inundated by the base flood without prior written 
approval from the Administrator in accordance with the requirements of this article. 
1. Interpretation of terms and words. The words ‘shall’, ‘will’, and ‘must’ are mandatory, not permissive. 

Definitions of terms specific to this ordinance are contained in Section 50-248. 

(b) The Administrator may appoint any individuals or organizations to act in whole or part under this 
authority. The Administrator shall have appropriate assistance from the zoning officer, the building officer, the 
plats officer and officials of the county health department. These officials shall assist and cooperate with the 
Administrator in the administration of this article, and shall notify the Administrator regarding any official 
actions which may fall under the jurisdiction of this article and any suspected violations of this article. 

(c) The officials mentioned in subsection (b) of this section shall familiarize themselves with this article, 
with particular attention to the areas and activities regulated by this article, and shall refer all requests for 
permits for such activities made to their respective offices to the Administrator for approval according to this 
article. After November 13, 1980, no zoning clearance, building permit, or plat or subdivision approval shall be 
issued by the zoning officer, building official or plats officer for a development activity or land subdivision in a 
known or suspected base flood area until the proposed use, structure, development, subdivision or activity is 
approved by the Administrator. All requests for well permits, onsite waste disposal systems and onsite waste 
processing systems within the county shall be submitted in writing to the Administrator for review. 

(d) The Administrator shall enforce the provisions of this article, and for that purpose shall have 
the following additional powers and duties to: 

1. Require that a permit or clearance be obtained prior to any new use or improvement of land or 
propertyland, property,  anor impacted area subject to the base flood, including, but not limited to, the 
placement of fill and landscape grading; the Administrator shall review and examine all applications for 
such permits to ensure compliance with the provisions of this article. This work shall include: 

a. comparison Comparison of the elevation of the site to the base flood elevation. Any 
developmentdevelopment or  land disturbing activity located on land that can be shown by 
survey data to be higher than the current base flood elevation and which has not been filled 
after the date of the site's first Flood Insurance Rate Map is not in the floodplain and therefore 
not subject to the requirements of this ordinance. Conversely, any developmentdevelopment or 
land disturbing activity located on land shown to be below the base flood elevation and 
hydraulically connected, but not shown on the current Flood Insurance Rate Map, is subject to 
the provisions of this ordinance. 
b. with With reference to the above paragraph, maintenance of any documentation of the 
existing ground elevation at the development sitedevelopment site or within the impacted area 
and certification that this ground elevation existed prior to the date of the site's first Flood 
Insurance Rate Map identification. 

 
 

10 Amendments apply to existing properties and parcels, and new construction activity. 



12 
 

2 Review each plan and determine its conformance with all provisions of this ordinance, and within 
thirty days after receiving the plan, and shall in writing: 

a. approve the plan if it is found to be in conformance with the provisions of this 
ordinance; 
b. approve the plan subject to such reasonable conditions as may be necessary to 
secure substantially the objectives of this ordinance; or 
c. disapprove the plan, indicating the deficiencies and the procedure for submitting a revised 
plan. 

Approval shall not be issued for an intended development sitedevelopment site or impacted area 
unless: 

i.The developmentdevelopment or impacted area, including but not limited to subdivisions and 
planned unit development, has been approved by the County of Winnebago where 
applicable, or 

ii. The proposed developmentdevelopment or impacted area is coordinated with any overall 
development program previously approved by the County of Winnebago for the area in which 
the site is situated; and 

iii.All relevant federal and state permits (eg., for floodplains and wetlands) have been received 
for the portion of the site subject to soil disturbance. 

3. Collect any fees which may be established by the County Board, issue permits or other 
certificates indicating compliance with this article and keep permanent records thereof; 

4. Conduct inspections of buildings, structures, lands and uses, including substantial damage 
determinations, as are necessary to determine compliance with this article; such inspections may 
be made by the building official or inspector in conjunction with normal building or construction 
inspections; 

5. Receive, file and forward as necessary all applications pertaining to this article; 

6. Initiate, direct and review from time to time the provisions of this article and make 
recommendations to the county board as necessary; 

7. Initiate amendments to this article as may be necessary to comply with changes in the 
National Flood Insurance Program or state floodplain management requirements; and cooperate 
with federal and state agencies to coordinate base flood data and to improve the administration of 
this ordinance. 

8. Revoke permits, certificates of compliance and post stop work orders where the provisions of 
this article are being violated; 

9. Require or conduct elevation surveys and monumentation as necessary to ensure 
compliance; 

10. Issue notices of violation when necessary and take further action as specified in this article to 
obtain compliance; 

11. Provide and maintain public information relative to all matters arising out of this article; and for 
that purpose, retain plans, specifications, and reports for all developments and impacted areas. 
Annually publish informational material advising property owners on threats, hazards and 
vulnerabilities; 

12. Issue orders preventing the occupation or use of any  land, building or structure which has 
been constructed or modified in violation of the terms of this article; 

13. Issue orders to initiate and carry out corrective measures where a violation of the terms of this 
article has placed other properties in peril; 

14. Maintain records of all official actions taken under this article; and: 
a. Provide the county board, the state department of transportation, the division of water 

resources, and the Federal Insurance Administration with an annual report of flood 
hazard area activities on forms provided by the Federal Insurance Administration. 

b. Require and maintain records of lowest floor elevations, floodproofing 
certifications, variance documents and other records required by the Federal 
Insurance Administration. 



13 
 

c. Maintain a record of the lowest floor elevations in flood hazard areas of all new 
structures or substantial improvements of structures constructed after November 19, 
1980. These floor elevations shall be available to the public. 

d. Maintain the records of all proceedings and actions of the board taken in connection with 
this article. 

e. Notify the Federal Insurance Administration, as part of the annual report, of all variances 
granted. 

15. As applicable to their jurisdiction: notify IDNR⁄OWR and any neighboring communities prior 
to any alteration or relocation of a watercourse. 

16. Maintain the accuracy of floodplain maps including notifying IDNR⁄OWR and⁄or submitting 
information to FEMA within six months whenever a modification of the floodplain may change the 
base flood elevation or result in a change to the floodplain map. 

17. Prohibit the storage or manufacture of materials, chemicals or other substances in 
floodplains, including: 

a. the placement of gas and liquid (other than water) storage tanks, 
b. water-soluble chemicals, 
c. materials which are buoyant, 
d. pesticides, herbicides, and fertilizers, 
e. radioactive materials, 
f. grain or other storage of materials or substances which can be easily damaged by floodwaters, 

and 
g. the storage of any other chemical or substance in large or small amounts which, in the 

judgment of the Administrator, has the potential to pollute floodwaters, impair flood flows, or 
increase the damage hazard to other property owners upstream or downstream. 

Except that the types of storage or manufacture which are exempted are: 
ai. storage or manufacture which is floodproofed to withstand a flood exceeding the base flood by one 
foot; 
iib. the storage of gasoline, oil and other substances necessary in the operation and maintenance of 
marine craft and watercraft; and 

ciii. storage or manufacture existing prior to November 30, 1980, for a period of three years 
from November 30, 1980. Thereafter, these items shall be removed or floodproofed to withstand a 
flood exceeding the base flood by one foot. However, in any case where the preexisting storage or 
manufacture of a prohibited and not otherwise exempted substance is abandoned or ceased for a 
period of three consecutive months, then neither that activity nor any similar prohibited activity 
shall be reestablished, except in conformance with this 
article. 
 

Sec. 50-250. Enforcement and Penalties.11 
The administrator Administrator shall be the official primarily responsible for the enforcement of this article. The 
administrator Administrator shall serve notice of a violation of this article on the owner or his authorized agent, 
a tenant, architect, builder, contractor or other person who commits or participates in any violation. The 
administrator may request the state's attorney to institute legal proceedings necessary to enforce this article or 
prevent or remedy any violations thereof. He/she may also request the assistance of the county sheriff's 
department in enforcing this article. 
 

(a) It shall be unlawful for any person to violate, disobey, omit, neglect, or refuse to comply with, or to 
resist enforcement of, any provision of this Ordinance, or variance required by this Ordinance. 

(b) It shall be unlawful under this article for any applicant or person to submit any inaccurate plans, plats or 
other documents to the aAdministrator or other office involved in the enforcement of this article. 

(b)(c) Stop-work order; In the event any person holding an approved erosion and sediment control 
plan, or development permit, pursuant to this ordinance violates the terms of the approval, or carries on site 
development in such a manner as to materially adversely affect the health, welfare, or safety of persons 
residing or working in the neighborhood of the development site or so as to be materially detrimental to the 
public welfare or injurious to property or improvements in the neighborhood, the County of Winnebago may 
suspend or revoke approved construction activity including, but not limited to: any and all building permits, 

 
11 Section 250 combines Section 50-250 Enforcement and Section 50-251 from the previous version of the Ordinace. 



14 
 

grading activity, road construction, or other construction related activities until such time the approved erosion 
and sediment control plan, or conditions of the development permit are satisfactorily implemented and/or 
maintained. 

(c)(d) Enforcement of violations of an approved plan and/or within any impacted area shall be by a 
written stop-work order issued by the County of Winnebago and delivered to the permittee or his agent or the 
person performing the work. The stop-work order shall be effective immediately, shall state the specific violation 
cited, and shall state the conditions under which work may be resumed. Failure to follow an approved erosion 
and sediment control plan may be just cause to permanently suspend or revoke authorized construction activity 
or building permit. 

 
(e) It shall be unlawful for the person owning or exercising control over any property, or development thereon, 

to permit or allow that property, or any development thereon, or any condition thereof, to violate, or remain 
in violation of, any provision of this Ordinance, or fail to comply with, abide by or satisfactorily complete 
any condition of any variance granted to, or issued for, that property or development.  

 
 

(f) It shall be unlawful for any person to continue any work on a property after having been served with a stop 
work order issued pursuant to Sec. 50-250 (ac), except such work as that person is directed, or 
authorized, to perform by the Administrator necessary to remove a violation having a temporary impact or 
to abate an unsafe condition.  

 
 

(g) Inspection and Maintenance Authority. Pursuant to the authority granted by 55 ILCS 5/5-1104 & 5-1062, 
the County may, after thirty (30) days written notice to the owner or occupant, in a non-emergency 
situation enter upon any lands or waters within the County for the purpose of inspecting or maintaining 
stormwater facilities or causing the removal of any obstruction to an affected watercourse. Such Notice to 
be mailed to the last known address of each owner. The cost to the enforcing authority for any and all 
action taken as a result of the notice, is a lien upon the property, and the enforcing authority may take 
all steps to make such lien of record. 

 
(h) The Administrator may require the person to apply for an “after-the-fact” stormwater management permit, 

including any and all supporting documentation required thereto, for any unpermitted, unauthorized 
regulated development, disturbance, or impact. 

 
 

(i) The Administrator may require the development site or impacted area to be fully restored to its condition 
existing prior to the violation. If it is not feasible or practical to fully restore the development site or 
impacted area to the condition existing prior to the violation, the Enforcement Officer may allow the 
development site or impacted area to be restored to a condition that increases flood storage or decreases 
stormwater runoff compared to the condition existing prior to the violation. 

 
(j) The Administrator may take other legal action including but not limited to a temporary restraining order 

and other preliminary or permanent injunctive relief necessary to prevent further harm or violation and/or 
remedy any harm or violation that has already occurred, and if applicable require removal, correction, 
remediation and/or mitigation for said harm and violation. In addition to any fine or other relief, all costs 
and expenses, including reasonable attorney’s fees incurred, may be recovered. 

 
 

(k) The Administrator may, after notice is sent to the owner(s) of the parcel(s) upon which the violation is 
located, record the complaint filed, the notice of violation or any stop work order against the property at 
the Winnebago County Recorder of Deeds Office. 

 

(l) No person shall construct, enlarge, alter, repair, or maintain any grading, excavation or fill, or develope 
in the floodplain, or cause the same to be done, contrary to or in violation of any terms of the ordinance. 
If necessary, the performance bond filed by the applicant may be forfeited to the County of Winnebago 
to cover the cost of repairs. Any person violating any of the Erosion and Sediment Control provisions of 
this ordinance shall not be awarded a Certificate of Occupancy from the County until violations have 
been corrected. 



15 
 

(m) With respect to floodplain violations, the county shall record a notice of violation on the title of the 
property; and the aAdministrator shall inform the owner that any such violation is considered a willful 
act to increase flood damages and therefore may cause coverage by a Standard Flood Insurance 
Policy to be suspended. 

(n) Penalty.Failure to comply with any of the requirements of this article shall constitute a petty offense, and 
any person, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined not less than $25.00 nor more than $500.00 for 
each offense. Each day the violation continues shall be considered a separate and distinct 
offense for which the violator may be subject to the penalties of this section. 

 

Sec. 50-251. Penalty for violation of article. 
(a) It shall be unlawful under this article for any applicant or person to submit any inaccurate plans, plats or 

other documents to the administrator or other office involved in the enforcement of this article. 

(b)(a) No person shall construct, enlarge, alter, repair, or maintain any grading, excavation or fill, or develope 
in the floodplain, or cause the same to be done, contrary to or in violation of any terms of the ordinance. If 
necessary, the performance bond filed by the applicant may be forfeited to the County of Winnebago to cover 
the cost of repairs. Any person violating any of the Erosion and Sediment Control provisions of this ordinance 
shall not be awarded a Certificate of Occupancy from the County until violations have been corrected. 

(c)(a)  Failure to comply with any of the requirements of this article shall constitute a petty offense, and any
person, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined not less than $25.00 nor more than $500.00 for each 
offense. Each day the violation continues shall be considered a separate and distinct offense for 
which the violator may be subject to the penalties of this section. 
(d) With respect to floodplain violations, the county shall record a notice of violation on the title 
of the property; and the administrator shall inform the owner that any such violation is 
considered a willful act to increase flood damages and therefore may cause coverage by a 
Standard Flood Insurance Policy to be 
suspended. 
 
Sec. 50-252251. Disclaimer of liability. 
The degree of protection required by this ordinance is considered reasonable for regulatory 
purposes and is based on available information derived from engineering and scientific methods of 
study. Larger floods may occur or flood heights may be increased by man-made or natural causes. 
This ordinance does not imply that development either inside or outside of the floodplain will be free 
from flooding or damage. This ordinance does not create liability on the part of the county or any 
officer or employee thereof for any flood damage that results from proper reliance on this ordinance 
or any administrative decision made lawfully thereunder. 
 
Sec. 50-253252. Applicability and Severability. 
When this article imposes a greater restriction than those imposed or required by the provisions of 
existing ordinances or rules and regulations, this article shall control. When the provisions of existing 
ordinances or rules and regulations impose greater restrictions than those imposed or required by 
this article, they shall control. 

The provisions and sections of this ordinance shall be deeded to separable, and the invalidity of any 
portion of this ordinance shall not affect the validity of the remainder. 

 
Sec. 50-254253. Administrative Review Act. 
The Administrative Review Act, 735 ILCS 5⁄3-101 et seq., shall not be applicable to this article. 
 
 
Sec. 50-255254. General requirements. 
In general, all land disturbing activity and developments12 located within the county and without 
any city, village or incorporated town are regulated in accordance with section Section 50-247, 
Purpose and Scope of this Article, with particular note of definitions, exceptions, and the adoption 

 
12 Ordinance applies to all land disturbing activity on existing properties and parcels, and new construction activity. 



16 
 

of Technical Regulations, which govern specifics of compliance. No land disturbing activity or 
development may be sanctioned by issuance of building permits, recording of subdivision or plats 
of land, or otherwise officially authorized without meeting the approval of the Administrator. Also, 
generally: 

1) Interpretation. This Ordinance shall be liberally construed to protect the health, welfare, 
safety, and the environment of the residents of the County and to effectuate the purposes 
of this Ordinance and the enabling legislation.  

a) Nothing contained in this Ordinance shall be deemed to consent to, license, permit to 
locate, construct, or maintain any structure, site, facility or operation, or to carry on any 
trade, industry, occupation, or activity.  

b) Interpretation of technical provisions of this Ordinance shall be made by the 
Administrator. 

1)2) Any land disturbing activity and Developments development shall be regulated in 
accordance with the base flood standard, which is indicated in the definition of Floodplain 
in section Section 50-248. Base Flood elevations shall be in accordance with the FIS, or 
FIRM; or, if in dispute, the applicant shall provide better data and submit it to the FEMA 
and IDNR⁄OWR for approval prior to any development of the site. If data is needed beyond 
the scope of the FIS, the applicant shall provide engineering analysis acceptable to the 
Administrator. In floodplains within the county, no person, property owner, builder or 
contractor shall commence any of the activities listed in this subsection in any known or 
suspected flood hazard area without prior clearance and written approval from the 
Administrator or his delegate: 

 
(a) Construction of new structures of any type; 
(b) Substantial improvement of existing structures; 
(c) Any improvement to existing structures in a floodway; 
(d) Placement of mobile homes; 
(e) Placement or storage of chemicals, substances, debris or other materials; 
(f) Design and construction of any type of planned development as designed; 
(g) Construction, expansion, repair or reconstruction of a mobile home park; 
(h) Landscape disturbing activities; 
(i) Watercourse modifications on any stream, tributary or drainageway 
regardless of contributing watershed size; 
(j) Any subdivision or redivision of land, including transfers between 
adjacent property owners, regardless of the size or acreage of the property; 
and 
(k) Placement or replacement of wells, water supply systems, sanitary sewer facilities, 
and onsite waste
disposal or processing systems. 
(l) Land disturbing activity that results in: 

i. unreasonable new or additional expense to any person other than the applicant for 
flood protection or for lost environmental stream uses and functions attributable to 
the activity; 

ii.Unreasonable increase in elevations or decrease flood conveyance capacity 
upstream or downstream of the area; 

iii.Violate any provision of this Ordinance either during or after construction; and  
iv.Unreasonably or unnecessarily degrades surface or ground water quality. 

 
 



17 
 

2. Within all areas designated as base flood hazard areas and within all areas known or 
reasonably suspected to be subject to the base flood, the Administrator shall require from 
applicantsapplicant’s information sufficient to ensure compliance with this article. 

2.3. For purposes of this article, changes in flood elevations or changes in discharges, within 
the limits of modeling tolerance allowed in this Ordinance shall be deemed acceptable. 

3.4. for Erosion and Sediment Control: 

Except as otherwise provided in this ordinance, no person shall commence or perform 
any land disturbing activity, including but not limited to, clearing, grading, stripping, 
excavating, or filling of land which meets the following provisions without having first 
obtained approval for a complete set of Engineering Drawings, including a detailed 
erosion and sediment control plan to the County of Winnebago for review by the 
Engineer. 

The management practices, controls, and other provisions contained in the erosion and 
sediment control plan must be at least as protective as the requirements contained in the 
Illinois Urban Manual-A Technical Manual for Urban Ecosystem Protection Enhancement, 
2002as amended, prepared by the members of the Illinois Urban Manual Technical 
Review Committee and Steering CommitteeU.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural 
Resources Conservation Service. 

If the applicant is required to comply with the requirements of a Phase II, NPDES permit, 
submittal of a copy of the Notice of Intent (NOI), copy of the Illinois Department of Natural 
Resources Consultation Agency Action Report, and the approved Storm Water Pollution 
Prevention Plan (SWPPP) to the [inspector]Administrator, a minimum of 30 calendar 
days before the planned commencement of construction will be accepted in lieu of an 
Erosion and Sediment Control Plan. This requirement shall contain the following 
requested in this Ordinance. 

1. Any land disturbing activity (i.e., clearing, grading, stripping, excavation, fill, offsite 
borrow areas, or any combination thereof) that will affect an area greater than or 
equal to one acre; 

2. Any land disturbing activity that may discharge soil and erosion into any storm 
water conveyance system; 

3. The County of Winnebago reserves the right to require any non-agricultural, 
construction development activity, or land disturbing activity regardless of 
disturbed area or type of activity, to comply with this Ordinance if it is determined 
to be causing or contributing to existing or potential new erosion of soil or 
otherwise impacting the performance of an existing storm water conveyance 
system. 

Exceptions are listed in Sec. 50-247(b)(1)a. 
 

4.  
For building protection: 

5. Within the boundary of the regulatory floodplain, all usable space in new buildings, or added 
to existing buildings, shall either be elevated, floodproofed, or otherwise protected such that 
the lowest entry shall be at least one foot above the nearest base flood elevation to prevent 
the entry of surface stormwater.  Floodproofing devices shall be operational without human 
intervention. If electricity is required for protection against flood damage, there shall be a 
backup power source which   will   activate   without   human   intervention.      Floodproofing 
measures shall be certified by a Professional Engineer. 



18 
 

6. All usable space in new buildings or added to existing buildings, shall be elevated, 
floodproofed, or otherwise protected to at least one foot above the design elevation to 
prevent the entry of surface stormwater. The design elevation is the higher elevation of either 
Article X or the elevation associated with the design rate as determined in Section 15-73.A.2. 

5.7. For all other building protection standards please refer to the Technical Regulations related 
to this ordinance. 

 
 
Sec. 50-256255. Development permitsPermits required. 
The following are general, typically minimum requirements. Requirements for meeting specific 
aspects of floodplain, stormwater detention, construction site erosion and sediment controls, and 
post construction runoff controls are given in the Technical Requirements. It is the intent, as far as 
possible, to combine applications and documentation of compliance, including a single site 
development and⁄ erosion control plan showing floodplains, and temporary and permanent erosion 
control measures. 

(a) Required. A development surface water management13 permit shall be required before 
beginning or continuing any land disturbing activity or development activity if such 
development activity is subject to any of the provisions of this article. 

(a)(b) Phasing. In order to preclude inappropriate phasing of development to circumvent the 
intent of this Ordinance, the requirements of this Ordinance shall apply to all regulated 
development within the contiguous property, unless waived by the Administrator 

(b)(c) Forms; fee; contents of application. Application to the Administrator for a development 
surface water management permit shall be made by the owner or his authorized agent, shall be 
on forms provided by the Administrator, and shall be accompanied by a fee according to a 
schedule established by the County Board. 

1. The permit application shall contain, at minimum: 

a. The name of the owner; 

b. The location and description of the development; 

c. A statement by the applicant that he understands his obligations under this article; 
and 

d. The signature of the applicant. 

2. When the proposed land disturbing activity or development is substantial classified 
as Major (see Definitions) in extent, including, but not limited to, land subdivisions or 
planned developments; commercial, industrial or institutional sites; or construction or 
substantial improvement in a flood hazard area, the Administrator shall, in addition, 
where applicable, require the following: 

a. Prior review of preliminary plans and tentative plats; 
b. An estimated cost of project or improvements prepared by a licensed 
engineer architect or contractor; and a bond, letter of credit, certified check or 
other such suitable guarantee to ensure the completion of any facilities 
required by this article; 
c. A plan for the responsibility of maintaining drainage ditches, stormwater 
storage areas, erosion and sediment control measures, and other facilities 
required in this section. 

 
13 Permits available from the Winnebago County Highway Department and shall be submitted with all land 
disturbing activity subject to the requirements of this Ordinance. 



19 
 

1. Acceptable plans for maintenance shall specify which 
persons shall have the following responsibilities: 
Construction, on-site, and permanent function 
maintenance. 

2. Acceptance plans for maintenance may include the 
following: 

i. Agreements with units of local government or 
school districts; and 

ii. Agreements with individual property owners or 
property owners association, provided that the 
face of any final plat makes reference to the 
agreement and that a restrictive covenant 
running with the land be imposed on all affected 
property; and 

d. Information showing how the land disturbing activity or 
development will comply with the general intent and technical 
requirements of this article, such as: 

1. A site development plan; which shall include, as a 
minimum: 

(a) a scaled drawing of the site, showing property 
lines and existing and proposed grade elevations 
or contours, 

(b) the location of all existing buildings and proposed 
additions or new buildings with the elevation of 
the lowest floor (including basement) of such 
proposals within flood hazard areas. 

2.  Any supplemental information necessary for the Administrator to 
evaluate the development's site’s compliance with the requirements of 
this article; and 
3.  An estimated schedule of development phases. 

 

(d) Terms and Extensions 
1. The term of surface water management permit shall be from the issue date to the 

expiration date, as follows: 
a. The lesser of 2 years or the term of the building permit for Minor 

developments and public road improvements. 
b. The lesser of 3 years or the term of the building permit for Major 

developments. 
c. The lesser of 10 years or the term of the special use permit for Mining 

Development. 
2. A permit extension may be requested in writing by the applicant if the land disturbing 

activity is not completed within the term of the surface water management permit. The 
Administrator may extend the permit for the time periods listed below. Permit extension 
requests may not be made prior to 90 days of the permit expiration date. 

a. The permit term for Minor Developments and p ublic road improvements 
may be extended for 6 months at a time. 

b. The permit term for Major Developments and Mining Developments may be 
extended for 12 months at a time. 



20 
 

3. The Administrator may amend or add special conditions to the permit at the time of the 
extension, such as updating the terms of a performance guarantee by revising the 
estimated cost to complete construction. 

4. A surface water management permit shall be terminated without the possibility of an 
extension if the actual start of construction is not commenced within 180 days after the 
issue date of the surface water management permit and if any activity related to a 
building authorized by the surface water management permit is not in compliance with 
the most recent version of: 

a. The FIS; 
b. The FIRM; 
c. The NFIP regulations; and 
d. The Flood Hazard Areas Performance Standards of this Ordinance. 

5. A stormwater management permit may be terminated during its term or a permit 
extension may be denied for reasons including, but not limited to: 

a. Noncompliance with any condition of the permit; 

b. The applicant’s failure to disclose fully all relevant facts in the application 
process or the applicant's misrepresentation of any relevant facts at any 
time; 

c. The regulated development is not commenced within 2 years after the 
issue date of the surface water management permit; 

d. The regulated development is suspended or abandoned for a period of 6 
months after commencing the land disturbing activity. 

(e) Permit Conditions 
1. Special Conditions may be added to a permit by the Administrator to clarify the 

purpose or authorization granted by the surface water management permit. Special 
conditions may also specify other restrictions and constraints of the land disturbing 
activity/ 
 

1. Development plans bearing the approval stamp of the Administrator shall be 
retained at the development site throughout the duration of construction activities. 

 
2. A deed or plat restriction required as part of a surface water management permit 

shall not be modified without the approval of the Administrator. 

 

Sec. 50-257 256. and Surface Water Management Fee Schedule. 
Unless otherwise waived pursuant to Sec. 50-247 (2) a. of this Ordinance, all applications for permits 
pursuant to this Ordinance shall be accompanied by fees set forth in the ‘Surface Water 
Management Fee Schedule’ attached to this Ordinance as Appendix 1. Said fees may be amended 
from time to time by the Winnebago County Board by amending this Ordinance. The County 
Engineer may, at the County Engineer’s discretion, waive any fees imposed by this Article IV. Of 
Chapter 50 of the Winnebago County code if the fees are for a permit application by another state or 
municipal agency within the County of Winnebago, Illinois. A copy of Appendix 1 is available at the 
Winnebago County Highway Department, 424 North Springfield Avenue, Rockford, Illinois, 61101. 

 
Sec. 50-258257, and 50-258. Reserved. 
 



21 
 

Sec. 50-259. Variances.14  
Whenever the standards of this ordinance place undue hardship on a specific development 

proposal, the applicant may apply to the County Board for a variance. The Administrator shall 
review the applicant's request for a variance and shall submit his recommendation to the County 
Board. The County Board may attach such conditions to granting of a variance as it deems 
necessary to further the intent of this ordinance. 

a) A public hearing is required for a variance petition that affects adjoining properties or has 
the potential to affect adjoining properties, as determined by the Administrator. 

1. Application requirements 
a. Name and address of petitioner and professional consultants, if any 
b. Legal description and PIN of subject parcel 
c. Description of impacted area 
d. Identification of each Ordinance provision for which a variance is 

requested, including plans and calculations, 
e. Supporting documentation deemed necessary by the Administrator. 
 

a)b) No variance shall be granted unless the applicant demonstrates that all of the 
following conditions standards are met: 

(1) If within a floodplain, the development activity cannot be 
located outside the floodplain. 
(2) An exceptional hardship would result if the variance were not 
granted. 
(3) The relief requested is the minimum necessary. 
(4) There will be no additional threat to public health, safety or 
creation of a nuisance.There will be no additional threat to public 
health, public safety, destruction of beneficial stream uses and 
functions including, aquatic habitat, causation of fraud on or 
victimization of the public, conflict with existing local laws or 
ordinances, or creation of a nuisance. 
(5) There will be no additional public expense for flood protection, 
rescue or relief operations, policing, or repairs to roads, utilities, or 
other public facilities.There will be no additional public expense for 
flood protection, rescue or relief operations, policing, lost 
environmental stream uses and functions, repairs to streambeds and 
banks, or repairs to roads, utilities, or other public facilities. 
(6) The applicant's circumstances of the property are unique and 
do not establish a pattern inconsistent with the intent of these 
regulations, NPDES, or NFIP. , and 
(6)(7) Good and sufficient cause has been shown that the unique 
characteristics of the size, configuration, or topography of the site 
renders the requirements of this ordinance inappropriate. 
(7)(8) all All other state and federal permits have been obtained. 
 

(c)If the requirements of the building protections standards of Section 207 of the Technical 
Regulations would lessen the degree of protection to a building, the Administrator shall notify an 
applicant in writing that a variance will: 

1. Result in increased premium rates for flood insurance up to twenty-five dollars 
($25) per one hundred dollars ($100) of insurance coverage; 

2. increase the risk to life and property, and 

 
14 Additional requirements are included for consideration of variance requests. 



22 
 

3. require that the applicant proceed with knowledge of these risks and that the 
applicant acknowledge in writing the assumption of the risk and liability. 

  

(d)Variances to the building protection requirements of Section County 207 of the Technical 
Regulations which are requested in connection with reconstruction, repair, or alteration of a 
historic site or historic structure as defined in “Historic Structures”, may be granted using criteria 
more permissive than the requirements of Sections 206 and 207 of this ordinance subject to the 
conditions that: 

1. The repair or rehabilitation is the minimum necessary to preserve the historic 
character and design of the structure. 
2. The repair or rehabilitation will not result in the structure being removed as a certified 
historic structure. 

 
Secs. 50-260--50-280. Reserved. 
 

     END OF ORDINANCE 

 

 

 

 

 

  



23 
 

 

THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK 
 
 
  



24 
 

 
{he The following sections 100 through 900 were adopted August 24, 2006, by the Winnebago County Board as 
part of the he Amendment to Artice IV Surface Water Management, of the County Code.} 

Winnebago County  Surface Water Management Technical Regulations 
 

100 . . Introduction 

200 . . Floodplain Regulations 

300 . . Stormwater Detention Regulations 

400 . . Post Construction Runoff 

Quantity Controls 

500 . . reserved 
600 . . Construction Site Erosion and Sediment Control  

700 . . Post Construction Runoff Quality Controls 

800 . . reserved  

900 . . reserved 
1000 . Surface Water Management Guidance 
 
 
 
 

100 . Introduction 
The Surface Water Management Ordinance establishes the policies and objectives adopted by the 
Winnebago County Board for surface water management. The Ordinance also includes a common 
location, Section 50-248, of definitions, and other sections covering administrative procedures and 
legal foundation. These Surface Water Technical Regulations further define much of the specific 
criteria by which plans and implementations shall be judged to meet the policies and objectives. 
They, too, are adopted by the Winnebago County Board, except that Section 1000 and beyond is for 
Guidance that may be established, and revised as appropriate, by the administratorAdministrator. 
(See Sec. 1000 for refinement.) 
 

200  Floodplain Regulations 

 
201 Introduction 

202 to 205 . Blank 
 
 
206 Section 6. Preventing Increased Flood Heights and Resulting Damages 
207  Section 7. Protecting Buildings 
208 . Section 8. Subdivision Requirements 
209  Section 9. Public Health and Other Standards 
210  Section 10. Carrying Capacity and Notification 
 
201 . Introduction 



25 
 

These Regulations are taken directly from the Illinois State Sample Model FloodplainFlood 
Damage Prevention Ordinance (IDNR⁄OWR, operating in 2006as amended)15, sections 6 thru 
10. Those who are familiar with this model ordinance will have little difficulty in navigating the 
section numbers for citation--though should note some qualifications for section 6. The standard 
definitions of Section 2 of the model ordinance are incorporated, as amended in sec. 50-248 of 
the Surface Water Management Ordinance. Similarly, that ordinance also contains the policy 
statements, administrative assignments, and legal framework that are partially unique to each 
jurisdiction, while maintaining the required minimum standards of 44 CFR 60.3(d). 
 
206 . Section 6. Preventing Increased Flood Heights and Resulting Damages. 
Within any floodway identified on the countywide Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM), and within all 
other floodplains where a floodway has not been delineated, and are within the jurisdiction of 
IDNR⁄OWR, the following standards shall apply: Floodway determinations within floodplains with 
lesser tributary areas shall be based upon the same one- tenth of a foot (0.1 ft.) allowable stage 
increase consistent with base flood elevation determinations in the FIS, recognizing floodplain 
configurations that existed prior to November 19, 1980, and as lawfully established 

1 
 

 

subsequently. Using this criteria, some of the following standards, notably A.1.a, A.1.b, A.5.a.v, 
and A.9.c, would apply only upon the merits of individual cases. 

Except as provided in Section 6(B) of this regulation, no development shall be allowed which, 
acting in combination with existing and anticipated development will cause any increase in 
flood heights or velocities or threat to public health and safety. The following specific 
development activities shall be considered as meeting this requirement: 

• Bridge and culvert crossings of streams in rural areas meeting the following 
conditions of the Illinois Department of Natural Resources, Office of Water Resources 
Statewide Permit Number 2: 

• The crossing will not resultshall be designed such that it will not result in an increase in 
water surface profile elevation in excess of 1.0 feet over the natural condition for any 
frequency flow up to and including the 100-year frequency flood,; and 

• The crossing will not resultshall be designed such that it will not result in an increase in 
water surface profile elevation in excess of one half (0.5) feet over the natural condition at a point 
one thousand (1,000) feet upstream of the proposed structure (as determined by the horizontal 
projection of the maximum created head and the slope of the hydraulic grade line) for any 
frequency flood up to and including the 100-year frequency flood; and. 

• There are no buildings or structures in the area impacted by the increases in water surface 
profile. 

• For a replacement culvert or bridge crossing: 

• The crossing shall be designed so that there will be no increase 
in backwater over the existing conditions, or 

• The crossing shall be designed so that it complies with the water 
surface profile increases listed in a., b., and c.; and 

 
15 Changes within sections 206 through 210 reflect the most recent version of the Illinois Sample Flood Damage 
Prevention Ordinance, updated May, 2022.  



26 
 

• A registered professional engineer shall determine and 
document that the existing structure has not been the cause of 
demonstrable flood damage. Such documentation shall include, 
at a minimum, confirmation that: 

• No buildings or structures have been impacted by 
the backwater induced by the existing crossing; and 

• There is no record of complaints of flood damages 
associated with the existing crossing. 

• The proposed bridge or culvert crossing, whether new or replacement, will must not 
involve straightening, enlarging, or relocatingenlargement, or relocation of the existing channel of 
the river or stream. The excavation of the channel and/or overbank necessary for the effective 
hydraulic performance of the culvert or bridge or removal of debris from the river or stream is not 
considered straightening, enlargement or relocation. Any excavation of the overbank 
incorporated into the design of the bridge or culvert crossing to meet the terms of 1 a-d., must 
include appropriate vertical and horizontal transitions. Furthermore, the bottom elevation of the 
overbank excavation must not be below one-half the channel depth of the stream. This depth 
shall be calculated at an existing cross-section of the stream within the general vicinity of the 
culvert or bridge which has been unaffected by man-made obstructions. 

• The design must be certified by a registered professional engineer in the State of Illinois 
and the designs to have been designed by standard hydrologic and hydraulic engineering 
methods and to be in compliance with must meet the terms and conditions of an the IDNR⁄OWR 
permitPermit and the applicable rule of the Department.; and 

• The design must be certified by a second registered professional engineer in the State of 
Illinois to have been reviewed and found to be in compliance with therms and conditions of 
the IDNR/OWR Permit. 

• The permittee shall maintain, for each project authorized by this permit, the records 
necessary to document compliance with the above conditions. 

• Barge fleeting facilities meeting the following conditions of IDNR⁄OWR Statewide Permit 
Number 3: 

• The permit is only applicable when deadmen, pier cells, or other similar anchorage 
devices have been permitted by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 

• Aerial utility crossings meeting the following conditions of IDNR⁄OWR Statewide Permit 
Number 4; 
• The utility line must be constructed above the existing 100-year flood elevation or 

attached to an existing bridge (with the bridge owner’s permission). 

• A utility line attached to an existing bridge shall be constructed above the low cord 
elevation of the bridge. 

• No supporting towers or poles shall be located in a river, lake or stream. 

• Supporting towers including foundations, and poles shall be designed and located so 
as to not cause or create an obstruction of flood flows by trapping debris. 

• All disturbed areas shall be returned to pre-construction grades and immediately re-vegetated. 

• All Illinois Commerce Commission, National Electrical Safety Code, and federal requirements 
must be met. 

• Minor boat docks meeting the following conditions of IDNR⁄OWR Statewide Permit Number 5: 



27 
 

• The boat dock must not extend project more than fifty (50) feet into a waterway and no 
more thanin no instance greater than one quarter (1⁄4) of the width of the waterway, and shall 
not extend beyond the navigational limitednavigation limits established by the IDNR Department 
of Natural Resources and the Corps of Engineers. 

• The width of the boat dock shall not be more greater than ten (10) feet. 

• For L-Shaped or T-shaped docks, the length of that portion parallel to the shoreline 
must not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the landowner's shoreline frontage, nor fifty (50) feet. 

• Docks must be aligned so as not to cross the projection of property lines into the 
waterway or come within ten (10) feet of the projected projection of the property line. 

• Dock posts must be marked by reflective devices. 

• The boat dock must be securely anchored to prevent detachment and becoming a floating 
hazard during times of high wind or waterwater or winds. 

• Metal drums or containers may not be used as buoyancy units unless they are filled with 
floatation foam. Containers which previously stored pesticides, herbicides, or any other toxic 
chemicals are not permissible. 

• This permit does not authorize any other related construction activity such as shore 
protection or fill. 

• Non-floating boat docks must be constructed in a manner which will minimize obstruction to 
flow. 

• At If at any future date,  the Department of Natural Resources or the Corps of Engineers 
determines that the dock facility obstructs or impairs navigation, or in any way infringes on 
the rights or interests of the public or any individual party, the permittee must agreeagrees to 
make necessary modifications to the dock as determined  

 

by the IDNR Department of Natural Resources or the Corp Corps of Engineers. 

(4) Minor, non-obstructive activities such as underground utility lines, light poles, sign posts, 
driveways, athletic fields, patios, playground equipment, minor storage buildings not 
exceeding 70 square feet and raising buildings on the same footprint which does not involve 
fill and any other activity meeting the following conditions of IDNR⁄OWR Statewide Permit 
Number 6: 

• the following activities (not involving fill or positive change in grade) are covered by this 
permit: 

• The construction of underground utility lines not crossing a lake or stream, 

wells, or and septic tanks not crossing a lake or stream.  

• ii The construction of light poles, sign posts, and similar structures. 
(3) The construction of sidewalks, driveways, athletic fields (excluding fences), patios, and 

similar structuressurfaces which are built at grade. 

(4) The construction of properly anchored, unwalled, open structures such as 
playground equipment, pavilions, and carports. 

(5) The placement of properly anchored buildings not exceeding seventy (70) square feet in 
size, nor ten 

(10) square feet in any dimension (e.g. animal shelters and tool sheds). Only one such building 
on a property is shall be authorized by this statewide permit. If such a building already 

exists on a property, this permit does not authorize any additional building. 



28 
 

(6) vi. The raising of existing buildings, provided no changes are made to the outside 
dimensions of the building and provided the proposed raising would not involve the 
placement of fill is not involvedto accomplish the raising. The backfilling of an existing 
basement is permissible. 

(7) This permit does not authorize any construction in the normal channel, i.e. below the 
usual overtopping or flooding elevation, of any river, lake, or stream. 

(8) In the event the placement of fill material is necessary to accomplish the purpose of 
the project, the normal application for permit process must be followed or plans maybe 
submitted to the IDNR/OWR for an initial review and an appropriate determination as 
to whether or not this statewide permit is applicable to the project. This permit does 
not authorize the placement of any fill material (except for the backfilling of an existing 
basement as indicated previously) or positive change in grade in the floodway in 
conjunction with any of the activities noted in 1. through 6. 

(6)(9) If there is any question of the permissibility of any activity under this permit, the 
IDNR/OWR shall be contacted for a determination. 

6. Outfall Structures and drainage ditch outlets meeting the following conditions of 
IDNR⁄OWR Statewide Permit Number 7: 

a. Any outfall structure, including any headwall or end-section, shall not extend riverward or 
lakeward of the existing adjacent natural bank slope or adjacent bank protection. 

b. The velocity of the discharge shall not exceed the scour velocity of the channel 
soil, unless channel erosion would be prevented by the use of riprap or other design 
measures. 

c. Outlets from drainage ditches shall not be opened to a stream until the ditch is 
vegetated or otherwise stabilized to minimize stream sedimentation. 

d. Disturbance of streamside vegetation shall be kept to a minimum during construction to 
prevent erosion and sedimentation. All disturbed floodway areas, including the stream banks, 
shall be restored to their original contours and seeded or otherwise stabilized upon completion 
of construction. 

7. Underground pipeline and utility crossings meeting the conditions of IDNR⁄OWR 
Statewide Permit Number 8: 

 
a. In all cases, the crossing shall be placed beneath the bed of the river, lake or stream 

and, unless the crossing is encased in concrete or entrenched in bedrock, a minimum of three 
(3) feet of cover shall be provided. The river, lake or stream bed shall be returned to its original 
condition. 

b. Disturbance of streamside vegetation shall be kept to a minimum during construction to 
prevent erosion and sedimentation. All disturbed floodway areas, including stream banks, shall 
be restored to their original contours and seeded or otherwise stabilized upon completion of 
construction. 

c. Any utility crossing carrying material which may cause water pollution, as defined by 
the Environmental Protection Act (415 ILCS 5, 1996 State Bar Edition), shall be provided with 
shut-off valves on each side of the body of water to be crossed. 

d. If blasting is to be utilized in the construction of the crossing, the permittee Permittee 
shall notify the IDNR⁄OWRIllinois Department of Natural Resources, Office of Resource 
Conservation at least ten (10) days prior to the blasting date to allow monitoring of any related 
fish kills. 



29 
 

8. Bank stabilization projects meeting the conditions of IDNR⁄OWR Statewide Permit Number 9: 

a. Only the following materials may be utilized in urban areas: stone and concrete riprap, 
steel sheet piling, cellular blocks, fabric-formed concrete, gabion baskets, rock and wire 
mattresses, sand⁄cement filled bags, geotechnical fabric materials, natural vegetation and treated 
timber. Urban areas are defined as: areas of the State where residential, commercial, or 
industrial development currently exists or, based on land use plans or controls, is expected to 
occur within ten (10) years. (The Department should be consulted if there is a question of 
whether or not an area is considered urban). 

b. In addition to the materials listed in Section 6(8)(a)the above condition, other materials 
(e.g. tire revetments) may be utilized in rural areas provided all other conditions of this permit 
are met. 

c. The following materials shall not be used in any case: auto bodies, garbage of debris, scrap 
lumber, metal refuse, roofing materials, asphalt or other bituminous materials, or any material which 
would cause water pollution as defined by the Environmental Protections Protection Act (415 ILCS 
5). 

 

d. The affected length of shoreline, stream bank, or channel to be protected shall 
not exceed, either singularly or cumulatively, one thousand (1000) feet. 

e. All material utilized shall be properly sized or anchored to resist anticipated forces of 
current and wave action. 

f. Materials shall be placed in a way which would not cause erosion, or the 
accumulation of debris, on properties adjacent to or opposite the project. 

g. Materials shall not be placed higher than the existing top of the bank. 

h. Materials shall be placed so that the modified bank full-width and cross-sectional area of 
the channel will conform to or be no more restrictive than that of the natural channel upstream 
and downstream of the site. 

For projects involving continuous placement of riprap along the bank, toe of the bank or other 
similar applications, in no case shall the cross-sectional area of the natural channel be reduced 
by more than ten percent (10%) nor the volume of material placed exceed two (2) cubic yards per 
lineal foot of the stream bank or shoreline. The bank may be graded to obtain a flatter slope and 
to lessen the quantity of material required. 

i. If broken concrete is used, all protruding materials such as reinforcing rods shall be 
cut flush with the surface of the concrete and removed from the construction area. 

j. Disturbance of vegetation shall be kept to a minimum during construction to prevent 
erosion and sedimentation. All disturbed areas shall be seeded or otherwise stabilized 
upon completion of construction. 

k. In the case of seawalls and gabion structures on lakes, the structure shall be 
constructed at or landward of the water line as determined by the normal pool elevation, unless: 

i. It is constructed in alignment with an existing seawall(s) or gabion structure(s), and 

ii. the volume of material placed, including the structure, would not exceed two (2) cubic 
yards per lineal 

 
foot. 

l. Excess material excavated during the construction of the bank or shoreline protection shall 
be placed in accordance with local, state, and federal laws and rules, shall not be placed in a 
floodway. 



30 
 

The usual types of projects which provide bank or shoreline stabilization include: riprap or other 
materials placed along the eroded length of the bank or shoreline, riprap or other materials placed 
at regular intervals into the stream from the eroded bank (bendway weirs, dikes, jetties), riprap 
placed along the toes of the bank (toepoints), and riprap keyed into the bank at regular intervals 
along the stream (hard points). Other similar construction activities, although not specifically listed 
above, may comply with the intent of the Statewide Permit and, therefore, may be authorized by the 
permit. For those projects not specifically listed, however, plans must be submitted to the Illinois 
Department of Natural Resources, Office of Water Resources for review and an appropriate 
determination. 

9. Accessory structures and additions to existing residential buildings meeting the 
conditions of IDNR⁄OWR Statewide Permit Number 10: 

a. The accessory structure or building addition must comply with the requirements of 
the local floodplain ordinance. 

b. The principle structure to which the project is being added must have been in existence 
on the effective date of this permit (July 25, 1988). 

c. The accessory structure or addition must not exceed five hundred (500) square feet in 
size and must not deflect floodwaters onto another property., and 

d. The accessory structure or addition must not involve the placement of any fill material. 

e. No construction shall be undertaken in, or within fifty (50) feet of the bank of, the stream 
channel. 

f. The accessory structure or addition must be properly anchored to prevent its 
movement during flood conditions. 

g. Only one accessory structure or addition to an existing structure shall be authorized by 
this permit; plans for any subsequent addition must be submitted to IDNR⁄OWR for review. 

h. Disturbances of vegetation shall be kept to a minimum during construction to 
prevent erosion and sedimentation. All disturbed floodway areas shall be seeded or 
otherwise stabilized upon completion of construction. 

10. Minor maintenance dredging activities meeting the following conditions of IDNR⁄OWR 
Statewide Permit Number 11: 

a. The affected length of the stream shall not. either singularly or cumulatively, exceed 
one thousand (1000) feet. 

b. The project shall not include the construction of any new channel; all work must be 
confined to the existing channel or to reestablishing flows in the natural stream channel, and 

 
c. the cross-sectional area of the dredged channel shall conform to that of the natural 

channel upstream and down stream of the site. 

d. Dredged or spoil material shall not be disposed of in a wetland and shall be either: 

i. removed Removed from the floodway; 

ii. used Used to stabilize an existing bank provided no materials would be placed higher 
than the existing top of bank and provided the cross-sectional area of the natural channel would 
not be reduced by more than ten percent (10%), nor the volume of material placed exceed two (2) 
cubic yards per lineal foot of streambank; 

iii. used Used to fill an existing washed out or scoured floodplain area such that the 
average natural floodplain elevation is not increased; 



31 
 

iv. used Used to stabilize and an existing levee provided the height of the levee 
would not be increased nor its alignment changed; 

v. placed Placed in a disposal site previously approved by the Department in accordance 
with the conditions of the approval, or 

vi. used Used for beach nourishment, provided the material meets all applicable water 
quality standards. 

e. Disturbance of streamside vegetation shall be kept to a minimum during construction to 
prevent erosion and sedimentation. All disturbed floodway areas, including the stream banks, 
shall be seeded or otherwise stabilized upon completion of construction. 

11. Bridge and culvert replacement structures and bridge widening meeting the 
following conditions of IDNR⁄OWR statewide Permit Number 12: 

a. A registered professional engineer shall determine and document that the existing 
structure has not been the cause of demonstrable flood damage. Such documentation shall 
include, at a minimum, confirmation that: 

i. No buildings or structures have been impacted by the backwater induced by the existing 
structure, and 

ii. there is no record of complaints of flood damages associated with the existing structure. 

b. A registered professional engineer shall determine that the new structure will provide the 
same or greater effective waterway opening as the existing structure. For bridge widening 
projects, the existing piers and the proposed pier extensions must be in line with the direction of 
the approaching flow upstream of the bridge. 

c. The project shall not include any appreciable raising of the approach roads. (This 
condition does not apply if all points on the approaches exist at an elevation equal to or 
higher than the 100-year frequency flood headwater elevation as determined by a FEMA 
flood insurance study completed or approved by IDNR⁄OWR). 

d. The project shall not involve the straightening, enlargement or relocation of the existing 
channel of the river or stream except as permitted by the Department's Statewide Permit Number 
9 (Minor Shoreline, channel Channel and Streambank Protection Activities) or Statewide Permit 
Number 11 (Minor Maintenance Dredging Activities). 

e. The permittee shall maintain records of projects authorized by this permit 
necessary to document compliance with the above conditions. 

12. Temporary construction activities meeting the following conditions of IDNR⁄OWR 
statewide Permit Number 13: 

a. No temporary construction activity shall be commenced until the individual permittee 
determines that the permanent structure (if any) for which the work is being performed has 
received all required federal, state and local authorizations. 

b. The term “temporary” shall mean not more than one construction season. All; all 
temporary construction materials must be removed from the stream and floodway within one 
year of their placement and the area returned to the conditions existing prior to the beginning 
of construction. Any desired subsequent or repetitive material placement shall not occur 
without the review and approval of the IDNR⁄OWR. 

c. The temporary project shall be constructed such that it will not cause erosion or damage 
due to increases in water surface profiles to adjacent properties. For locations where there are 
structures in the upstream floodplain, the temporary project shall be constructed such that all 
water surface profile increases, due to the temporary project, are contained within the channel 
banks. 



32 
 

d. This permit does not authorize the placement or construction of any solid embankment or wall such 
as a dam, roadway, levee, or dike across any channel or floodway. 

e. No temporary structure shall be placed within any river or stream channel until a 
registered professional engineer determines and documents that the temporary structure will 
meet the requirements of Special Condition Number 3 of this statewide permit. Such 
documentation shall include, at a minimum, confirmation that no buildings or structures will be 
impacted by the backwater induced by the temporary structure. 

f. The permittee shall maintain records of projects authorized by this permit 
necessary to document compliance with the above condition. 

g. Disturbance of vegetation shall be kept to a minimum during construction to prevent 
erosion and sedimentation. All disturbed areas shall be seeded or otherwise stabilized upon 
completion of the removal of the temporary construction. 

h. Materials used for the project shall not cause water pollution as defined by the 
Environmental Protection Act (415 ILCS 5). 

13. 13. Special uses of public waters activities shall meet the following conditions of IDNR/OWR 
statewide Permit Number 14: 

a. The activity must be sanctioned and authorized by the local governmental body having 
jurisdiction over the area within which the use is proposed to occur. 

b. If the activity requires any other state of federal (e.g., U. S. Army Corps of Engineers or U. S. 
Coast Guard) authorization, such authorization(s) must be obtained prior to the commencement 
of the activity. NOTE: Depending on the nature of the special use, additional authorization may 
be required from the Illinois Department of Natural Resources. For example, certain boat 
regattas must be approved by the Office of Law Enforcement. 

c. No use or activity shall be considered authorized by this permit in excess of seven consecutive 
days. 

d. No use or activity shall be considered authorized by this permit in excess of two times in any 
one-year period. 

e. If at any time the Department of Natural Resources determines that the activity obstructs or 
impairs navigation, or unnecessarily infringes on the rights or interests of the public or any 
individual party, the permittee agrees to modify the activity as directed by the Department of 
Natural Resources. 

f. No signs, ropes, etc. used in conjunction with the special sue shall be placed or left in any 
public water area in a way which would create or result in a hazard to boating traffic. All such 
apparatus shall be removed from the water immediately upon conclusion of the event. 

Any Development determined by IDNR⁄OWR to be located entirely within a flood fringe area 
shall be exempt from State Floodway permit requirements. 

B. Other development activities not listed in 6(A) may be permitted only if: 

1. permit has been issued for the work by in an IDNR⁄OWR Jurisdictional Streams by 
IDNR/OWR (or written documentation is provided that an IDNR⁄OWR permit is not required), or 

2. sufficient data has been provided to FEMA when necessary, and approval obtained from 
FEMA  for a revision of the regulatory map and base flood elevation (BFE).207 

207 . Section 7. Protecting Buildings. 
A. In addition to the damage prevention requirements of 206 Section 6 of this regulation, all 

buildings located in the floodplain shall be protected from flood damage below the flood 



33 
 

protection elevation (FPE). This building protection requirement applies to the following 
situations: 

1. Construction or placement of a new building or alteration or addition to an existing 
building valued at more than one thousand dollars ($1,000) or seventy (70) square feet. 

2. Value of improvements equals or exceeds the market value by fifty percent (50%) 
Substantial improvements or structural alterations made to an existing building that increase the 
floor area by more than twenty percent (20%). or equal or exceed the market value by fifty 
percent (50%). Alteration Improvements shall be figured cumulatively during the life of the 
building. If substantially improved, the existing structure and the addition must meet the flood 
protection standards of this section. 

3. Repairs made to a substantially damaged building. These repairs shall be figured 
cumulatively during the life of the building. If substantially damaged the entire structure must meet 
the flood protection standards of this section within 24 months of the date the damage occurred.. 

4. Installing a manufactured home on a new site or a new manufactured home on an 
existing site. (The building protection requirements do not apply to returning a 
manufactured home to the same site it lawfully occupied before it was removed to avoid 
flood damage).16 

5. Installing a travel trailer or recreational vehicle on a site for more than one hundred 
eighty (180) days per year. 

6. Repetitive loss to an existing building as defined in Section 2(CC). 

6.7.  Construction or placement of a new building or alteration or addition to an existing building 
with the low floor below BFE following a LOMR-F in accordance with the conditions outlined 
in Section 9 E. 

B. Residential or non-residential buildings can meet the building protection requirements by 
one of the following methods: 

1. The building may be constructed on permanent land fill in with the lowest floor including 
basement at or above the FPE accordance with the following conditions: 

a. The lowest floor (including basement) shall be at or above the flood protection elevation. 

b. The fill shall be placed in layers no greater than six inches before compaction and 
should extend at least ten twenty (1020) feet beyond the foundation before sloping below the 
flood protection elevation in lieu of a geotechnical report. 

c. The fill shall be protected against erosion and scour during flooding by vegetative 
cover, riprap, or other structural measure. 

d. The fill shall be composed of rock or soil and not incorporated debris or refuse material., 
and 

 

e. The fill shall not adversely affect the flow of surface drainage from or onto neighboring 
properties and when necessary stormwater management techniques such as swales or basins shall 
be incorporated. 

2. The building may be elevated on solid walls in accordance with the following: 

a. The building or improvements shall be elevated on stilts, piles, walls, crawlspace, or 
other foundation that is permanently open to flood waters. 

 
16 This language is not recommended for inclusion in the Illinois Sample Flood Damage Prevention ordinance. 



34 
 

a.b. All components located below the flood protection elevation shall be constructed of 
materials resistant to flood damage. 

b.c. The lowest floor and all electrical, heating, ventilating, plumbing, and air conditioning 
equipment and utility meters shall be located at or above the flood protection elevation. 

c.d. If walls are used, all enclosed areas below the flood protection elevation shall address 
provide for equalization of hydrostatic pressures by allowing the automatic entry and exit of flood 
waters. At least two (2) walls must have a minimum of one (1) permanent opening that is below 
the BFE and no more than one (1) foot above finished grade. Designs must either be certified by a 
registered professional engineer or by having a minimum of one (1) permanent opening on each 
wall no more than one (1) foot above grade with a minimum of two (2) openings. The openings 
shall provide a total net area of not less than one (1) square inch for every one (1) square foot of 
enclosed area subject to flooding below the base flood elevation, or the design must be certified 
by a Registered P.E., as proving the equivalent performance in accordance with accepted 
standards of practice. Refer to FEMA TB 1, Openings in Foundation Walls and Walls of 
Enclosures, for additional guidance. and 

d.e. theThe foundation and supporting members shall be anchored, designed, and 
certified so as to minimize exposure to hydrodynamic forces such as current, waves, ice, 
and floating debris. 

i. All structural components below the flood protection elevation shall be constructed of 
materials resistant to flood damage. 

ii.i. Water and sewer pipes, electrical and telephone lines, submersible pumps, and other 
service facilities may be located below the flood protection elevation provided they are 
waterproofed. 

iii.ii. The area below the flood protection elevation shall be used solely for parking or 
building access and not later modified or occupied as habitable space, or. 

iv.iii. in In lieu of the above criteria, the design methods to comply with these requirements 
may be certified by a registered licensed professional engineer or architect. 

3. The building may be constructed with a crawlspace located below the flood protection 
elevation provided that the following conditions and requirements of FEMA TB 11, Crawlspace 
Construction for Buildings Located in Special Flood Hazard Areas, which ever are more 
restrictive, are met: 

a. The building must be designed and adequately anchored to resist flotation, collapse, and lateral 
movement of the structure resulting from hydrodynamic and hydrostatic loads, including the 
effects of buoyancy. 

b. Any All enclosed area areas below the flood protection elevation shall have openings 
thatprovide for equalize equalization of hydrostatic pressures by allowing for the automatic 
entry and exit of floodwaters. A minimum of one (1) permanent opening shall be provided on 
each at least two wall walls that is below the BFE and no more than one (1) foot above 
finished grade. The openings shall provide having a total net area of not less than one (1) 
square inch per one (1) square foot of enclosed area subject to flooding below the BFE, or the 
design must be certified by a Registered P.E. as providing the equivalent performance in 
accordance with accepted standards of practice. Refer to FEMA TB 1, Openings in 
Foundation Walls and Walls of Enclosures, for additional guidance. The openings shall be no 
more than one (1) foot above grade. 

c. The interior grade of the crawlspace below the flood protection elevation must not be more than 
two (2) feet below the lowest adjacent exterior grade. 



35 
 

d.c. The interior height of the crawlspace measured from the interior grade of the crawl to 
the top of the foundations wall must not exceed four (4) feet at any point. 

e.d. An adequate drainage system must be installed to remove floodwaters from the interior 
area of the crawlspace within a reasonable period of time after a flood event. 

f.e. Portions of the building below the flood protection elevation must be constructed with materials 
resistant to flood damage, and 

g.f. utility Utility systems within the crawlspace must be elevated above the flood protection elevation. 
C. Non-residential buildings may be structurally dry floodproofed (in lieu of elevation) 

provided a registered licensed professional engineer or architect certifies that: 

1. Below the flood protection elevation the structure and attendant utility facilities are 
watertight and capable of resisting the effects of the base flood. 

2. The building design accounts for flood velocities, duration, rate of rise, hydrostatic 
and hydrodynamic forces, the effects of buoyancy, and the impact from debris and ice. 

3. Floodproofing measures will be incorporated into the building design and 
operable without human intervention and without an outside source of electricity. 

 

4. Levees, berms, floodwalls and similar works are not considered floodproofing for the purpose 
of this subsection. 

D. Manufactured Mobile homes or travel trailers to be permanently installed on site shall be: 

1. Elevated to or above the flood protection elevation in accordance with Section 7(B), and 

2. anchored Anchored to resist flotation, collapse, or lateral movement by being tied down in 
accordance with the rules and regulations for the Illinois Mobile Home Tie-Down Act issued 
pursuant to 77 Ill. Adm. Code § 870. 

E. Travel trailers and recreational vehicles on site for more than one hundred eighty (180) 
days per year shall meet the elevation requirements of section 7(D) unless the following 
conditions are met: 

1. The vehicle must be either self-propelled or towable by a light duty truck. 

2. The hitch must remain on the vehicle at all times. 

3. The vehicle must not be attached to external structures such as decks and porches 
4. The vehicle must be designed solely for recreation, camping, travel, or seasonal use 

rather than as a permanent dwelling. 

5. The vehicles vehicle largest horizontal projections must be no larger than must have a total 
area not exceeding four hundred (400) square feet when measured at the largest horizontal 
projection. 

6. The vehicle's wheels must remain on axles and inflated. 

7. Air conditioning units must be attached to the frame so as to be safe for movement of the 
floodplain. 

8. Propane tanks as well as electrical and sewage connections must be quick-disconnect 
and above the 100- year flood elevation. 

9. The vehicle must be licensed and titled as a recreational vehicle or park model, and must 
either: 

a. entirely be supported by jacks, or 



36 
 

b. have a hitch jack permanently mounted, have the tires touching the ground and be 
supported by block in a manner that will allow the block to be easily removed by used of the 
hitch jack. 

F. Garages, sheds or other minorDetached accessory structures constructed ancillary to an 
existing residential use may be permitted provided the following conditions are met: 

1. The garage of shed structure must be non-habitable. 

2. The garage or shedstructure must be used only for the parking and storage of vehicles 
and tools and cannot be modified later into another use. 

3. The garage or shedstructure must be located outside of the floodway or have the 
appropriate county, state and⁄or federal permits. 

4. The garage or shedstructure must be on a single family lot and be accessory to an existing 
principle structure on the same lot. 

5. The exterior and interior building components and elements (i.e., foundation, wall 
framing, exterior and interior finishes, flooring, etc.) Below below the base flood elevation, 
the garage or shed must be built of with flood-resistant materials not susceptible to flood 
damagein accordance with Section 7. 

6. All utilities, plumbing, heating, air conditioningmechanical, and electrical must be 
elevated above the flood protection elevation. 

7. The garage or shedstructure must have at least one permanent opening on each at 
least two wall walls not more than one (1) foot above grade with one (1) square inch of 
opening for every one (1) square foot of floor area. 

8. The garage or shed must be less than ten thousand dollars ($10,000) in market value or 
replacement cost whichever is greater or less than five hundred (500) square feet. The structure 
must be no more than one story in height and no more than six hundred (600) square feet in 
size. 

9. The structure shall be anchored to resist floatation, collapse, lateral movement, and 
overturning. 

10. All flammable or toxic materials (gasoline, paint, insecticides, fertilizers, etc.) shall be 
stored above the flood protection elevation. 

11. The lowest floor elevation should be documented and the owner advised of the 
flood insurance implications. 

 

208 . Section 8. Subdivision Requirements 
The county County Board shall take into account hazards, to the extent that they are known, in 
all official actions related to land management use and development. 

A. New subdivisions, manufactured home parks, mobile home parks annexation agreements, 
planned unit developments, and additions to manufactured home parks, mobile home parks, and 
subdivisions shall meet the damage prevention and building protections standards of Sections 6 
and 7 of this regulation.  

B. Streets, blocks lots, parks and other public grounds shall be located and laid out in such a 
manner as to preserve and utilize natural streams and channels. Wherever possible the 
floodplains should be included within parks, open space parcels, or other public grounds. 

A.C. Any proposal for such development shall include the following data: 



37 
 

1. The base flood elevation and the boundary of the floodplain, where the base flood 
elevation is not available from an existing study, the applicant shall be responsible for calculating 
the base flood elevation; 

2. the The boundary of the floodway when applicable, and. 

3. a A signed statement by a Registered Licensed Professional Engineer that the proposed 
plat or plan accounts for changes in the drainage of surface waters in accordance with the Plat 
Act (765 ILCS 205⁄2). 

Streets, blocks lots, parks and other public grounds shall be located and laid out in such a 
manner as to preserve and utilize natural streams and channels. Wherever possible the 
floodplains shall be included within parks or other public grounds. 

 
209 . Section 9. Public Health and Other Standards 
A. Public health standards must be met for all floodplain development. In addition to the 

requirements of Sections 6 and 7 of this regulation the following standards apply: 

1. No development in the floodplain shall include locating or storing chemicals, explosives, 
buoyant materials, flammable liquids, pollutants, or other hazardous or toxic materials below the 
flood protection elevation unless such materials are stored in a floodproofed and anchored 
storage tank and certified by a professional engineer or floodproofed building constructed 
according to the requirements of Section 7 of this ordinance. 

2. Public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas and electric shall be located and 
constructed to minimize or eliminate flood damage. 

3. Public sanitary sewer systems and water supply systems shall be located and 
constructed to minimize or eliminate infiltration of flood waters into the systems and discharges 
from the systems into flood waters. 

4. New and replacement on-site sanitary sewer lines or waste disposal systems shall be 
located and constructed to avoid impairment to them or contamination from them during 
flooding. Manholes or other above ground openings located below the flood protection 
elevation shall be watertight. 

5. Construction of new or substantially improved critical facilities shall be located outside the 
limits of the floodplain. Construction of new critical facilities shall be permissible within the 
floodplain if no feasible alternative site is available. Critical facilities constructed within the SFHA 
shall have the lowest floor (including basement) elevated or structurally dry floodproofed to the 
500-year flood frequency elevation or three feet above the level of the 100-year flood frequency 
elevation whichever is greater.  Floodproofing and sealing measures must be taken to ensure 
that toxic substances will not be displaced by or released into floodwaters. Access routes 
elevated to or above the level of the base flood elevation shall be provided to all critical facilities. 

Critical facilities, which are buildings, constructed or substantially improved within the 
floodplain or the 0.2 percent annual chance flood elevation when defined, shall have the 
lowest floor (including basement) elevated or structurally dry floodproofed to the 0.2 percent 
annual chance flood elevation, or three feet above the BFE, whichever is greater. Adequate 
parking shall be provided for staffing of the critical facilities at or above the BFE or 0.2 percent 
chance flood, when defined. Access routes to all critical facilities should be reviewed and 
considered when permitting. Access routes should be elevated to or above the level of the 
BFE. 

Floodproofing and sealing measures may also be used to provide protection, as described in 
Section 7, and must be taken to ensure that toxic substances will not be displaced by or 
released into floodwaters. 



38 
 

Critical Facilities included emergency services facilities (such as fire and police stations), 
schools, hospitals, retirement homes, and senior care facilities.  

Critical Facility means any facility which is critical to the health and welfare of the population and, if 
flooded, would create an added dimension to the disaster. Damage to these critical facilities can 
impact the delivery of vital services, can cause greater damage to other sectors of the community, or 
can put special populations at risk. 

Examples of critical facilities where flood protection should be required include: emergency 
services facilities (such as fire and police stations), schools, hospitals retirement homes and 
senior care facilities, major roads and bridges, critical utility sites (telephone switching stations or 
electrical transformers, and hazardous material storage facilities (chemicals, petrochemicals, 
hazardous or toxic substances). 

 

B. All other activities defined as development shall be designed so as not to alter flood 
flows or increase potential flood damages. 

C. Dams are classified as to their size and their hazard/damage potential in the event of 
failure. Permits for dams may be required from IDNR/OWR. Contact IDNR/OWR to 
determine if a permit is required. If a permit is required, a permit application must be made 
to IDNR/OWR prior to the construction or major modification of jurisdictional dams. 

D. Letters of Map Revision. The Administrator shall require a CLOMR prior to issuance 
of a development permit for: 

1.  Proposed floodway encroachments that will cause an increase in the BFE; and 

2. Proposed development which will increase the BFE by more than 0.1 feet in riverine area 
where FEMA has provided a BFE but no floodway. 

Once a CLOMR has been issued, the development permit may be issued for site grading 
and structures necessary in the area of the map change to achieve the final LOMR. Upon 
completion, the applicant shall submit as-built certifications, as required by FEMA, to 
achieve a final LOMR prior to the release of final development permits. Review Section 
9E for the construction of buildings in any floodplain issued a LOMR Based on Fill. 

E. When construction of a building following a LOMR Based on Fill is requested, the 
condition where a site in the floodplain is removed due to the use of fill to elevate the site 
above the BFE, the applicant may not apply for a permit from the County to construct the 
lowest floor of a building below the BFE in the floodplain. 

 
 
210 . Section 10. Carrying Capacity and Notification. 
For all projects involving channel modification, fill, or stream maintenance (including levees), 
the flood carrying capacity of the watercourse shall be maintained. 

In addition, the County shall notify adjacent communities in writing thirty (30) days prior to the 
issuance of a permit for the alteration or relocation of the watercourse. 

300 . Stormwater Detention Regulations 
 
301. Exclusions 



39 
 

302 .maximum controlled 
stormwater runoff release rate 303 . 
stormwater storage methods 
304 . Calculations of required stormwater storage
305 . Applications for building permits 

 
This section contains the text of Sec. 50-258. Stormwater detention regulations of the Natural 
Hazard Ordinance which are moved to this regulation unammended with the adoption adopted as of 
the Winnebago County Surface Water Management Ordinance, as amended, herein. . Its 
requirements follow:  
Developments and impacted areas which increase the amount of impermeable area, such as the 
construction of roof structures, paved areas or compacted areas, shall be subject to the terms of this 
article. This section is amended to include Illinois State Water Survey Bulletin 75 that provides 
frequency estimates and their time distributions.17 
 
301 (1) The following, however, shall not be included: 

a. Traditional agricultural uses. 
b. The construction of single-family dwellings on lots or parcels of land which were of 

record prior to June 24, 1982.August 12, 1976. 
c. Modification of single-family dwellings which will continue to be used as single-family 

dwellings. 
d. The use of lands adjacent and contiguous to and which discharge directly into the 

Rock, Pecatonica, Sugar, or Kishwaukee Rivers. 
e. Improvement of existing roadways which does not increase the number of traffic lanes in 

the typical cross section of the roadway. 
f. The cumulative increase of impervious area does not exceed 25,000 square feet as of the 

establishment of the original Surface Water Management Ordinance on August 24, 2006.  
1. Developments and impacted areas with less than 25,000 square feet of cumulative impervious area 

shall be required to provide best management practices (BMP) for stormwater management as 
determined by the Administrator. 

 
 

 
302 (2) The maximum controlled stormwater runoff release rate shall not exceed the natural 
safe stormwater drainage capacity of the downstream system, which has been found to be 0.2 
cubic feet per second, per acre in the county. Pipe outlets of less than 12 inches in diameter shall 
not be allowed. Multiple outlets from a stormwater storage area shall be avoided if they are 
designed to be less than 12 inches in diameter. Removable orifice plates shall be employed 
when these pipe size requirements cannot be met.18 

 
303 (3) When the maximum controlled stormwater runoff release rate shall be exceeded, 
any or all of the following stormwater storage methods shall be provided and constructed: 

a. Dry bottom stormwater storage. The following is the dry bottom stormwater storage method: 
1. Dry bottom stormwater storage areas must be designed to serve a secondary 

purpose for recreation, open space or similar type of use, which will not be adversely 
affected by occasional intermittent flooding. 

2. The combination of storage of major floodwater runoff from a 100-year return 
frequency storm and the allowable release rate shall not result in a storage duration in excess 
of 48 hours. 

 
17 Illinois State Water Survey Bulletin 75 provides frequency estimates and their time distributions that supersede 
those published in ISWS Bulletin 70 (1989), Circular 172, and Circular 173. 
18 No amendment to the release rate. 



40 
 

3. Minimum grades for turf areas shall be 0.5 percent (200 units horizontal to one vertical) 
and maximum side slopes shall be 25 percent (four units horizontal to one unit vertical). Storage 
area side slopes shall follow the natural land contours as closely as practicable, and a minimum 
of earth excavation shall be used to create the storage facility. 

4. Temporary seeding or other soil stabilization measures shall be established in the 
stormwater storage area and major floodwater passageway immediately following the 
construction or reconstruction of these areas. During the construction of the overall development, 
it is recognized that a limited amount of sediment buildup may occur in the stormwater storage 
area due to erosion. In no case shall the volume of the storage area be reduced to less than 
three-quarters of the required volume during the construction phase of the development. 

5. Permanent erosion control measures such as mulching, hydroseeding, conventional 
seeding, nurse crops, fertilizing or sod installation shall be utilized to control soil movement and 
erosion within the storage area and major floodwater passageway. These measures shall meet or 
exceed the standards established by the county soil and water conservation district. The 
installation of these permanent measures shall take place only after the majority of construction 
and other silt- and sediment-producing activities have been completed. Prior to the establishment 
of the permanent erosion control measures, the required capacity of the stormwater storage area 
and the excess stormwater passageway shall be restored. 

6. The control structure shall be provided with an interceptor for trash and debris, and it 
shall be designed and constructed to prevent soil erosion and not to require manual 
adjustments for its proper operation. An inlet design that will produce turbulent flow conditions 
during any portion of the stormwater storage cycle will not be acceptable. 

7. Adequate impact stilling basins shall be provided to ensure that downstream soil erosion 
is alleviated and the regime of the downstream drainage facility is not disturbed. 

8. Each stormwater storage area shall be provided with a method of overflow in the event a 
storm in excess of the design capacity occurs. This overflow facility shall be constructed to 
function without specific attention and can become a part of the excess stormwater passageway 
described in this section. 

9. The entire stormwater storage area shall be designed and constructed to fully protect 
the public health, safety and welfare. If a condition occurs in the stormwater storage area which 
is hazardous to the public health, safety or welfare, the person responsible for the condition will 

be required to provide approved corrective measures. If these corrective measures are not 
provided, the county may eliminate the hazard at the expense of the person responsible. 

10. Low flow conduits or channels shall be provided in stormwater storage areas. These 
conduits or channels shall be so constructed that they will not interfere with the secondary usage 
of the storage area and will reduce the frequency of time that the storage area will be covered with 
water. 

b. Wet bottom stormwater storage. Wet bottom stormwater storage areas shall be designed in 
compliance with all the regulations which are applicable and govern the construction of dry bottom 
stormwater storage areas. The following additional regulations shall apply: 

1. The water surface area of the permanent pool shall not exceed one-tenth of the 
area of the tributary watershed. 

2. Protection of the shoreline must be provided to alleviate soil erosion due to wave action. 
3. Minimum normal water depth shall be four feet. If fish are to be used to keep the pond 

clean, at least one- quarter of the pond area shall be a minimum of ten feet deep. 
4. Facilities shall be provided to lower the pond elevation by gravity floor for cleaning 

purposes and shoreline maintenance. 
5. The control structure for stormwater release shall be designed to operate at full design 

release rate with only a minor increase in the water depth in order to minimize the land surface 
wetted by frequent minor stormwater runoff conditions. 

6. Measures shall be included in the design to prevent pond stagnation. This may be 
accomplished by fountain aeration or some other method used to ensure aerobic pond 
conditions. 



41 
 

7. The volume of water permanently stored shall not be considered to be part of the 
required excess stormwater storage volume. 

c. Paved stormwater storage. Design and construction of the pavement base must ensure that 
there is no pavement damage due to flooding. Control structures in paved areas must be readily 
accessible for maintenance and cleaning. Vortex control devices will be required. 

d. Rooftop stormwater storage. Rooftop storage of excess stormwater shall be designed and 
constructed to provide permanent control inlets and parapet walls to contain excess stormwater. 
Adequate structural roof design must be provided to ensure that roof deflection does not occur 
which could cause the roofing material to fail and result in leakage. Overflow areas must be 
provided to ensure that the weight of stored stormwater will never exceed the structural capacity 
of the roof. 

e. Automobile parking stormwater storage areas. Automobile parking facilities used to store 
excess stormwater must be constructed having a maximum depth of stored stormwater of 1.5 
feet; and these areas shall be located in the most remote, least used areas of the parking facility. 

f. Underground stormwater storage. Underground stormwater storage facilities must be 
designed for easy access in order to remove accumulated sediment and debris. These 
facilities must be provided with a positive gravity outlet. 
304 (4) Calculations of required stormwater storage shall be made as follows: 

a. Any generally recognized and substantiated method acceptable to the administrator 
Administrator may be used for these calculations. The release rate of the outlet structure, when 
half of the storage area is filled, may be used in lieu of routing techniques in small drainage 
areas. The control structure shall be designed to maintain as uniform a flow as possible, 
independent of the stormwater storage volume. Where the proposed structure, project or land 
development forms only a portion of a watershed or contains portions of several watersheds, the 
storage volume calculations shall be based upon the area of the entire project, development or 
land use change. The maximum release rate shall be established by multiplying the total 
acreage of the tributary watershed by 0.2 cubic foot per second, per acre. 

b. Stormwater storage areas which will be filled to capacity by high-frequency storms shall be 
designed in a manner that will protect immediate downstream properties, and all overflow 
structures shall be designed to function properly and effectively without the necessity of making 
manual adjustments. A larger outlet for stormwater storage may be permitted by the administrator 
Administrator for the orderly management of stormwater runoff where large tributary areas are 
developed without detention. 

c. If the orderly management of the stormwater runoff cannot be achieved by passing the entire 
tributary area runoff through the stormwater storage area, the stormwater storage area shall be 
constructed to exclude the runoff from the tributary area originating outside of the area to be 
developed. 

 
305 (5) Applications for building permits shall require the following: 

a. Stormwater detention facilities shall be designed by and their construction 
supervised by a registered professional engineer. 

b. Compliance with this section shall be as provided for in section 50-256255. In addition, 
the following shall be required by the administratorAdministrator: 

 
1. Upon completion of construction, a set of record drawings certified by a registered 

professional engineer; and 
2. An estimated schedule of development phases. 

c. All applications for building permits shall contain a statement that such buildings or 
structures and appurtenances connected therewith include facilities for the orderly runoff or 
retention of rain and melting snow. Plans submitted with the application shall include a signed 
statement issued by a state registered professional engineer that the plans include facilities 
adequate to prevent harmful runoff. For single-family dwellings to be located in a subdivision 



42 
 

meeting the requirements of this article, the signed statement may, in lieu of other application 
requirements, be placed on the face of the final plat. 

d. When compliance with the stormwater detention requirements of this article will result in a 
facility, the volume of which is 0.3 acre-feet or less, the administrator Administrator may waive the 
requirement for that specific facility. 

 
400 . Post Construction Runoff Quantity Controls 

 
 
In principle, development plans should minimize those characteristics that result in the increase of 
stormwater runoff. The amount of impervious cover should be the minimum practical to meet the 
requirements of building, zoning, and subdivision regulations, those of the County and township 
highway authorities, and such other regulations as govern development activities. 

 
401: Stormwater Detention is a control currently required by county ordinance. It is recognized 
that the controlled release rate referred to in these requirements (sec 304) is release to surface 
water. Some additional loss of inflow to a stormwater detention facility may be provided by some 
subsurface infiltration technique. The required detention volume can be reduced by such loss 
provided that: 
401.1 the loss is based on a conservative estimate of the long term infiltration rate of the 
soil strata to which infiltration is intended. This analysis shall include conditions of saturated 
or frozen strata and the probable location of groundwater levels; 
401.2 additional inspection and certification is guaranteed during the installation process so that 
the qualifying soil strata is confirmed in place; and that it is not clogged with fine material nor 
compacted by construction operations; 
401.3 there is an acceptable maintenance plan for operation of the infiltration technique; 
401.4 complete failure of the infiltion system does not result in flood hazard within the 
development or to adjacent properties; 
401.5 an acceptable plan for restoration of the maximum controlled release rate is 
provided for the case of substantial or complete failure of the infiltration system; and 
401.6 the prevention of groundwater contamination is reasonably assured. 

 
402: Shallow depressional storage volumes, below a surface gravity outlet, cannot be used to 
partly or completely replace required stormwater detention storage volumes. Their benefit accrues 
largely to water quality: capturing small storm events, and filled with water and sediments prior to 
a major runoff event. 

 
500 . reserved 

 
600 . Construction Site Erosion and Sediment Control 

 
605 . Sec. 5 General Principles 
608 . Sec. 8 Erosion and Sediment 
Control Plan. 609 - 612 blank 
613 . Sec. 13 Site design 
requirements. 614 . Sec. 
14 Inspection. 
615 . Sec. 15 
Retention of plans. 
616 . Sec. 16 
Special precautions. 

 
620 . Summary of Erosion and Sediment Control Requirements 



43 
 

 
This section contains the text of Sections 5, 8, 13 to 16, and summary of the model 
Construction Site Erosion and Sediment Control Ordinance, drafted and put through public 
review by the Winnebago County Association for Clean Water Action, WinACWA, 2004; and 
customized for county government to meet its requirements under NPDES Phase II. 

 
605 . Sec. 5 General Principles. 
It is the objective of these regulations to control soil erosion and sedimentation caused by 
development activities, including clearing, grading, stripping, excavating, and filling of land, in the 
County of Winnebago. Measures taken to control soil erosion and offsite sediment runoff should 
be adequate to assure that sediment is not transported from the site by wind erosion or a storm 
event of ten-year frequency or less. The following principles shall apply to all development 
activities within the County of Winnebago and to the preparation of the submissions required 
under Sections 8 and 9 of this ordinance: 

 
(a) Development should be related to the topography and soils of the site so as to create the 

least potential for erosion. Areas of steep slopes where high cuts and fills may be required 
should be avoided wherever possible, and existing contours should be followed as closely as 
possible. 

 
(b) Natural vegetation should be retained and protected wherever possible. Areas 

immediately adjacent to existing watercourses, lakes, ponds, and wetlands should be left 
undisturbed wherever possible. Temporary crossings of watercourses, when permitted, must 
include appropriate stabilization measures. 

 
(c) Special precautions should be taken to prevent damages that occur due to any necessary 

development activity within or adjacent to any stream, lake, pond, or wetland. Preventative 
measures must be commensurate with the sensitivity of these areas to erosion and 
sedimentation. 

 
(d) The smallest practical area of disturbance should be exposed for the shortest 

practical time during development. 
 

(e) Sediment basins or traps, filter barriers, diversions, and any other appropriated sediment 
or runoff control measures should be installed prior to site clearing and grading and 
maintained to control and remove sediment from run-off waters from land undergoing 
development. 

 
(f) The selection of erosion and sedimentation control measures should be based on site 

limitations, project duration, and other factors to provide the necessary site protection during 
the construction development activity. 

 
(g) In the design of erosion control facilities and practices, aesthetics and the 

requirements of continuing maintenance shall be considered. 
 

(h) Permanent vegetation and runoff control structures shall be installed and functional as 
soon as practical during development. 

 
(i) All waste generated as a result of site development activity shall be properly disposed 

of and should be prevented from being carried off the site by either wind, water, or artificial 
means. 

 



44 
 

(j) All construction sites shall provide measures to prevent sediment from being tracked onto 
public or private roadways. 

 
608 . Sec. 8 Erosion and Sediment Control Plan. 

 
The Owners of the property or his⁄her authorized designee shall prepare and submit an Erosion 
and Sediment Control Plan (Plan) to the County of Winnebago at the time of proposed land 
disturbing activities. These submissions shall be prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
this Article and the standards and requirements contained in the NPDES Permit No. ILR10 
prepared by the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency and the Illinois Urban Manual prepared 
by the Natural Resources Conservation Servicemembers of the Illinois Urban Manual Technical 
Review Committee and Steering Committee, and adopted by the Boone and Winnebago County 
Soil and Water Conservation District, which standards and requirements are hereby incorporated 
into this ordinance by reference. General guidance can be found in the Illinois Urban Manual 
under the section, Storm Water Management For Construction Activities , Developing 
Pollution Prevention Plans and Best Managementbe PracticesNon-point Source Pollution 
Control Processes and Planning Principles. Each plan shall contain the following information: 

 
(a) The name(s) address(es) and telephone number(s) of the owner or [and] developer of 

the site and of any consulting firm retained by the applicant together with the name of the 
applicant's principle contact at such firm. 

 

The owner must sign a copy of the certification statement. The certification must be included in the 
plan: 

 
“I certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments were prepared in 
accordance with a system designed to assure that qualified personnel properly gathered and 
evaluated the information submitted. Based on my inquiry of the person or persons who manage 
the system, or those persons directly responsible for gathering the information, the information 
submitted is to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate, and complete. I am aware 
that there are significant penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility of fine 
and imprisonment of knowing violations.” 

 
(b) The name, address and telephone number of the general contractor(s) that have been 

identified at the time of the submittal. Identify the contractor(s) or subcontractor(s) 
implementing each measure of the plan. All contractor(s) and subcontractor(s) identified in the 
plan must sign a copy of the certification statement. All certifications must be included in the 
plan except for owners acting as contractor(s). 

 
“I certify under penalty of law that I understand the terms and conditions of the general National 
Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit No. ILR10 and [Chapter 78], Erosion 
and Sediment Control ordinance that authorizes the storm water discharges associated with the 
construction activities and site identified as part of this certification.” 

 
(c) A vicinity map in sufficient detail to enable easy location in the field of the site for which 

the permit is sought, and including the boundary line and approximate acreage of the site, 
existing zoning, and a legend and scale; 

 
(d) A development plan of the site showing: 

 
(1) Existing topography of the site and adjacent land within approximately 100 feet of the 

boundaries, drawn at no greater than two-foot contour intervals and clearly portraying the 
conformation and drainage pattern of the area. 



45 
 

 
(2) The location of existing buildings, structures, utilities, streams, lakes, floodplains, 

wetlands and depressions, drainage facilities, vegetative cover, paved areas, and other significant 
natural or man-made features on the site and adjacent land within 100 feet of the boundary. 

 
(3) A general description of the predominant soil types on the site, their location, and their 

limitations for the proposed use. 
 

(4) Proposed use of the site, including present development and planned utilization; areas 
of clearing, stripping, grading, excavation, and filling; finished grades, and street profiles; 
provisions of storm drainage, including storm sewers, swales, detention basins and any other 
measures to control the rate of runoff, with a drainage area map, indications of flow directions 
and computations; kinds and locations of utilities; and areas and acreages proposed to be paved, 
covered, sodded or seeded, vegetatively stabilized, or left undisturbed. 

 
(e) Erosion and sediment controls showing all measures necessary to meet the objectives 

of this ordinance throughout all phases of construction and permanently after completion of 
development of the site, including: 

 
(1) Location and description, including standard details, of all sediment control 

measures and design specifics of sediment basins and traps, including outlet details. 
 

(2) Plans should ensure existing vegetation is preserved where attainable and disturbed 
portions of the site are stabilized. Stabilization practices may include, but not limited to: temporary 
seeding, vegetative buffer strips, protection of trees, preservation of mature vegetation, and other 
appropriate measures. Location and description of all soil stabilization and erosion control 
measures, including seeding mixtures and rates, types of sod, method of seedbed preparation, 
expected seeding dates, type and rate of lime and fertilizer application, kind and quantity of 
mulching for both temporary and permanent vegetative control measures, and types of non-
vegetative stabilization measures. 

 
a. Stabilization measures will be initiated as soon as practicable in portions of the site 

where construction activities have temporarily or permanently ceased, but in no case more than 
fourteen (14) days after the construction activity in that portion of the site has temporarily or 
permanently ceased. 

 
b. Where construction activity will resume on a portion of the site within 14 days 

from when activity ceased, (i.e. the total time period that construction activity is temporarily 
ceased is less than 14 days) then stabilization measures have to be initiated on that portion 
of the site within one (1) working day and completed as soon as possible, but not later than 
14 calendar days from the initiation of stabilization in the work area. 

b.c. Where the initiation of stabilization measures by the 14th   calendar day after 
construction activity temporary or permanently snow cover precludes ease, stabilization 
measures shall be initiated as soon as practicable. 

 
c. Where construction activity will resume on a portion of the site within 21 days 

from when activity ceased, (i.e. the total time period that construction activity is temporarily 
ceased is less than 21 days) then stabilization measures do not have to be initiated on that 
portion of the site by the 14th day after construction activity temporarily ceased. 

 
(3) Location and description of all runoff control measures, including diversions, waterways, 

and outlets. 
 



46 
 

(4) Location and description of methods to prevent tracking of sediment offsite, 
including construction entrance details, as appropriate. 

 
(5) Description of dust and traffic control measures. 

 
(6) Locations of stockpiles and description of stabilization methods. 

 
(7) Description of off-site fill or borrow volumes, locations, and methods of stabilization. 

 
(8) Provisions for maintenance of control measures, including type and frequency 

of maintenance, easements, and estimates of the cost of maintenance. 
 

(f) The proposed phasing of development of the site, including stripping and clearing, rough 
grading and landscaping. Phasing should identify the expected date on which clearing will begin 
and the estimated duration of exposure of cleared areas, and the sequence of installation of 
temporary sediment control measures (including perimeter controls), clearing and grading, 
installation of temporary soil stabilization measures, installation of storm drainage, paving streets 
and parking areas, final grading and the establishment of permanent vegetative cover, and the 
removal of temporary measures. It shall be the responsibility of the applicant to notify the County 
of Winnebago of any significant changes that occur in the site development schedule after the 
initial erosion and sediment control plan has been approved; 

 
(g) A copy of the completed Notice of Intent (NOI) required by the Illinois Environmental 

Protection Agency. 
 

(h) A copy of the completed Illinois Department of Natural Resources Consultation Agency 
Action Report. 

 
609 - 612 blank 

 
613 . Sec. 13 Site design requirements. 

 
On-site sediment control measures, as specified by the following criteria, shall be 

constructed and functional prior to initiating clearing, grading, stripping, excavation, or fill 
activities on the site. 

 
(a) Land disturbance activities in stream channels shall be avoided, where possible. If 

disturbance activities are unavoidable, the following requirements shall be met: 
 

1. Construction vehicles shall be kept out of the stream channel to the maximum extent 
practicable. Where construction crossings are necessary, temporary crossings shall be 
constructed of non-erosive material, such as riprap or gravel. 

 
2. The time and area of disturbance of stream channels shall be kept to a minimum. The 

stream channel, including bed and banks, shall be restabilized within 48 hours after channel 
disturbance is completed, interrupted, or stopped. 

 
3. Whenever channel relocation is necessary, the new channel shall be constructed in 

the dry and fully stabilized before flow is diverted. 
 

(b) Sediment traps or anchored filter barriers meeting accepted design standards and 
specifications outlined in the Illinois Urban Manual shall protect storm sewer inlets and culverts. 

 



47 
 

(c) Soil storage piles containing more than 10 cubic yards of material shall not be located 
with a downslope drainage length of less than 25 feet to a roadway or drainage channel. Filter 
barriers, including straw bales, filter fence, or equivalent, shall be installed immediately on the 
downslope side of the piles. 

 
(d) If dewatering devices are used, discharge locations shall be protected from erosion. All 

pumped discharges shall be routed through appropriately designed sediment traps or basins, or 
equivalent. 

 
(e) Each site shall have graveled (or equivalent) entrance roads, access drives, and parking 

areas a minimum of fifty seventy (70) feet long and 12 fourteen (14) feet wide to prevent 
[minimize] sediment from being tracked onto public or private roadways. Any sediment reaching 
a public or private road shall be removed by shoveling or street cleaning (not flushing) before the 
end of each workday and transported to a controlled sediment disposal area. 

 
(f) All temporary and permanent erosion and sediment control practices must be maintained 

and repaired as needed to assure effective performance of their intended function. 
 

(g) All temporary erosion and sediment control measures shall be disposed of within 30 days 
after final site stabilization is achieved with permanent soil stabilization measures. Trapped 
sediment and other disturbed soils resulting from the disposition of temporary measures should 
be permanently stabilized to prevent further erosion and sedimentation. 

 
614 . Sec. 14 Inspection. 

 
The [inspector]Administrator shall make inspections as hereinafter required and shall either 

approve that portion of the work completed or shall notify the applicant wherein the work fails to 
comply with the erosion and sedimentation control plans as approved. In order to obtain 
inspections and to ensure compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan and 
this ordinance, the applicant shall notify the [inspector]Administrator within two (2) working days 
of the completion of the construction stages specified below: 

 
(a) Upon completion of installation of sediment and runoff control measures (including 

perimeter controls and diversions), prior to proceeding with any other earth disturbance or 
grading, 

 
(b) After stripping and clearing, 
 

(c) After rough grading, 
(b)(d) After final grading, 

 
(c)(e) After seeding and landscaping deadlines, and 

 
(d)(f) After final stabilization and landscaping, prior to removal of sediment controls. 

 
If stripping, clearing, grading and ⁄or landscaping are to be done in phases or areas, the 

applicant shall give notice and request inspection at the completion of each of the above 
work states in each phase or area. 

 
The County of Winnebago shall also reserve the right to inspect disturbed areas of the 

construction site that have not been finally stabilized, structural control measures, and locations 
where vehicles enter or exit the site at least once every seven (7) calendar days and within 24 
hours of the end of a storm that is 0.5 inches or greater or equivalent snowfall. 



48 
 

 
615 . Sec. 15 Retention of plans. 
The applicant shall retain copies of plans and all reports for a period of at least three (3) years 

from the date the site is finally stabilized. The applicant shall also retain a copy of the plan at the 
construction site from the date of project initiation to the date of final stabilization. 

 
616 . Sec. 16 Special precautions. 

 
(a) If at any stage of the grading of any development site the [inspector]Administrator 

determines by inspection that the nature of the site is such that further work authorized by an 
existing building permit is likely to imperil any property, public way, stream, lake, wetland, or 
drainage structure, the [inspector]Administrator may require, as a condition of allowing the work to 
be done, that such reasonable special precautions to be taken as is considered advisable to 
avoid the likelihood of such peril. Special precautions may include, but shall not be limited to, a 
more level exposed slope, construction of additional drainage facilities, berms, terracing, 
compaction or cribbing, installation of plant materials for erosion control, and recommendations of 
a registered soils engineer and⁄or engineering geologist which may be made requirements for 
further work. 

 
(b) Where it appears that storm damage may result because the grading on any 

development site is not complete, work may be stopped and the applicant may be required to 
install temporary structures of take such other measures to protect adjoining property or the 
public safety. 

 
(c) Major amendments of the erosion and sediment control plan shall be submitted to the 

County of Winnebago and shall be processed and approved or disapproved in the same manner 
as the original plans. The County of Winnebago may authorize field modifications of a minor 
nature by written authorization to the applicant. 

 
County of Winnebago 

SUMMARY OF THE NEW EROSION AND SEDIMENT 
CONTROL ORDINANCE 

 
Purpose of this document: 

1. To give contractors, developers, and consultants warning that Winnebago County is 
implementing a comprehensive erosion and sediment control ordinance 

2. This ordinance will prepare developments for the most current NPDES Phase II 
requirements, which took effect March 2003 (March, 2023 or newer). 

 
Main principals of this comprehensive erosion and sediment 

control ordinance: 1.Design developments to fit existing 
topography and natural drainage patterns 2.Protect natural 
vegetation on site 
3. Prevent sediment from entering 
adjacent watercourses 4.Reduce the 
exposure of disturbed soil 
5. Methods of different erosion control structures and practices 
6. Continue maintenance of control structures and establish 
permanent vegetation 7.Dispose of waste generated from site 
development activity 
8.Reduce storm 
water runoff 
velocities 



49 
 

9.Prevent 
sediment on 
roadways 

 
This comprehensive erosion and sediment control ordinance applies to: 

1. NPDES Phase II projects after March 2003 (development activity affecting an area greater 
than or equal to 1 acre) 

2. Any land disturbing activity that may discharge soil and erosion into any storm water 
conveyance system 

3. If development activity is determined to be causing or contributing to existing or potential 
new erosion of sediment or impacting the storm water conveyance system 

 
All erosion and sediment control plans, contained within the ordinance, will require the 
following: 

1. Certification Sec. 8.a signed by owner and engineer. Must include principal contact with 
address and phone number. 

2. Certification Sec. 8b signed by contractor for all NPDES permit projects (contractor may 
sign the approved erosion and sediment control plan if the project is not under a NPDES permit) 

3. Vicinity map of the project 
4. A development plan showing: 

i. Existing topography 
ii. Location of existing structures, buildings, and 
waterbodies, etc. iii.Predominant soil types 
iv. Proposed use of the site 
v. Appropriate erosion and sediment controls 
a. Silt fence, sediment basins and traps, earth dikes, drainage swales, check dams, storm drain 

inlet protection, rock outlet protection, risers, etc. 
b. Construction entrances 
c. Stabilization (needs to be implemented within 14 days once construction stops) i.e. temporary 

seeding, permanent seeding, geotextiles, and sod 
 
Inspection⁄Enforcement: 

1. The principle contact must observe construction to assure the project is following the 
approved erosion and sediment control plan 

2. The [inspector] shall make regular inspections 
3. The County of Winnebago may require special precautions beyond the approved erosion and 

sediment control plan 
4. The County of Winnebago will verbally warn the principal contact that an erosion and 

sediment control plan is not being followed or a “special precaution” is needed 
5. If no action is taken after 3 days of the verbal warning, the County of Winnebago will 

warn in writing the principal contact of the violation or of the “special precaution” 
6. If no action is taken after 3 days of the written warning, a stop-work order will be issued. 

 
Violations and Penalties: 

1.A Certificate of Occupancy permit will not be granted  
2.Fine of not more than $500.00 for each offense 

 
700 Post Construction Runoff Quality Controls 

 
The County encourages developments that incorporate post construction runoff quality controls 
(PCRQC's) beneficial to water quality. HoweverHowever, the county has not established means 
to measure or estimate pollutant loads or rates characteristic of development types nor standards 
to assess the compliance of outflows. Until the adoption of Total Maximum Daily Loads, or some 



50 
 

other design and performance goals, any specific PCRQC's will not be required. But their 
presence shall be included and described (including maintenance provisions) in the proposed site 
development plan, with the following provisos: 

 
701.1they are part of the stormwater conveyance system, covered elsewhere in this 
regulation, 701.2when included in the public rights of way, they must be approved by the 
appropriate road jurisdiction, 701.3they must not create a nuisance or hazard; and to 
avoid that perception, the developer shall inform prospective buyers of their existence 
and operation, 
401.4 the prevention of groundwater contamination is reasonably assured. 

 
{Low Impact Development Principles: grass swales vs. curb and gutter and storm sewers, } 

 
Notwithstanding the conditions for wet- and dry-bottomed stormwater storage areas in Sec 
400300, the freeboard above a surface water release structure may be used to meet 
stormwater detention volume requirements. 

 
800 . reserved 

 
900 . reserved 

 
999 End of Technical Regulations Adopted by Winnebago County Board 

 

1000 . Surface Water Management Guidance 
 
 
Under Sec. 50-249, Administration of the Surface Water Management Ordinance is the 
responsibility of the administratorAdministrator, who has the duty to review plans for 
developments governed by the ordinance; and the authority to approve or deny permits, or find 
implementations in violation. In this capacity, the administrator Administrator must exercise sound 
engineering judgment in areas which go beyond even the detail of the Surface Water 
Management Technical Regulations. A Surface Water Management Technical Guidance is 
created as an administrative tool for such areas. Such areas are, for example: 

 
1000.1: Surface water hydraulics and hydrology. Specifically, what techniques, data, 
coefficients, computer programs, etc. may or may not be acceptable under the 
circumstances of a given development to adequately estimate the design flow rates for the 
specified recurrence interval; and then what methods and assumptions could be used to 
evaluate the capacity of the receiving conveyance system, or 

 
1000.2: Pollutant type and removal rate. Possibly, what pond configuration, filtration media, 
and⁄or chemical additives can be expected achieve what pollutant removal rate, operating at 
what maintenance cycle, with inputs of some volume and contamination level, to meet any future 
TMDL requirement. 

 
1001: To maintain proficiency in reviewing plans and implementations, the administrator 
Administrator needs to maintain a knowledge base of proven, scientifically acceptable 
technology, both analytical and physical; and 

 
1002:Be open to new technologies as they are proven; and 

 
1003:Share that knowledge with applicants. 



51 
 

 
1010:This guidance may be called by reference, or it can be appended to the Technical 
Regulations, as herein, for ease of distribution. 

 
1100 . General Guidance 

 
1101:The Illinois Department of Transportation Drainage Manual is recognized as a good 
reference, both for general techniques and local conditions. One should note the ISWS Bulletin19 
70 75 Rainfalls are in the Appendix as well as Huff rainfall distributions. It can be downloaded 
from the IDOT University of Illinois LIbrary website. 
hthttps://www.ideals.illinois.edu/items/114209tp:⁄⁄www.dot.il.gov⁄bridges⁄brmanuals.html 
(The Drainage Manual is 47,812 kb in .pdf format. Be prepared! The Bridge Office maintains a number of other 
manuals from this site, also.) 
1102: The appropriate BMP for a parcel will be based on existing watershed plans within 
Winnebago County. Watershed plans can be found at the Winnebago County website: 
https://wincoil.gov/departments/highway-department/programs-and-
information?highlight=WyJ3YXRlcnNoZWQiXQ== 

 
1200 . Guidance re: Floodplain Regulations 

 
1206: The SWMO acknowledges Statewide Permits issued by IDNR⁄OWR and the County 
reserves the discretion to use them as indicators of compliance, but does not adopt them as 
blanket exemptions outside SFHA's. 
IDNR⁄OWR's threshold of regulation is a drainage area of at least 1 square mile. Winnebago 
County uses floodway regulations on as small as 5 acres, and defines floodways the same way 
they are determined in floodplain mapping: i.e. encroachment is defined as 0.1 foot stage increase 
over 'existing' conditions. This is inconsistent with SWP#2. Also 500 s.f. Accessory Structures 
under SWP#10 would not be appropriate in a 20 foot wide drainage easement. Being more 
restrictive is consistent with 44 CFR 60.3(d) as minimum requirements. 

 
1300 . Guidance re: Stormwater Detention Regulations 

 
 
1304:The first sentence of paragraph a has been deleted from the original ordinance. Using "shall 
be...", had been in conflict with the following 2 sentences. It refers to a methodology (modified 
rational method) that would only be generally recognized for a small drainage area, where "may 
be..." is operational. The Technical Guidance reflects on this, and the routing techniques 
mentioned. 

 
The Technical Regulations refer to "routing techniques" for all but "small drainage areas". 
Operationally, this means insignificant, not only in size but location in the context of current and 
future development in the drainage basin. Some urban and urbanizing jurisdictions (eg. Kane 
Co., which the City of Rockford may emulate in this respect) are requiring the 100-year, 24-hour 
duration rain, with AMC 2, be routed. The Department is currently open to arguments based on 
merit for any method, but one should expect that consistency with methods used by an adjacent 
jurisdiction will carry some weight. 

 
1400 . Post Construction Runoff Quantity Controls 

1401:The administrator's Administrator’s concern is that a soil absorption system relies on 
conditions which cannot be observed directly. There are possibilities that a poorly envisioned or 

 
19 Illinois State Water Survey Bulletin 75 provides frequency estimates and their time distributions that supersede 
those published in ISWS Bulletin 70 (1989), Circular 172, and Circular 173. 

https://wincoil.gov/departments/highway-department/programs-and-information?highlight=WyJ3YXRlcnNoZWQiXQ
https://wincoil.gov/departments/highway-department/programs-and-information?highlight=WyJ3YXRlcnNoZWQiXQ


52 
 

constructed soil absorption system will not function as its design analysis assumes from the day it 
is installed. More likely, over time, its performance will be degraded by the accumulation of fine 
particles or debris. The problem is that a system that operates properly in low-flow conditions, 
which are seldom a problem with flooding, wouldn't reveal a failure until stressed by high flows, 
precisely when flood control is needed. On the other hand, a system might work too well, if 
contaminants are present and not intercepted in some way. For example, direct runoff from a gas 
station should not be drained directly to a drywell, due to the ordinary accumulation of gas and oil 
drips, and possibility of more disastrous spills. 
 
 



1 
 

{Article IV of the Winnebago County Code is amended May 23, 2024, to read as follows} 
 

ARTICLE IV. SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT 
 

Sec. 50-246. Title. 
This article shall be known, cited and referenced to as the “Surface Water Management Ordinance”. 

Sec. 50-247. Purpose and scope of article. 
The purpose of this article is to establish regulations for unincorporated areas of the county that 
reasonably manage adverse effects to and by surface water to impacted areas and new development, 
occurring on or after the effective date of this ordinance (August 24, 2006), as amended. Specifically, 
potential surface water effects are: 

(a) Flooding. Flooding is addressed by: 

(1) Regulating Development in Floodplain Areas. This title refers to the Illinois Sample Flood 
Damage Prevention Ordinance (IDNR⁄OWR, as amended), the technical portions of 
which are Sections 6, 7, 8, 9, and 10. These sections, as adjusted to reflect county 
recognition of Flood Hazard Areas in addition to FEMA's Special Flood Hazard Areas, are 
hereby included in the Technical Regulations. Besides the public interest in reducing flood 
damages, the purpose of these requirements is to comply with Federal Regulations 
(Paragraph 60.3(d) of 44 CFR 59-60), in order for Winnebago County to remain in good 
standing with the National Flood Insurance Program. 

a. Developments shall be regulated in accordance with the base flood standard, which 
is indicated in the definition of Floodplain in the following section 50-248. Also see 
the definitions of Development and especially Substantial Improvement which 
enumerates exceptions. 

(2) Stormwater Detention Regulations. These regulations address escalation in flooding within 
new Developments and/or impacted areas, which increase the amount of impervious 
surface. The maximum controlled stormwater runoff release rate shall not exceed the 
natural safe stormwater drainage capacity of the downstream system, which has been 
found to be 0.2 cubic feet per second, per acre in the county. Details of compliance with 
this requirement are hereby incorporated in the Technical Regulations. 

a. The following, however, shall not be included:  
a. Traditional agricultural uses. 
b. The construction of single-family dwellings on lots or parcels of land 

which were of record prior to June 24, 1982. 
c. Modification of single-family dwellings which will continue to be used 

as single-family dwellings. 
d. The use of lands adjacent and contiguous to and which discharge 

directly into the Rock, Pecatonica, Sugar, or Kishwaukee Rivers. 
e. Improvement of existing roadways which does not increase the 

number of traffic lanes in the typical cross section of the roadway. 
(3) Post Construction Runoff Quantity Controls. These are controls, like Stormwater 

Detention, that address the increased runoff associated with many types of development, 
but are more commonly associated with terms such as Low Impact Development and 
'Green' Communities. Post Construction Runoff Control is a Best Management Practice 
(BMP) required of the County by the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
(NPDES), Phase II. Allowances for such controls are hereby incorporated in the Technical 
Regulations. 



2 
 

(b) Water quality degradation. This degradation, often called pollution, is addressed by: 
(1) Construction Site Erosion and Sediment Control. These controls apply to any Land 

Disturbing Activity (see definition) with the intent that the transport of sediment via wind or 
rainwater runoff from sites affected by land disturbing activities be limited, as closely as 
practicable, to that which would have occurred if the land had been left in its undisturbed 
state. This is a BMP of NPDES Phase II; and has been addressed by a standard ordinance 
developed by the Winnebago County Association for Clean Water Action (WinACWA) 
2005. Provisions of this ordinance are hereby incorporated in the Technical Regulations. 

a. Except that, where floodplains are not involved, erosion and sediment control plans 
shall not be required for submittal for any of the following, provided that the person 
responsible for any such development shall implement necessary soil erosion and 
sediment control measures consistent with the principles of this regulation: 
i. Excavation below final grade for the basement and footings of a single-family 

residence and appurtenant structures on a site in excess of one acre for which 
a building permit has been issued by the County of Winnebago; 

ii. Agricultural use of land, including the implementation of conservation 
measures included in a farm conservation plan approved by the Winnebago 
County Soil and Water Conservation District, and including the construction of 
agricultural structures; 

iii. Installation, renovation, or replacement of a septic system to serve an existing 
dwelling or structure. 

(2)  Post Construction Runoff Quality Controls. These are additional controls, extending 
beyond the construction phase, which address water quality on a continuous basis. They 
can be as simple as some Low Impact Development techniques or as complex as a small 
surface water treatment plant. Post Construction Runoff Control is a Best Management 
Practice (BMP) required of the County by the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination 
System (NPDES), Phase II. Allowances for such controls are hereby incorporated in the 
Technical Regulations. 

Sec. 50-248. Definitions. 
(a) The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings 

ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning. 
When language contained within the Winnebago County Unified Development Ordinance is 
referenced, and in conflict with this section, the language in this section shall be applied to the 
provisions of this ordinance. 

Accessory Structure means a structure located on the same lot with the principal building and is 
customarily incidental and subordinate to the use of the principal building. 
Administrator means the Winnebago County Engineer, or his/her designee. With regard to 
Construction Site Erosion and Sediment Control provisions of this Article and the Technical 
Regulations, on sites for which a building permit is required or pending, the term shall also include 
the Building Official of Winnebago County, and the Winnebago County Soil and Water Conservation 
District Executive Director, or his/her designee. 

Authority means any agency with regulatory powers, Winnebago County, for the purpose of this 
ordinance. 
Base flood means the flood having a one percent chance of being equaled or exceeded in any 
given year, also known as the 100-year flood. 
Base flood elevation (BFE) means the elevation in relation to mean sea level of the crest of the 
base flood. 



3 
 

Basement means that portion of a building having its floor sub-grade (below ground level) on all 
sides. 
Best Management Practices (BMP) means the primary method to manage stormwater runoff and 
mitigate pollution entering waterways. BMPs are tools, practices, and methods of stormwater 
management that control peak stormwater runoff rate, improve water quality, and manage runoff 
volume. (For additional guidance, see Section 1102 of the Technical Regulations.) 
Building means a walled and roofed structure, including gas or liquid storage tank, that is principally 
above ground, including manufactured homes, prefabricated buildings, mobile homes, and gas or 
liquid storage tanks. The term also includes recreational vehicles and travel trailers installed on a 
site for more than one hundred eighty (180) days per year. 
Certify or certification means formally attesting that the specific inspections and tests where 
required have been performed, and that such tests comply with the applicable requirements of this 
Ordinance. 

Clearing means any activity that removes vegetative ground cover. 
Concentrated Animal Feeding Operation (CAFO) means a Large CAFO pursuant to 35 Illinois 
Administrative Code 502.103. (https://www.ilsos.gov/departments/index/admincodindex.html) 
Control structure means a facility constructed to regulate the volume of stormwater runoff released 
during a specific length of time. 

County means the County of Winnebago, Illinois. 

County Board means the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois. 
Critical Facility means any facility which is critical to the health and welfare of the population and, 
if flooded, would create an added dimension to the disaster. Damage to these critical facilities can 
impact the delivery of vital services, can cause greater damage to other sectors of the community, 
or can put special populations at risk. 

Examples of critical facilities where flood protection should be required include: emergency 
services facilities (such as fire and police stations), schools, hospitals retirement homes and senior 
care facilities, major roads and bridges, critical utility sites (telephone switching stations or 
electrical transformers, and hazardous material storage facilities (chemicals, petrochemicals, 
hazardous or toxic substances). 

Development (see also Land Disturbing Activity) means any manmade change to improved or 
unimproved land, including, but not limited to, 

(1)  demolition, construction, reconstruction, repair, placement of a building, or any structural 
alteration to a building; 

(2)  substantial improvement of an existing building; 
(3)  installation of a mobile home or manufactured home on a site, preparing a site for a mobile 

home or manufactured home, or installing a travel trailer on a site for more than one 
hundred eighty (180) days per year;  

(4)  installation of utilities, construction of roads, bridges, culverts or similar projects; 
(5)  construction or erection of levees, dams, walls or fences; 
(6)  drilling, mining, filling, dredging, grading, excavating, paving, or other alterations of the 

ground surface; 
(7)  storage or manufacture of materials, chemicals or other substances in floodplains, 

including the placement of gas and liquid (other than water) storage tanks. This definition 
is further refined in the prohibition enumerated in section 50-249(d)(17), 

(8)  channel modifications or any other activity that might change the direction, height, or 
velocity of flood or surface waters. 

https://www.ilsos.gov/departments/index/admincodindex.html


4 
 

“Development” does not include routine maintenance of existing buildings and facilities, 
resurfacing roads, or gardening, plowing, and similar practices that do not involve filing, grading, 
or construction of levees. 

District means the Winnebago County Soil and Water Conservation District. 
Dry bottom stormwater storage area means a facility designed to be normally dry which 
accumulates excess stormwater only during periods when the restricted stormwater runoff release 
rate is less than the stormwater inflow rate. 
Elevating of a building or structure means a method of minimizing flood damage wherein the 
lowest completely and permanently enclosed floor of a building or structure must be raised above a 
specified level, safe from significant damage from the base flood. 
Engineer means the Winnebago County Engineer and person(s) designated by the County of 
Winnebago to review, approve, or enforce erosion and sediment control plans or storm water 
pollution prevention plans. 

Excavation means any act by which organic matter, earth, sand, gravel, rock or any similar material 
is cut into, dug, quarried, uncovered, removed, displaced, relocated or bulldozed, and shall include 
the conditions resulting therefrom. 
Existing grade means the vertical location of the existing ground surface prior to excavation or 
filling. 

Existing Mobile Home Park or Subdivision means a mobile home park or subdivision for which 
the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the mobile homes are to be affixed or 
buildings to be constructed (including, at a minimum, the installation of utilities, the construction of 
streets, and either final site grading or the pouring of concrete pads) is completed before the effective 
date of the floodplain management regulations adopted by a community. 
Expansion to an Existing Mobile Home Park or Subdivision means the preparation of additional 
sites by the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the mobile homes are to be affixed 
(including the installation of utilities, the construction of streets, and either final site grading or the 
pouring of concrete pads). 

FEMA means Federal Emergency Management Agency. 
Fill means earth, sand, gravel, rock or any other material which is deposited, placed, replaced, 
dumped, pushed, pulled, transported or removed by man to a new location, and shall include the 
condition resulting therefrom. 

Final grade means the vertical location of the ground or pavement surface after the grading work is 
completed in accordance with the site development plan. 
Flood or flooding means a general and temporary condition of partial or complete inundation of 
normally dry land areas from the overflow of inland waters, or the unusual and rapid accumulation 
of runoff of surface waters from any source. 
Flood Fringe means that portion of the floodplain outside of the regulatory floodway. 
Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) means a map prepared by the Federal Emergency Management 
Agency that depicts the floodplain or special flood hazard area (SFHA) within a community. This 
map includes insurance rate zones and may or may not depict floodways and show base flood 
elevations. For the purpose of this ordinance, the FIRM is that specified under the definition of 
Floodplain. 

Flood Insurance Study (FIS) means an examination, evaluation and determination of flood hazards 
and, if appropriate, corresponding water surface elevations. For the purpose of this ordinance, the 
FIS is that prepared for Winnebago County in companion with the FIRM. 



5 
 

Floodplain, Flood Hazard Area, and Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA) (These terms are 
synonymous, except SFHA is specific to FIRMs) means those lands within the unincorporated 
county that are subject to inundation by the base flood. The SFHAs of the county are generally 
identified as such on panel numbers 17201C0020D to 17201C0415D, inclusive, of the countywide 
Flood Insurance Rate Map of Winnebago County, Illinois, prepared by the Federal Emergency 
Management Agency and dated September 6, 2006, and as may be subsequently amended by 
FEMA. Floodplain also includes those areas of known or suspected and subsequently delineated 
flooding as identified by the county by observation or sound hydraulic and hydrologic principles. 

Floodproofing means any combination of structural or nonstructural additions, changes, or 
adjustments to structures which reduce or eliminate flood damage to real estate, property and their 
contents. 
Floodproofing Certificate means a form published by the Federal Emergency management 
agency that is used to certify that a building has been designed and constructed to be structurally 
dry flood proofed to the flood protection elevation. 
Flood Protection Elevation (FPE) means the elevation of the base flood plus one foot of freeboard 
at any given location in the floodplain. 
Floodway means that portion of the floodplain required to store and convey the base flood. The 
floodway for the floodplains shall be as delineated on the countywide Flood Insurance Rate Maps of 
the county prepared by FEMA and dated September 6, 2006, or as may be subsequently amended 
by FEMA. The floodways for each of the remaining floodplains of the county shall be according to 
the best data available from the Federal, State, or other sources. 

Freeboard means an increment of elevation added to the base flood elevation to provide a factor of 
safety for uncertainties in calculations, future watershed development, unknown localized 
conditions, wave actions and unpredictable effects such as those caused by ice or debris jams. 
Garage means a building, either attached or detached, used or designed to be used primarily for 
the parking and storage of vehicles. 

Grading means excavation or fill or any combination thereof and shall include the conditions 
resulting from any excavation or fill. 
Historic Structure means any structure that is: 

(1) Listed individually in the National Register of Historic Places or preliminarily determined 
by the Secretary of the Interior as meeting the requirements for individual listing on the 
National Register. 

(2) Certified or preliminarily determined by the Secretary of the Interior as contributing to the 
historic district or a district preliminarily determined by the Secretary to qualify as a 
registered historic district. 

(3) Individually listed on the state inventory of historic places by the Illinois Historic 
Preservation Agency. 

(4) Individually listed on a local inventory of historic places that has been certified by the Illinois 
Historic Preservation Agency. 

Hydric soil means a soil having a seasonal high-water table at or near the surface of the soil most 
of the year. 
Hydrophyte means a plant growing in water or in soil too saturated with water for most plants to 
survive. 

IDNR⁄OWR means Illinois Department of Natural Resources ⁄ Office of Water Resources. 
Impacted area means any parcel, or any portion of a parcel, within unincorporated Winnebago 
County, that includes a stormwater easement, a detention easement, drainage way, flood zone, 



6 
 

flood plain, or flood way, and plat provisions, and is affected by a natural or man-made event or 
action in such a way that is a violation of the provisions of this ordinance in its entirety. 
Impervious area means any hard-surfaced, compacted area that does not readily absorb or retain 
water, including but not limited to building roofs, asphalt and concrete surfaces, and graveled areas. 
Inspector means the person designated to review, approve, or enforce erosion and sediment control 
plans or storm water pollution prevention plans. 
Intermediate development means land disturbing activity that occurs on property of no less than 
25,000 square feet and less than one (1) acre, and is not a public road improvement or mining 
development. 
Landscape or Land disturbing activity means any grading, excavation or fill placement activity 
which, in any combination, affects an area of one acre or more; or that may discharge soil and 
erosion into, or affect the performance of, any stormwater conveyance system; or alters or has the 
potential to alter existing floodwater storage, conveyance or direction of flow. Gardening, crop 
farming and measures necessary to reestablish healthy soil-stabilizing vegetation are not landscape 
disturbing activities. 
Lot of record means an area of land designated as a lot of record or subdivision recorded pursuant 
to law. 
Lowest floor means the lowest floor of the lowest enclosed area, including the basement. An 
unfinished or flood-resistant enclosure usable solely for parking of vehicles, building access or 
storage, in an area other than a basement area, shall not be considered a building's lowest floor, 
provided that such enclosure is not built so as to render the structure in violation of the applicable 
flood hazard area requirements of this article. 
Major development means land disturbing activity great than 1 acre, that is not classified as a public 
road improvement, or mining development. 
Manufactured home means a building assembly or system of building sub-assemblies, designed 
for habitation as a dwelling for one (1) or more persons, including the necessary electrical, plumbing, 
heating, ventilating and other service systems, which is of closed or open construction and which is 
made or assembled by a manufacturer, on or off the building site, for installation, or assembly and 
installation, on the building site, with a permanent foundation. 
Manufactured home park or subdivision means a parcel or contiguous parcels of land divided 
into two or more manufactured home lots for rent or for sale. 

Market value means the full fair cash value of real property as determined by the purchase price a 
willing buyer and seller would arrive at in the open market. The full fair cash value of real property 
shall be presumed to be the equalized assessment of the property. 

Mining development means land disturbing activity that consists of extracting and/or mining 
material or aggregate resources. Activity is conducted upon a recorded parcel of land exceeding 2 
acres and involves the removal of 10 feet or more of overburden. 
Minor development means land disturbing activity that consists of hydrologic disturbance of less 
than 25,000 square feet and is not a public road improvement or mining development. 

Mobile home means  a single-family dwelling built on a permanent chassis designed for residential 
occupancy and containing complete electrical, plumbing, and sanitary facilities and designed to 
be installed in a permanent or semi-permanent manner with or without a permanent foundation, 
which is capable of being drawn over public highways as a unit, or in sections, and which is 
certified pursuant to the "National Manufactured Housing Construction and Safety Standards Act 
of 1974, 42 U.S.C. 5401 et seq., as amended. "Manufactured Homes" are not considered a "Mobile 
Home." Park model homes and the like which meet this definition are considered mobile homes. 



7 
 

For floodplain management purposes, the term "mobile home" also includes park trailers, travel 
trailers, and other similar vehicles placed on a site for greater than 180 consecutive days. 

Natural drainage means the existing runoff pattern of water on the ground surface prior to 
construction. 
New Construction means structures for which the start of construction commenced or after the 
effective date of floodplain management regulations adopted by a community and includes any 
subsequent improvements of such structures. 
New Mobile Home Park or Subdivision means a mobile home park or subdivision for which the 
construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the mobile homes are to be affixed or buildings 
to be constructed (including, at a minimum, the installation of utilities, the construction of streets, 
and either final site grading or the pouring of concrete pads) is completed on or after the effective 
date of the floodplain management regulations adopted by a community. 
NFIP means National Flood Insurance Program. 

Parcel means all contiguous land held in one ownership. 

Permitting authority means the County of Winnebago. 
Person means an individual, public or private corporation, government, partnership or 
unincorporated association. 
Planned development means any large-scale land development consisting of unconventional or 
creative lotting designs, ownership arrangements, land use patterns, land use mixes or other 
features uniquely permitted and regulated through the procedures identified for planned unit 
developments, planned community developments, or precise plan developments. 

Post Construction Runoff Control means runoff control(s) over quantity (rate or volume) of flow; 
or quality (presence of suspended solids, chemicals, or other materials) of surface water leaving a 
development after construction is completed. 
Positive gravity outlet means the drainage of an area in a manner that will ensure complete 
removal of all surface water by means of natural gravity. 

Principal use means the main permitted or intended use of land and/or buildings as distinguished 
from a subordinate or accessory use. 
Public road improvement means land disturbing activity that takes place in a public right-of-way 
or part thereof and does not include the construction of a building. Related construction includes, 
but is not limited to culverts, bridges, roadways, sidewalks, and bike paths. Public recreational trails 
and linear railroad developments shall be considered public road improvements with respect to the 
requirements of this Ordinance, even if the public recreation trail or linear railroad development is 
not located within a public right-of-way. 

Removal means cutting vegetation to the ground or stumps, complete extraction, or killing by 
spraying. 
Recreational Vehicle or Travel Trailer (see also, Mobile home) means a vehicle which is: 

(1) built on a single chassis; 
(2) four hundred (400) square feet or less in size; 
(3) designed to be self-propelled or permanently towable by a light duty truck and designed 

primarily not for use as a permanent dwelling but as temporary living quarters for 
recreational, camping, travel or seasonal use. 

Runoff means that portion of precipitation or irrigation on an area which does not infiltrate into the 
soils, but instead flows off the surface of the land. 



8 
 

Repetitive Loss means Flood related damages sustained by a structure on two separate occasions 
during a ten-year period for which the cost of repairs at the time of each such flood event on the 
average equals or exceeds twenty-five percent (25%) of the market value of the structure before the 
damage occurred. 
Sediment ⁄ Sedimentation means transported and deposited soil particles or aggregates, usually 
by wind or water. 

Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA) - See definition of floodplain. 
Shed means a relatively small accessory building often purchased pre-built or as a kit in pre-
fabricated sections. It is not designed to be served by heat, electricity, or plumbing and it is commonly 
not placed on a permanent foundation when under two hundred (200) square feet in area. A ‘shed’ 
is typically intended to store lawn, garden, or pool care equipment.  
Site means a lot or parcel of land, or a contiguous combination thereof, where construction activity 
is performed. 

Start of Construction includes substantial improvement and means the date the building permit 
was issued. This, provided the actual start of construction, repair, reconstruction, rehabilitation, 
addition placement or other improvement, was within one hundred eighty (180) days of the permit 
date. The actual start means either the first placement of permanent construction of a structure on 
a site, such as the pouring of slab or footings, the installation of piles, the construction of columns 
or any work beyond the stage of excavation or placement of a mobile home, or manufactured home 
on a foundation. For a substantial improvement, actual start of construction means the first alteration 
of any wall, ceiling, floor or other structural part of a building whether or not that alteration affects 
the external dimensions of the building. 
Storm Water Conveyance and Storage System means any river, stream, creek, brook, branch, 
flowage, ravine, or natural or artificial drainageway, lake, pond, wetland, roadway drainage, storm 
sewer, etc. in or into which surface or groundwater flows, either perennially or intermittently. 
Stripping means any activity that removes the vegetative surface cover including tree removal, 
clearing, and storage or removal of topsoil. 
Structure means anything erected, the use of which requires more or less permanent location on 
the ground or attached to something having a permanent location on the ground. A building, garage, 
shed, or a fence shall be considered a structure. 
Subdivision means any division of land into two or more parts, including transfers of land between 
adjacent property owners for the purpose of ownership transfer or future development. 
Substantial Damage means damage of any origin sustained by a structure whereby the cumulative 
percentage of damage during the life of the building equals or exceeds fifty percent (50%) of the 
market value of the structure before the damage occurred regardless of actual repair work 
performed. Volunteer labor and materials must be included in this determination. The term includes 
“Repetitive Loss Buildings” (see definition). 
Substantial Improvement means any reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition or improvement of a 
structure taking place during the life of the building in which the cumulative percentage of 
improvements equals or exceeds fifty percent (50%) of the market value of the structure before the 
improvement or repair is started, or increases the floor area by more than twenty percent (20%). 

“Substantial improvement” is considered to occur when the first alteration of any wall, ceiling, floor 
or other structural part of the building commences, whether or not that alteration affects the 
external dimensions of the structure. This term includes structures which have incurred repetitive 
loss or substantial damage, regardless of the actual repair work done. 
The term does not include: 



9 
 

(1)  Any project for improvement of a structure to comply with existing state or local health, 
sanitary, or safety code specifications which are solely necessary to assure safe living 
conditions, or 

(2)  Any alteration of a structure listed on the National Register of Historic Places or the Illinois 
Register of Historic Places. 

Traditional agricultural use means a use commonly classed as agricultural or horticultural, 
including forestry, crop farming, truck gardening, wholesale nursery operations, animal husbandry, 
the operation of any machinery or vehicles incidental to such uses, and the construction of single-
family dwellings and other farm structures associated with such uses.  

The term does not include uses such as grain storage and processing, feed and fertilizer 
manufacture and processing, farm machinery repair or sales, Concentrated Animal Feeding 
Operations, or other similar agri-businesses which increase the size of paved or compacted areas 
by more than 25,000 square feet (cumulative) causing significant or measurable increases in 
stormwater runoff. 

Technical regulations mean the Winnebago County Surface Water Management Technical 
Regulations, which are adopted by the County to specify the details of compliance with the scope of 
this Ordinance. While this Ordinance contains these definitions and establishes county policy, 
administrative matters, and legal foundation, the Technical Regulations, still a public document, 
requires measurements, planning and execution by engineers, architects, surveyors, or other 
certified or qualified persons, not the general public. Technical regulations may also be more subject 
to amendment as better methods are documented or environmental standards grow stricter. 

Tributary watershed means the entire catchment area that contributes stormwater runoff to a given 
point. 
Vacant means land on which there are no structures or only structures which are secondary to the 
use or maintenance of the land itself. 
Violation means the failure of a structure or other development to be fully compliant with the county's 
surface water management regulations. A structure or other development without the required 
federal, state, and/or local permits and elevation certification is presumed to be in violation until such 
time as the documentation is provided. 
Waste means an unwanted byproduct of the developing ⁄ building process including construction-
generated litter. 

Wetland means areas where water covers the soil, or is present either at or near the surface of the 
soil all year or for varying periods of time during the year, including during the growing season. For 
purposes of this classification wetlands must have one or more of the following three attributes: (1) 
at least periodically, the land supports predominantly hydrophytes; (2) the substrate is predominantly 
undrained hydric soil; and (3) the substrate is nonsoil and is saturated with water or covered by 
shallow water at some time during the growing season of the year (US Fish & Wildlife Service). 
Wet bottom stormwater storage area means a facility that contains a body of water and which 
accumulates excess stormwater during periods when the restricted stormwater runoff release rate 
is less than the stormwater inflow rate. 
(b) Words not defined in this section shall be interpreted in accordance with definitions contained in 

Merriam Webster Online Dictionary. 
Sec. 50-249. Administration. 

(a)  Administration of this article shall be the responsibility of the Administrator, who shall have 
authority to perform all duties enumerated in this section. The Administrator shall develop and 
maintain a familiarity with all state and federal laws related to floodplain management and 
drainage, including section 404 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act of 1972 and 



10 
 

subsequent amendments thereto (33 USC 1251); and Statewide Permits issued by IDNR⁄OWR. 
The Administrator shall not issue a permit with respect to this article until clearance necessary 
from the respective state and federal agencies is obtained. No development or activity within an 
impacted area regulated by this article, shall commence in any area known or suspected to be 
inundated by the base flood without prior written approval from the Administrator in accordance 
with the requirements of this article. 
(1) Interpretation of terms and words. The words ‘shall’, ‘will’, and ‘must’ are mandatory, not 

permissive. Definitions of terms specific to this ordinance are contained in Section 50-248. 

(b)  The Administrator may appoint any individuals or organizations to act in whole or part under this 
authority. The Administrator shall have appropriate assistance from the zoning officer, the 
building officer, the plats officer and officials of the county health department. These officials 
shall assist and cooperate with the Administrator in the administration of this article, and shall 
notify the Administrator regarding any official actions which may fall under the jurisdiction of this 
article and any suspected violations of this article. 

(c)  The officials mentioned in subsection (b) of this section shall familiarize themselves with this 
article, with particular attention to the areas and activities regulated by this article, and shall refer 
all requests for permits for such activities made to their respective offices to the Administrator 
for approval according to this article. After November 13, 1980, no zoning clearance, building 
permit, or plat or subdivision approval shall be issued by the zoning officer, building official or 
plats officer for a development activity or land subdivision in a known or suspected base flood 
area until the proposed use, structure, development, subdivision or activity is approved by the 
Administrator. All requests for well permits, onsite waste disposal systems and onsite waste 
processing systems within the county shall be submitted in writing to the Administrator for review. 

(d)  The Administrator shall enforce the provisions of this article, and for that purpose shall have the 
following additional powers and duties to: 

(1) Require that a permit or clearance be obtained prior to any new use or improvement of 
land, property, or impacted area subject to the base flood, including, but not limited to, 
the placement of fill and landscape grading; the Administrator shall review and examine 
all applications for such permits to ensure compliance with the provisions of this article. 
This work shall include: 

a.   Comparison of the elevation of the site to the base flood elevation. Any 
development or land disturbing activity located on land that can be shown by 
survey data to be higher than the current base flood elevation and which has not 
been filled after the date of the site's first Flood Insurance Rate Map is not in the 
floodplain and therefore not subject to the requirements of this ordinance. 
Conversely, any development or land disturbing activity located on land shown to 
be below the base flood elevation and hydraulically connected, but not shown on 
the current Flood Insurance Rate Map, is subject to the provisions of this 
ordinance. 

b.   With reference to the above paragraph, maintenance of any documentation of the 
existing ground elevation at the development site or within the impacted area and 
certification that this ground elevation existed prior to the date of the site's first 
Flood Insurance Rate Map identification. 

(2) Review each plan and determine its conformance with all provisions of this ordinance, 
and within thirty days after receiving the plan, and shall in writing: 

a.   approve the plan if it is found to be in conformance with the provisions of this 
ordinance; 

b.   approve the plan subject to such reasonable conditions as may be necessary to 
secure substantially the objectives of this ordinance; or 



11 
 

c.   disapprove the plan, indicating the deficiencies and the procedure for submitting a 
revised plan. 

Approval shall not be issued for an intended development site or impacted area unless: 
i. The development or impacted area, including but not limited to subdivisions 

and planned unit development, has been approved by the County of 
Winnebago where applicable, or 

ii. The proposed development or impacted area is coordinated with any overall 
development program previously approved by the County of Winnebago for 
the area in which the site is situated; and 

iii. All relevant federal and state permits (e.g., for floodplains and wetlands) have 
been received for the portion of the site subject to soil disturbance. 

(3) Collect any fees which may be established by the County Board, issue permits or other 
certificates indicating compliance with this article and keep permanent records thereof; 

(4) Conduct inspections of buildings, structures, lands and uses, including substantial 
damage determinations, as are necessary to determine compliance with this article; such 
inspections may be made by the building official or inspector in conjunction with normal 
building or construction inspections; 

(5) Receive, file and forward as necessary all applications pertaining to this article; 

(6) Initiate, direct and review from time to time the provisions of this article and make 
recommendations to the county board as necessary; 

(7) Initiate amendments to this article as may be necessary to comply with changes in the 
National Flood Insurance Program or state floodplain management requirements; and 
cooperate with federal and state agencies to coordinate base flood data and to improve 
the administration of this ordinance. 

(8) Revoke permits, certificates of compliance and post stop work orders where the 
provisions of this article are being violated; 

(9) Require or conduct elevation surveys and monumentation as necessary to ensure 
compliance; 

(10) Issue notices of violation when necessary and take further action as specified in this 
article to obtain compliance; 

(11) Provide and maintain public information relative to all matters arising out of this article; 
and for that purpose, retain plans, specifications, and reports for all developments and 
impacted areas. Annually publish informational material advising property owners on 
threats, hazards and vulnerabilities; 

(12) Issue orders preventing the occupation or use of any land, building or structure which has 
been constructed or modified in violation of the terms of this article; 

(13) Issue orders to initiate and carry out corrective measures where a violation of the terms 
of this article has placed other properties in peril; 

(14) Maintain records of all official actions taken under this article; and: 
a. Provide the county board, the state department of transportation, the division of 

water resources, and the Federal Insurance Administration with an annual report 
of flood hazard area activities on forms provided by the Federal Insurance 
Administration. 

b. Require and maintain records of lowest floor elevations, floodproofing 
certifications, variance documents and other records required by the Federal 
Insurance Administration. 



12 
 

c. Maintain a record of the lowest floor elevations in flood hazard areas of all new 
structures or substantial improvements of structures constructed after November 
19, 1980. These floor elevations shall be available to the public. 

d. Maintain the records of all proceedings and actions of the board taken in 
connection with this article. 

e. Notify the Federal Insurance Administration, as part of the annual report, of all 
variances granted. 

(15) As applicable to their jurisdiction: notify IDNR⁄OWR and any neighboring communities 
prior to any alteration or relocation of a watercourse. 

(16) Maintain the accuracy of floodplain maps including notifying IDNR⁄OWR and/or submitting 
information to FEMA within six months whenever a modification of the floodplain may 
change the base flood elevation or result in a change to the floodplain map. 

(17) Prohibit the storage or manufacture of materials, chemicals or other substances in 
floodplains, including: 

a. the placement of gas and liquid (other than water) storage tanks, 
b. water-soluble chemicals, 
c. materials which are buoyant, 
d. pesticides, herbicides, and fertilizers, 
e. radioactive materials, 
f. grain or other storage of materials or substances which can be easily damaged by 

floodwaters, and 
g. the storage of any other chemical or substance in large or small amounts which, 

in the judgment of the Administrator, has the potential to pollute floodwaters, impair 
flood flows, or increase the damage hazard to other property owners upstream or 
downstream. 
Except that the types of storage or manufacture which are exempted are: 
i. storage or manufacture which is floodproofed to withstand a flood exceeding 

the base flood by one foot; 
ii. the storage of gasoline, oil and other substances necessary in the operation 

and maintenance of marine craft and watercraft; and 
iii. storage or manufacture existing prior to November 30, 1980, for a period of 

three years from November 30, 1980. Thereafter, these items shall be 
removed or floodproofed to withstand a flood exceeding the base flood by one 
foot. However, in any case where the preexisting storage or manufacture of a 
prohibited and not otherwise exempted substance is abandoned or ceased for 
a period of three consecutive months, then neither that activity nor any similar 
prohibited activity shall be reestablished, except in conformance with this 
article. 

Sec. 50-250. Enforcement & Penalties. 
The Administrator shall be the official primarily responsible for the enforcement of this article. The 
Administrator shall serve notice of a violation of this article on the owner or his authorized agent, a 
tenant, architect, builder, contractor or other person who commits or participates in any violation. The 
administrator may request the state's attorney to institute legal proceedings necessary to enforce this 
article or prevent or remedy any violations thereof. He/she may also request the assistance of the 
county sheriff's department in enforcing this article. 



13 
 

(a)  It shall be unlawful for any person to violate, disobey, omit, neglect, or refuse to comply with, 
or to resist enforcement of, any provision of this Ordinance, or variance required by this 
Ordinance. 

(b)  It shall be unlawful under this article for any applicant or person to submit any inaccurate plans, 
plats or other documents to the Administrator or other office involved in the enforcement of this 
article. 

(c)  Stop-work order; In the event any person holding an approved erosion and sediment control 
plan, or development permit, pursuant to this ordinance violates the terms of the approval, or 
carries on site development in such a manner as to materially adversely affect the health, 
welfare, or safety of persons residing or working in the neighborhood of the development site or 
so as to be materially detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to property or improvements 
in the neighborhood, the County of Winnebago may suspend or revoke  approved construction 
activity including, but not limited to: any and all building permits, grading activity, road 
construction, or other construction related activities until such time the approved erosion and 
sediment control plan, or conditions of the development permit are satisfactorily implemented 
and/or maintained. 

(d)  Enforcement of violations of an approved plan and/or within any impacted area shall be by a 
written stop-work order issued by the County of Winnebago and delivered to the permittee or his 
agent or the person performing the work. The stop-work order shall be effective immediately, 
shall state the specific violation cited, and shall state the conditions under which work may be 
resumed. Failure to follow an approved erosion and sediment control plan may be just cause to 
permanently suspend or revoke authorized construction activity or building permit. 

(e)  It shall be unlawful for the person owning or exercising control over any property, or development 
thereon, to permit or allow that property, or any development thereon, or any condition thereof, 
to violate, or remain in violation of, any provision of this Ordinance, or fail to comply with, abide 
by or satisfactorily complete any condition of any variance granted to, or issued for, that property 
or development.  

(f)   It shall be unlawful for any person to continue any work on a property after having been served 
with a stop work order issued pursuant to Sec. 50-250 (c), except such work as that person is 
directed, or authorized, to perform by the Administrator necessary to remove a violation having 
a temporary impact or to abate an unsafe condition.  

(g)  Inspection and Maintenance Authority. Pursuant to the authority granted by 55 ILCS 5/5-1104, 
the County may, after thirty (30) days written notice to the owner or occupant, in a non-
emergency situation enter upon any lands or waters within the County for the purpose of 
inspecting or maintaining stormwater facilities or causing the removal of any obstruction to an 
affected watercourse. Such Notice to be mailed to the last known address of each owner. The 
cost to the enforcing authority for any and all action taken as a result of the notice, is a lien 
upon the property, and the enforcing authority may take all steps to make such lien of record. 

(h)  The Administrator may require the person to apply for an “after-the-fact” stormwater 
management permit, including any and all supporting documentation required thereto, for any 
unpermitted, unauthorized regulated development, disturbance, or impact. 

(i)   The Administrator may require the development site or impacted area to be fully restored to its 
condition existing prior to the violation. If it is not feasible or practical to fully restore the 
development site or impacted area to the condition existing prior to the violation, the Enforcement 
Officer may allow the development site or impacted area to be restored to a condition that 
increases flood storage or decreases stormwater runoff compared to the condition existing prior 
to the violation. 

(j)   The Administrator may take other legal action including but not limited to a temporary restraining 
order and other preliminary or permanent injunctive relief necessary to prevent further harm or 



14 
 

violation and/or remedy any harm or violation that has already occurred, and if applicable require 
removal, correction, remediation and/or mitigation for said harm and violation. In addition to any 
fine or other relief, all costs and expenses, including reasonable attorney’s fees incurred, may 
be recovered. 

(k)  The Administrator may, after notice is sent to the owner(s) of the parcel(s) upon which the 
violation is located, record the complaint filed, the notice of violation or any stop work order 
against the property at the Winnebago County Recorder of Deeds Office. 

(l)   No person shall construct, enlarge, alter, repair, or maintain any grading, excavation or fill, or 
develop in an impacted area, floodplain, drainage way, or stormwater easement, or cause the 
same to be done, contrary to or in violation of any terms of the ordinance, recorded plat of survey, 
or recorded subdivision plat. If necessary, the performance bond filed by the applicant may be 
forfeited to the County of Winnebago to cover the cost of repairs. Any person violating any of 
the Erosion and Sediment Control provisions of this ordinance shall not be awarded a Certificate 
of Occupancy from the County until violations have been corrected. 

(m) With respect to floodplain violations, the county shall record a notice of violation on the title of 
the property; and the Administrator shall inform the owner that any such violation is considered 
a willful act to increase flood damages and therefore may cause coverage by a Standard Flood 
Insurance Policy to be suspended. 

(n)  Penalty. Failure to comply with any of the requirements of this article shall constitute a petty 
offense, and any person, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined not less than $25.00 nor more 
than $500.00 for each offense. Each day the violation continues shall be considered a separate 
and distinct offense for which the violator may be subject to the penalties of this section. 

Sec. 50-251. Disclaimer of liability. 
The degree of protection required by this ordinance is considered reasonable for regulatory purposes 
and is based on available information derived from engineering and scientific methods of study. Larger 
floods may occur or flood heights may be increased by man-made or natural causes. This ordinance 
does not imply that development either inside or outside of the floodplain will be free from flooding or 
damage. This ordinance does not create liability on the part of the county or any officer or employee 
thereof for any flood damage that results from proper reliance on this ordinance or any administrative 
decision made lawfully thereunder. 

Sec. 50-252. Applicability and Severability. 
When this article imposes a greater restriction than those imposed or required by the provisions of 
existing ordinances or rules and regulations, this article shall control. When the provisions of existing 
ordinances or rules and regulations impose greater restrictions than those imposed or required by this 
article, they shall control. 
The provisions and sections of this ordinance shall be deeded to separable, and the invalidity of any 
portion of this ordinance shall not affect the validity of the remainder. 

Sec. 50-253. Administrative Review Act. 
The Administrative Review Act, 735 ILCS 5⁄3-101 et seq., shall not be applicable to this article. 
 

Sec. 50-254. General requirements. 
In general, all land disturbing activity and development located within the county and without any city, 
village or incorporated town are regulated in accordance with Section 50-247, Purpose and Scope of 
this Article, with particular note of definitions, exceptions, and the adoption of Technical Regulations, 



15 
 

which govern specifics of compliance. No land disturbing activity or development may be sanctioned 
by issuance of building permits, recording of subdivision or plats of land, or otherwise officially 
authorized without meeting the approval of the Administrator. Also, generally: 

(a) Interpretation. This Ordinance shall be liberally construed to protect the health, welfare, safety, 
and the environment of the residents of the County and to effectuate the purposes of this 
Ordinance and the enabling legislation.  

(1) Nothing contained in this Ordinance shall be deemed to consent to, license, permit to 
locate, construct, or maintain any structure, site, facility or operation, or to carry on any 
trade, industry, occupation, or activity.  

(2) Interpretation of technical provisions of this Ordinance shall be made by the 
Administrator. 

(b) Any land disturbing activity and development shall be regulated in accordance with the base 
flood standard, which is indicated in the definition of Floodplain in Section 50-248. Base Flood 
elevations shall be in accordance with the FIS, or FIRM; or, if in dispute, the applicant shall 
provide better data and submit it to the FEMA and IDNR⁄OWR for approval prior to any 
development of the site. If data is needed beyond the scope of the FIS, the applicant shall 
provide engineering analysis acceptable to the Administrator. In floodplains within the county, 
no person, property owner, builder or contractor shall commence any of the activities listed in 
this subsection in any known or suspected flood hazard area without prior clearance and written 
approval from the Administrator or his delegate: 

(1) Construction of new structures of any type; 
(2) Substantial improvement of existing structures; 
(3) Any improvement to existing structures in a floodway; 
(4) Placement of mobile homes; 
(5) Placement or storage of chemicals, substances, debris or other materials; 
(6) Design and construction of any type of planned development as designed; 
(7) Construction, expansion, repair or reconstruction of a mobile home park; 
(8) Landscape disturbing activities; 
(9) Watercourse modifications on any stream, tributary or drainageway regardless of 

contributing watershed size; 
(10) Any subdivision or redivision of land, including transfers between adjacent property 

owners, regardless of the size or acreage of the property;  
(11) Placement or replacement of wells, water supply systems, sanitary sewer facilities, and 

onsite waste disposal or processing systems; and 
(12) Land disturbing activity that results in: 

a. Unreasonable new or additional expense to any person other than the applicant 
for flood protection or for lost environmental stream uses and functions attributable 
to the activity; 

b. Unreasonable increase in elevations or decrease flood conveyance capacity 
upstream or downstream of the area; 

c. Violate any provision of this Ordinance either during or after construction; and  
d. Unreasonably or unnecessarily degrades surface or ground water quality. 

(c) Within all areas designated as base flood hazard areas and within all areas known or reasonably 
suspected to be subject to the base flood, the Administrator shall require from applicant’s 
information sufficient to ensure compliance with this article. 

(d) For purposes of this article, changes in flood elevations or changes in discharges, within the 
limits of modeling tolerance allowed in this Ordinance shall be deemed acceptable. 



16 
 

(e) For Erosion and Sediment Control: 
Except as otherwise provided in this ordinance, no person shall commence or perform any land 
disturbing activity, including but not limited to clearing, grading, stripping, excavating, or filling of 
land which meets the following provisions without having first obtained approval for a complete 
set of Engineering Drawings, including a detailed erosion and sediment control plan to the 
County of Winnebago for review by the Engineer. 

The management practices, controls, and other provisions contained in the erosion and 
sediment control plan must be at least as protective as the requirements contained in the Illinois 
Urban Manual-A Technical Manual for Urban Ecosystem Protection Enhancement, as amended, 
prepared by the U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. 

If the applicant is required to comply with the requirements of a Phase II, NPDES permit, 
submittal of a copy of the Notice of Intent (NOI), copy of the Illinois Department of Natural 
Resources Consultation Agency Action Report, and the approved Storm Water Pollution 
Prevention Plan (SWPPP) to the Administrator, a minimum of 30 calendar days before the 
planned commencement of construction will be accepted in lieu of an Erosion and Sediment 
Control Plan. This requirement shall contain the following requested in this Ordinance. 
(1) Any land disturbing activity (i.e., clearing, grading, stripping, excavation, fill, offsite borrow 

areas, or any combination thereof) that will affect an area greater than or equal to one acre; 
(2) Any land disturbing activity that may discharge soil and erosion into any storm water 

conveyance system; 
(3) The County of Winnebago reserves the right to require any non-agricultural, construction 

development activity, or land disturbing activity regardless of area or type of activity, to 
comply with this Ordinance if it is determined to be causing or contributing to existing or 
potential new erosion of soil or otherwise impacting the performance of an existing storm 
water conveyance system. 

Exceptions are listed in Sec. 50-247(b)(1)a. 
(f) For building protection: 

Within the boundary of the regulatory floodplain, all usable space in new buildings, or added to 
existing buildings, shall either be elevated, floodproofed, or otherwise protected such that the 
lowest entry shall be at least one foot above the nearest base flood elevation to prevent the entry 
of surface stormwater.  Floodproofing devices shall be operational without human intervention. 
If electricity is required for protection against flood damage, there shall be a backup power 
source which   will   activate   without   human   intervention.  Floodproofing measures shall be 
certified by a Professional Engineer. 

All usable space in new buildings or added to existing buildings, shall be elevated, floodproofed, 
or otherwise protected to at least one foot above the design elevation to prevent the entry of 
surface stormwater.  

For all other building protection standards please refer to the Technical Regulations related to 
this ordinance. 

Sec. 50-255. Permits required. 
The following are general, typically minimum requirements. Requirements for meeting specific 
aspects of floodplain, stormwater detention, construction site erosion and sediment controls, and post 
construction runoff controls are given in the Technical Requirements. It is the intent, as far as possible, 
to combine applications and documentation of compliance, including a single site development and 
erosion control plan showing floodplains, and temporary and permanent erosion control measures. 



17 
 

(a) Required. A surface water management permit shall be required before beginning or continuing 
any land disturbing activity or development if such activity is subject to any of the provisions of 
this article. 

(b) Phasing. In order to preclude inappropriate phasing of development to circumvent the intent of 
this Ordinance, the requirements of this Ordinance shall apply to all regulated development 
within the contiguous property, unless waived by the Administrator 

(c) Forms; fee; contents of application. Application to the Administrator for a surface water 
management permit shall be made by the owner, or his authorized agent, on forms provided by 
the Administrator, and shall be accompanied by a fee according to a schedule established by 
the County Board. 

(1) The permit application shall contain, at minimum: 
a. The name of the owner; 
b. The location and description of the development; 
c. A statement by the applicant that he understands his obligations under this 

article; and 
d. The signature of the applicant. 

(2) When the proposed land disturbing activity or development is classified as Major (see 
Definitions) in extent, including, but not limited to, land subdivisions or planned 
developments; commercial, industrial or institutional sites; or construction or substantial 
improvement in a flood hazard area, the Administrator shall, in addition, where applicable, 
require the following: 

a.   Prior review of preliminary plans and tentative plats; 
b.   An estimated cost of project or improvements prepared by a licensed engineer 

architect or contractor; and a bond, letter of credit, certified check or other such 
suitable guarantee to ensure the completion of any facilities required by this article; 

c.    A plan for the responsibility of maintaining drainage ditches, stormwater storage 
areas, erosion and sediment control measures, and other facilities required in this 
section. 
i. Acceptable plans for maintenance shall specify which persons shall have the 

following responsibilities: Construction, on-site, and permanent function 
maintenance. 

ii. Acceptance plans for maintenance may include the following: 
(a) Agreements with units of local government or school districts; and 
(b) Agreements with individual property owners or property owners’ 

association, provided that the face of any final plat makes reference to 
the agreement and that a restrictive covenant running with the land be 
imposed on all affected property; and 

d.   Information showing how the land disturbing activity or development will comply 
with the general intent and technical requirements of this article, such as: 

i. A site development plan; which shall include, as a minimum: 
(a) a scaled drawing of the site, showing property lines and existing and 

proposed grade elevations or contours, 
(b) the location of all existing buildings and proposed additions or new 

buildings with the elevation of the lowest floor (including basement) of 
such proposals within flood hazard areas. 



18 
 

ii.  Any supplemental information necessary for the Administrator to evaluate the 
site’s compliance with the requirements of this article; and 

iii.  An estimated schedule of development phases. 

(d) Terms and Extensions.  

(1) The term of surface water management permit shall be from the issue date to the expiration 
date, as follows: 

a. The lesser of 2 years or the term of the building permit for Minor developments 
and public road improvements. 

b. The lesser of 3 years or the term of the building permit for Major developments. 
c. The lesser of 10 years or the term of the special use permit for Mining 

Development. 
(2) A permit extension may be requested in writing by the applicant if the land disturbing 

activity is not completed within the term of the surface water management permit. The 
Administrator may extend the permit for the time periods listed below. Permit extension 
requests may not be made prior to 90 days of the permit expiration date. 

a. The permit term for Minor Developments, Public Road Developments may be 
extended for 6 months at a time. 

b. The permit term for Major Developments and Mining Developments may be 
extended for 12 months at a time. 

(3) The Administrator may amend or add special conditions to the permit at the time of the 
extension, such as updating the terms of a performance guarantee by revising the 
estimated cost to complete construction. 

(4) A surface water management permit shall be terminated without the possibility of an 
extension if the actual start of construction is not commenced within 180 days after the 
issue date of the surface water management permit and if any activity related to a building 
authorized by the surface water management permit is not in compliance with the most 
recent version of: 

a. The FIS; 
b. The FIRM; 
c. The NFIP regulations; and 
d. The Flood Hazard Areas Performance Standards of this Ordinance. 

(5) A stormwater management permit may be terminated during its term or a permit extension 
may be denied for reasons including, but not limited to: 

a. Noncompliance with any condition of the permit; 
b. The applicant’s failure to disclose fully all relevant facts in the application process 

or the applicant's misrepresentation of any relevant facts at any time; 
c. The regulated development is not commenced within 2 years after the issue date 

of the surface water management permit; 
d. The regulated development is suspended or abandoned for a period of 6 months 

after commencing the land disturbing activity. 

(e) Permit Conditions. 

(1) Special Conditions may be added to a permit by the Administrator to clarify the purpose or 
authorization granted by the surface water management permit. Special conditions may 
also specify other restrictions and constraints of the land disturbing activity. 



19 
 

(2) Development plans bearing the approval stamp of the Administrator shall be retained 
at the development site throughout the duration of construction activities. 

(3) A deed or plat restriction required as part of a surface water management permit shall 
not be modified without the approval of the Administrator. 

Sec. 50-256.  Surface Water Management Fee Schedule. 
Unless otherwise waived pursuant to Sec. 50-247 (2) a. of this Ordinance, all applications for permits 
pursuant to this Ordinance shall be accompanied by fees set forth in the ‘Surface Water Management 
Fee Schedule’ attached to this Ordinance as Appendix 1. Said fees may be amended from time to 
time by the Winnebago County Board by amending this Ordinance. The County Engineer may, at the 
County Engineer’s discretion, waive any fees imposed by this Article IV. Of Chapter 50 of the 
Winnebago County code if the fees are for a permit application by another state or municipal agency 
within the County of Winnebago, Illinois. A copy of Appendix 1 is available at the Winnebago County 
Highway Department, 424 North Springfield Avenue, Rockford, Illinois, 61101. 

Sec. 50-257, and 50-258. Reserved. 

Sec. 50-259. Variances.  
Whenever the standards of this ordinance place undue hardship on a specific development proposal, 
the applicant may apply to the County Board for a variance. The Administrator shall review the 
applicant's request for a variance and shall submit his recommendation to the County Board. The 
County Board may attach such conditions to granting of a variance as it deems necessary to further 
the intent of this ordinance. 

(a) A public hearing is required for a variance petition that affects adjoining properties or has the 
potential to affect adjoining properties, as determined by the Administrator. 

(1) Application requirements   
a. Name and address of petitioner and professional consultants, if any 
b. Legal description and PIN of subject parcel 
c. Description of impacted area 
d. Identification of each Ordinance provision for which a variance is requested, 

including plans and calculations, 
e. Supporting documentation deemed necessary by the Administrator. 

(b) No variance shall be granted unless the applicant demonstrates that all of the following 
standards are met: 

(1) If within a floodplain, the development activity cannot be located outside the floodplain. 
(2) An exceptional hardship would result if the variance were not granted. 
(3) The relief requested is the minimum necessary. 
(4) There will be no additional threat to public health, public safety, destruction of beneficial 

stream uses and functions including, aquatic habitat, causation of fraud on or victimization 
of the public, conflict with existing local laws or ordinances, or creation of a nuisance. 

(5) There will be no additional public expense for flood protection, rescue or relief operations, 
policing, lost environmental stream uses and functions, repairs to streambeds and banks, 
or repairs to roads, utilities, or other public facilities. 

(6) The circumstances of the property are unique and do not establish a pattern inconsistent 
with the intent of these regulations, NPDES, or NFIP.  



20 
 

(7) Good and sufficient cause has been shown that the unique characteristics of the size, 
configuration, or topography of the site renders the requirements of this ordinance 
inappropriate. 

(8) All other state and federal permits have been obtained. 

(c) If the requirements of the building protections standards of Section 207 of the Technical 
Regulations would lessen the degree of protection to a building, the Administrator shall notify an 
applicant in writing that a variance will: 

(1) Result in increased premium rates for flood insurance up to twenty-five dollars ($25) per 
one hundred dollars ($100) of insurance coverage; 

(2) increase the risk to life and property, and 
(3) require that the applicant proceed with knowledge of these risks and that the applicant 

acknowledge in writing the assumption of the risk and liability. 

(d) Variances to the building protection requirements of Section 207 of the Technical Regulations 
which are requested in connection with reconstruction, repair, or alteration of a historic site or 
historic structure as defined in “Historic Structures”, may be granted using criteria more 
permissive than the requirements of Sections 206 and 207 of this Ordinance subject to the 
conditions that: 

(1) The repair or rehabilitation is the minimum necessary to preserve the historic character 
and design of the structure. 

(2) The repair or rehabilitation will not result in the structure being removed as a certified 
historic structure. 

Secs. 50-260--50-280. Reserved. 
 

 

 

END OF ORDINANCE 

 

 



1 
 

   {The following sections 100 through 900 were adopted May 23, 2006, by the Winnebago County Board as part of 
the Amendment to Article IV Surface Water Management, of the County Code.} 

Winnebago County 
Surface Water Management 

Technical Regulations 
 

100 . . Introduction 

200 . . Floodplain Regulations 

300 . . Stormwater Detention Regulations 
400 . . Post Construction Runoff Quantity Controls 

500 . . Reserved 
600 . . Construction Site Erosion and Sediment Control 

700 . . Post Construction Runoff Quality Controls 

800 . . Reserved  

900 . . Reserved 

1000 . Surface Water Management Guidance 
 

100 . Introduction 
The Surface Water Management Ordinance establishes the policies and objectives adopted by the 
Winnebago County Board for surface water management. The Ordinance also includes a common 
location, Section 50-248, of definitions, and other sections covering administrative procedures and 
legal foundation. These Surface Water Technical Regulations further define much of the specific 
criteria by which plans and implementations shall be judged to meet the policies and objectives. They, 
too, are adopted by the Winnebago County Board, except that Section 1000 and beyond is for 
Guidance that may be established, and revised as appropriate, by the Administrator. (See Sec. 1000 
for refinement.) 

 
200 . Floodplain Regulations 

201 . Introduction 
202 to 205 . Blank 
206 . Section 6. Preventing Increased Flood Heights and Resulting Damages 
207 . Section 7. Protecting Buildings 
208 . Section 8. Subdivision Requirements 
209 . Section 9. Public Health and Other Standards 
210 . Section 10. Carrying Capacity and Notification 
 
201 . Introduction 
These Regulations are taken directly from the Illinois Sample Flood Damage Prevention 
Ordinance (IDNR⁄OWR, as amended), sections 6 thru 10. Those who are familiar with this model 
ordinance will have little difficulty in navigating the section numbers for citation--though should note 
some qualifications for section 6. The standard definitions of Section 2 of the model ordinance are 
incorporated, as amended in sec. 50-248 of the Surface Water Management Ordinance. Similarly, 
that ordinance also contains the policy statements, administrative assignments, and legal framework 
that are partially unique to each jurisdiction, while maintaining the required minimum standards of 44 
CFR 60.3(d). 



2 
 

 
 
 
206 . Section 6. Preventing Increased Flood Heights and Resulting Damages 
Within any floodway identified on the countywide Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM), and within all 
other floodplains where a floodway has not been delineated, the following standards shall apply:  

A.  Except as provided in Section 6(B) of this regulation, no development shall be allowed which, 
acting in combination with existing and anticipated development will cause any increase in flood 
heights or velocities or threat to public health and safety. The following specific development 
activities shall be considered as meeting this requirement: 

1. Bridge and culvert crossings of streams in rural areas meeting the following conditions of 
the Illinois Department of Natural Resources, Office of Water Resources Statewide Permit 
Number 2: 

a. The crossing shall be designed such that it will not result in an increase in water 
surface profile elevation in excess of 1.0 feet over the natural condition for any 
frequency flow up to and including the 100-year frequency flood; and 

b. The crossing shall be designed such that it will not result in an increase in water 
surface profile elevation in excess of one half (0.5) feet over the natural condition 
at a point one thousand (1,000) feet upstream of the proposed structure (as 
determined by the horizontal projection of the maximum created head and the 
slope of the hydraulic grade line) for any frequency flood up to and including the 
100-year frequency flood; and 

c. There are no buildings or structures in the area impacted by the increases in water 
surface profile. 

d. For a replacement culvert or bridge crossing: 
i. The crossing shall be designed so that there will be no increase in backwater 

over the existing conditions, or 
ii. The crossing shall be designed so that it complies with the water surface 

profile increases listed in a., b., and c.; and 
iii. A registered professional engineer shall determine and document that the 

existing structure has not been the cause of demonstrable flood damage. 
Such documentation shall include, at a minimum, confirmation that: 

• No buildings or structures have been impacted by the backwater 
induced by the existing crossing; and 

• There is no record of complaints of flood damages associated with the 
existing crossing. 

e. The proposed bridge or culvert crossing, whether new or replacement, must not 
involve straightening, enlargement, or relocation of the existing channel of the river 
or stream. The excavation of the channel and/or overbank necessary for the 
effective hydraulic  performance of the culvert or bridge or removal of debris from 
the river or stream is not considered straightening, enlargement or relocation. Any 
excavation of the overbank incorporated into the design of the bridge or culvert 
crossing to meet the terms of 1 a-d., must include appropriate vertical and 
horizontal transitions. Furthermore, the bottom elevation of the overbank 
excavation must not be below one-half the channel depth of the stream. This depth 
shall be calculated at an existing cross-section of the stream within the general 
vicinity of the culvert or bridge which has been unaffected by man-made 
obstructions. 



3 
 

f. The design must be certified by a registered professional engineer in the State of 
Illinois to have been designed by standard hydrologic and hydraulic engineering 
methods and to be in compliance with the terms and conditions of the IDNR⁄OWR 
Permit and the applicable rule of the Department; and 

g. The design must be certified by a second registered professional engineer in the 
State of Illinois to have been reviewed and found to be in compliance with terms 
and conditions of the IDNR/OWR Permit. 

h. The permittee shall maintain, for each project authorized by this permit, the records 
necessary to document compliance with the above conditions. 

2. Barge fleeting facilities meeting the following conditions of IDNR⁄OWR Statewide Permit 
Number 3: 

a. The permit is only applicable when deadmen, pier cells, or other similar anchorage 
devices have been permitted by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 

3. Aerial utility crossings meeting the following conditions of IDNR⁄OWR Statewide Permit 
Number 4: 

a. The utility line must be constructed above the existing 100-year flood elevation or 
attached to an existing bridge (with the bridge owner’s permission). 

b. A utility line attached to an existing bridge shall be constructed above the low cord 
elevation of the bridge. 

c. No supporting towers or poles shall be located in a river, lake or stream. 
d. Supporting towers including foundations, and poles shall be designed and located 

so as to not cause or create an obstruction of flood flows by trapping debris. 
e. All disturbed areas shall be returned to pre-construction grades and immediately re-

vegetated. 
f. All Illinois Commerce Commission, National Electrical Safety Code, and federal 

requirements must be met. 

4. Minor boat docks meeting the following conditions of IDNR⁄OWR Statewide Permit 
Number 5: 

a. The boat dock must not project more than fifty (50) feet into a waterway and in no 
instance greater than one quarter (1⁄4) of the width of the waterway, and shall not 
extend beyond the navigation limits established by the Department of Natural 
Resources and the Corps of Engineers. 

b. The width of the boat dock shall not be greater than ten (10) feet. 
c. For L-Shaped or T-shaped docks, the length of that portion parallel to the shoreline 

must not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the landowner's shoreline frontage, nor fifty 
(50) feet. 

d. Docks must be aligned so as not to cross the projection of property lines into the 
waterway or come within ten (10) feet of the projection of the property line. 

e. Dock posts must be marked by reflective devices. 
f. The boat dock must be securely anchored to prevent detachment and becoming a 

floating hazard during times of high water or winds. 
g. Metal drums or containers may not be used as buoyancy units unless they are 

filled with  floatation foam. Containers which previously stored pesticides, 
herbicides, or any other toxic chemicals are not permissible. 

h. This permit does not authorize any other related construction activity such as shore 
protection or fill. 



4 
 

i. Non-floating boat docks must be constructed in a manner which will minimize 
obstruction to flow. 

j. If at any future date the Department of Natural Resources or the Corps of 
Engineers determines that the dock facility obstructs or impairs navigation, or in 
any way infringes on the rights or interests of the public or any individual party, the 
permittee agrees to make necessary modifications to the dock as determined by 
the Department of Natural Resources or the Corps of Engineers. 

5. Minor, non-obstructive activities such as underground utility lines, light poles, sign posts, 
driveways, athletic fields, patios, playground equipment, minor storage buildings not 
exceeding 70 square feet and raising buildings on the same footprint which does not 
involve fill and any other activity meeting the conditions of IDNR⁄OWR Statewide Permit 
Number 6: 

a. The following activities (not involving fill or positive change in grade) are covered 
by this permit: 

i. The construction of underground utility lines not crossing a lake or stream, 
wells, and septic tanks. 

ii. The construction of light poles, sign posts, and similar structures. 
iii. The construction of sidewalks, driveways, athletic fields (excluding fences), 

patios, and similar surfaces which are built at grade. 
iv. The construction of properly anchored, unwalled, open structures such as 

playground equipment, pavilions, and carports. 
v. The placement of properly anchored buildings not exceeding seventy (70) 

square feet in size, nor ten (10) square feet in any dimension (e.g. animal 
shelters and tool sheds). Only one such building on a property shall be 
authorized by this permit. If such a building already exists on a property, this 
permit does not authorize any additional building. 

vi. The raising of existing buildings, provided no changes are made to the 
outside dimensions of the building and provided the proposed raising would 
not involve the placement of fill to accomplish the raising. The backfilling of 
an existing basement is permissible. 

vii. This permit does not authorize any construction in the normal channel, i.e. 
below the usual overtopping or flooding elevation, of any river, lake, or 
stream. 

viii. In the event the placement of fill material is necessary to accomplish the 
purpose of the project, the normal application for permit process must be 
followed or plans may be submitted to the IDNR/OWR for an initial review 
and an appropriate determination as to whether or not this statewide permit 
is applicable to the project. This permit does not authorize the placement of 
any fill material (except for the backfilling of an existing basement as 
indicated previously) or positive change in grade in the floodway in 
conjunction with any of the activities noted in 1. through 6. 

ix. If there is any question of the permissibility of any activity under this permit, 
the IDNR/OWR shall be contacted for a determination. 

6. Outfall Structures and drainage ditch outlets meeting the following conditions of 
IDNR⁄OWR Statewide Permit Number 7: 

a. Any outfall structure, including any headwall or end-section, shall not extend 
riverward or lakeward of the existing adjacent natural bank slope or adjacent bank 
protection. 



5 
 

b. The velocity of the discharge shall not exceed the scour velocity of the channel 
soil, unless channel erosion would be prevented by the use of riprap or other 
design measures. 

c. Outlets from drainage ditches shall not be opened to a stream until the ditch is 
vegetated or otherwise stabilized to minimize stream sedimentation. 

d. Disturbance of streamside vegetation shall be kept to a minimum during 
construction to prevent erosion and sedimentation. All disturbed floodway areas, 
including the stream banks, shall be restored to their original contours and seeded 
or otherwise stabilized upon completion of construction. 

7. Underground pipeline and utility crossings meeting the conditions of IDNR⁄OWR Statewide 
Permit Number 8: 

a. In all cases, the crossing shall be placed beneath the bed of the river, lake or 
stream and, unless the crossing is encased in concrete or entrenched in bedrock, 
a minimum of three (3) feet of cover shall be provided. The river, lake or stream 
bed shall be returned to its original condition. 

b. Disturbance of streamside vegetation shall be kept to a minimum during 
construction to prevent erosion and sedimentation. All disturbed floodway areas, 
including stream banks, shall be restored to their original contours and seeded or 
otherwise stabilized upon completion of construction. 

c. Any utility crossing carrying material which may cause water pollution, as defined 
by the Environmental Protection Act (415 ILCS 5, 1996 State Bar Edition), shall be 
provided with shut-off valves on each side of the body of water to be crossed. 

d. If blasting is to be utilized in the construction of the crossing, the Permittee shall 
notify the Illinois Department of Natural Resources, Office of Resource 
Conservation at least ten (10) days prior to the blasting date to allow monitoring of 
any related fish kills. 

8. Bank stabilization projects meeting the conditions of IDNR⁄OWR Statewide Permit 
Number 9: 

a. Only the following materials may be utilized in urban areas: stone and concrete 
riprap, steel sheet piling, cellular blocks, fabric-formed concrete, gabion baskets, 
rock and wire mattresses, sand⁄cement filled bags, geotechnical fabric materials, 
natural vegetation and treated timber. Urban areas are defined as: areas of the 
State where residential, commercial, or industrial development currently exists or, 
based on land use plans or controls, is expected to occur within ten (10) years. 
(The Department should be consulted if there is a question of whether or not an 
area is considered urban). 

b. In addition to the materials listed in the above condition, other materials (e.g., tire 
revetments) may be utilized in rural areas provided all other conditions of this 
permit are met. 

c. The following materials shall not be used in any case: auto bodies, garbage of 
debris, scrap lumber, metal refuse, roofing materials, asphalt or other bituminous 
materials, or any material which would cause water pollution as defined by the 
Environmental Protection Act (415 ILCS 5). 

 

d. The affected length of shoreline, stream bank, or channel to be protected shall not 
exceed, either singularly or cumulatively, one thousand (1000) feet. 

e. All material utilized shall be properly sized or anchored to resist anticipated forces 
of current and wave action. 



6 
 

f. Materials shall be placed in a way which would not cause erosion, or the 
accumulation of debris, on properties adjacent to or opposite the project. 

g. Materials shall not be placed higher than the existing top of the bank. 
h. Materials shall be placed so that the modified bank full-width and cross-sectional 

area of the channel will conform to or be no more restrictive than that of the natural 
channel upstream and downstream of the site. 
For projects involving continuous placement of riprap along the bank, toe of the 
bank or other similar applications, in no case shall the cross-sectional area of the 
natural channel be reduced by more than ten percent (10%) nor the volume of 
material placed exceed two (2) cubic yards per lineal foot of the stream bank or 
shoreline. The bank may be graded to obtain a flatter slope and to lessen the 
quantity of material required. 

i. If broken concrete is used, all protruding materials such as reinforcing rods shall 
be cut flush with the surface of the concrete and removed from the construction 
area. 

j. Disturbance of vegetation shall be kept to a minimum during construction to 
prevent erosion and sedimentation. All disturbed areas shall be seeded or 
otherwise stabilized upon completion of construction. 

k. In the case of seawalls and gabion structures on lakes, the structure shall be 
constructed at or landward of the water line as determined by the normal pool 
elevation, unless: 

i. It is constructed in alignment with an existing seawall(s) or gabion 
structure(s), and 

ii. the volume of material placed, including the structure, would not exceed 
two (2) cubic yards per lineal foot. 

l.  Excess material excavated during the construction of the bank or shoreline 
protection shall be placed in accordance with local, state, and federal laws and 
rules, shall not be placed in a floodway. 

The usual types of projects which provide bank or shoreline stabilization include: riprap or 
other materials placed along the eroded length of the bank or shoreline, riprap or other 
materials placed at regular intervals into the stream from the eroded bank (bendway weirs, 
dikes, jetties), riprap placed along the toes of the bank (toepoints), and riprap keyed into 
the bank at regular intervals along the stream (hard points). Other similar construction 
activities, although not specifically listed above, may comply with the intent of the 
Statewide Permit and, therefore, may be authorized by the permit. For those projects not 
specifically listed, however, plans must be submitted to the Illinois Department of Natural 
Resources, Office of Water Resources for review and an appropriate determination. 

9. Accessory structures and additions to existing residential buildings meeting the conditions 
of IDNR⁄OWR Statewide Permit Number 10: 

a. The accessory structure or building addition must comply with the requirements of 
the  local floodplain ordinance. 

b. The principal structure to which the project is being added must have been in 
existence on the effective date of this permit (July 25, 1988). 

c. The accessory structure or addition must not exceed five hundred (500) square 
feet in size and must not deflect floodwaters onto another property. 

d. The accessory structure or addition must not involve the placement of any fill 
material. 



7 
 

e. No construction shall be undertaken in, or within fifty (50) feet of the bank of, the 
stream channel. 

f. The accessory structure or addition must be properly anchored to prevent its 
movement during flood conditions. 

g. Only one accessory structure or addition to an existing structure shall be 
authorized by this permit; plans for any subsequent addition must be submitted to 
IDNR⁄OWR for review. 

h. Disturbances of vegetation shall be kept to a minimum during construction to 
prevent erosion and sedimentation. All disturbed floodway areas shall be seeded 
or otherwise stabilized upon completion of construction. 

10. Minor maintenance dredging activities meeting the following conditions of IDNR⁄OWR 
Statewide Permit Number 11: 

a. The affected length of the stream shall not. either singularly or cumulatively, 
exceed one thousand (1000) feet. 

b. The project shall not include the construction of any new channel; all work must be 
confined to the existing channel or to reestablishing flows in the natural stream 
channel, and 

c. the cross-sectional area of the dredged channel shall conform to that of the natural 
channel upstream and downstream of the site. 

d. Dredged or spoil material shall not be disposed of in a wetland and shall be either: 
i. Removed from the floodway; 
ii. Used to stabilize an existing bank provided no materials would be placed 

higher than the existing top of bank and provided the cross-sectional area 
of the natural channel would not be reduced by more than ten percent 
(10%), nor the volume of material placed exceed two (2) cubic yards per 
lineal foot of streambank; 

iii. Used to fill an existing washed out or scoured floodplain area such that the 
average natural floodplain elevation is not increased; 

iv. Used to stabilize and existing levee provided the height of the levee would 
not be increased nor its alignment changed; 

v. Placed in a disposal site previously approved by the Department in 
accordance with the conditions of the approval, or 

vi. Used for beach nourishment, provided the material meets all applicable 
water quality standards. 

e. Disturbance of streamside vegetation shall be kept to a minimum during 
construction to prevent erosion and sedimentation. All disturbed floodway 
areas, including the stream banks, shall be seeded or otherwise stabilized 
upon completion of construction. 

11. Bridge and culvert replacement structures and bridge widening meeting the following 
conditions of IDNR⁄OWR statewide Permit Number 12: 

a. A registered professional engineer shall determine and document that the existing 
structure has not been the cause of demonstrable flood damage. Such 
documentation shall include, at a minimum, confirmation that: 

i. No buildings or structures have been impacted by the backwater induced 
by the existing structure, and 

ii. there is no record of complaints of flood damages associated with the 
existing structure. 



8 
 

b. A registered professional engineer shall determine that the new structure will 
provide the same or greater effective waterway opening as the existing structure. 
For bridge widening projects, the existing piers and the proposed pier extensions 
must be in line with the direction of the approaching flow upstream of the bridge. 

c. The project shall not include any appreciable raising of the approach roads. (This 
condition does not apply if all points on the approaches exist at an elevation equal 
to or higher than the 100-year frequency flood headwater elevation as determined 
by a FEMA flood insurance study completed or approved by IDNR⁄OWR). 

d. The project shall not involve the straightening, enlargement or relocation of the 
existing channel of the river or stream except as permitted by the Department's 
Statewide Permit Number 9 (Minor Shoreline, Channel and Streambank Protection 
Activities) or Statewide Permit Number 11 (Minor Maintenance Dredging Activities). 

e. The permittee shall maintain records of projects authorized by this permit 
necessary to document compliance with the above conditions. 

12. Temporary construction activities meeting the following conditions of IDNR⁄OWR statewide 
Permit Number 13: 

a. No temporary construction activity shall be commenced until the individual 
permittee determines that the permanent structure (if any) for which the work is 
being performed has received all required federal, state and local authorizations. 

b. The term “temporary” shall mean not more than one construction season; all 
temporary  construction materials must be removed from the stream and floodway 
within one year of their placement and the area returned to the conditions existing 
prior to the beginning of construction. Any desired subsequent or repetitive 
material placement shall not occur without the review and approval of the Office of 
Water Resources. 

c. The temporary project shall be constructed such that it will not cause erosion or 
damage due to increases in water surface profiles to adjacent properties. For 
locations where there are structures in the upstream floodplain, the temporary 
project shall be constructed such that all water surface profile increases, due to 
the temporary project, are contained within the channel banks. 

d. This permit does not authorize the placement or construction of any solid 
embankment or wall such as a dam, roadway, levee, or dike across any channel 
or floodway. 

e. No temporary structure shall be placed within any river or stream channel until a 
registered  professional engineer determines and documents that the temporary 
structure will meet  the requirements of Special Condition Number 3 of this 
statewide permit. Such documentation shall include, at a minimum, confirmation 
that no buildings or structures will be impacted by the backwater induced by the 
temporary structure. 

f. The permittee shall maintain records of projects authorized by this permit 
necessary to document compliance with the above condition. 

g. Disturbance of vegetation shall be kept to a minimum during construction to 
prevent erosion and sedimentation. All disturbed areas shall be seeded or 
otherwise stabilized upon completion of the removal of the temporary construction. 

h. Materials used for the project shall not cause water pollution as defined by the 
Environmental Protection Act (415 ILCS 5). 

13. Special uses of public waters activities shall meet the following conditions of IDNR/OWR 
statewide Permit Number 14: 



9 
 

a. The activity must be sanctioned and authorized by the local governmental body 
having jurisdiction over the area within which the use is proposed to occur. 

b. If the activity requires any other state of federal (e.g., U. S. Army Corps of 
Engineers or U. S. Coast Guard) authorization, such authorization(s) must be 
obtained prior to the commencement of the activity. NOTE: Depending on the 
nature of the special use, additional authorization may be required from the Illinois 
Department of Natural Resources. For example, certain boat regattas must be 
approved by the Office of Law Enforcement. 

c. No use or activity shall be considered authorized by this permit in excess of seven 
consecutive days. 

d. No use or activity shall be considered authorized by this permit in excess of two 
times in any one-year period. 

e. If at any time the Department of Natural Resources determines that the activity 
obstructs or impairs navigation, or unnecessarily infringes on the rights or interests 
of the public or any individual party, the permittee agrees to modify the activity as 
directed by the Department of Natural Resources. 

f. No signs, ropes, etc. used in conjunction with the special sue shall be placed or 
left in any public water area in a way which would create or result in a hazard to 
boating traffic. All such apparatus shall be removed from the water immediately 
upon conclusion of the event. 

14. Any Development determined by IDNR⁄OWR to be located entirely within a flood fringe 
area shall be exempt from State Floodway permit requirements. 

B. Other development activities not listed in 6(A) may be permitted only if: 

1. permit has been issued for the work in an IDNR⁄OWR Jurisdictional Streams by 
IDNR/OWR (or written documentation is provided that an IDNR⁄OWR permit is not 
required), or 

2. sufficient data has been provided to FEMA when necessary, and approval obtained from 
FEMA  for a revision of the regulatory map and base flood elevation (BFE). 

 

207 . Section 7. Protecting Buildings 
A. In addition to the damage prevention requirements of 206 Section 6 of this regulation, all 

buildings located in the floodplain shall be protected from flood damage below the flood 
protection elevation (FPE). This building protection requirement applies to the following 
situations: 

1. Construction or placement of a new building or alteration or addition to an existing building 
valued at more than one thousand dollars ($1,000) or seventy (70) square feet. 

2. Value of improvements equals or exceeds the market value by fifty percent (50%) or 
structural  alterations made to an existing building that increase the floor area by more 
than twenty percent (20%). Improvements shall be figured cumulatively during the life of 
the building. If substantially improved, the existing structure and the addition must meet 
the flood protection standards of this section. 

3. Repairs made to a substantially damaged building. These repairs shall be figured 
cumulatively during the life of the building. If substantially damaged the entire structure 
must meet the flood protection standards of this section within 24 months of the date the 
damage occurred. 

4. Installing a manufactured home on a new site or a new manufactured home on an existing 
site.  



10 
 

5. Installing a travel trailer or recreational vehicle on a site for more than one hundred eighty 
(180) days per year. 

6. Repetitive loss to an existing building as defined in Section 2. 

7. Construction or placement of a new building or alteration or addition to an existing building 
with the low floor below BFE following a LOMR-F in accordance with the conditions 
outlined in Section 9 E. 

B. Residential or non-residential buildings can meet the building protection requirements by one of 
the following methods: 

1. The building may be constructed on permanent land fill in with the lowest floor including 
basement at or above the FPE accordance with the following conditions: 

a. The lowest floor (including basement) shall be at or above the flood protection 
elevation. 

b. The fill shall be placed in layers no greater than six inches before compaction and 
should extend at least twenty (20) feet beyond the foundation before sloping below 
the flood protection elevation in lieu of a geotechnical report. 

c. The fill shall be protected against erosion and scour during flooding by vegetative 
cover, riprap, or other structural measure. 

d. The fill shall be composed of rock or soil and not incorporated debris or refuse 
material. 

e. The fill shall not adversely affect the flow of surface drainage from or onto 
neighboring properties and when necessary, stormwater management techniques 
such as swales or basins shall be incorporated. 

2. The building may be elevated on solid walls in accordance with the following: 

a. The building or improvements shall be elevated on stilts, piles, walls, crawlspace, 
or other foundation that is permanently open to flood waters. 

b. All components located below the flood protection elevation shall be constructed 
of materials resistant to flood damage. 

c. The lowest floor and all electrical, heating, ventilating, plumbing, and air 
conditioning equipment and utility meters shall be located at or above the flood 
protection elevation. 

d. If walls are used, all enclosed areas below the flood protection elevation shall 
provide for equalization of hydrostatic pressures by allowing the automatic entry 
and exit of  flood waters. At least two (2) walls must have a minimum of one (1) 
permanent opening that is  below the BFE and no more than one (1) foot above 
finished grade. The openings shall provide a total net area of not less than one (1) 
square inch for every one (1) square foot of enclosed area subject to flooding below 
the base flood elevation, or the design must be certified by a Registered P.E., as 
proving the equivalent performance in accordance with accepted standards of 
practice. Refer to FEMA TB 1, Openings in Foundation Walls and Walls of 
Enclosures, for additional guidance.  

e. The foundation and supporting members shall be anchored, designed, and 
certified so as to minimize exposure to hydrodynamic forces such as current, 
waves, ice, and floating debris. 

i. Water and sewer pipes, electrical and telephone lines, submersible pumps, 
and other service facilities may be located below the flood protection 
elevation provided they are waterproofed. 



11 
 

ii. The area below the flood protection elevation shall be used solely for 
parking or building access and not later modified or occupied as habitable 
space. 

iii. In lieu of the above criteria, the design methods to comply with these 
requirements may be certified by a licensed professional engineer or 
architect. 

3. The building may be constructed with a crawlspace located below the flood protection 
elevation provided that the following conditions and requirements of FEMA TB 11, 
Crawlspace Construction for Buildings Located in Special Flood Hazard Areas, which ever 
are more restrictive, are met: 

a. The building must be designed and adequately anchored to resist flotation, 
collapse, and lateral movement of the structure resulting from hydrodynamic and 
hydrostatic  loads, including the effects of buoyancy. 

b. All enclosed areas below the flood protection elevation shall provide for 
equalization of hydrostatic pressures by allowing for the automatic entry and exit 
of floodwaters. A minimum of one (1) permanent opening shall be provided on at 
least two walls that is below the BFE and no more than one (1) foot above finished 
grade. The openings shall  provide a total net area of not less than one (1) square 
inch per one (1) square foot of enclosed area subject to flooding below the BFE, 
or the design must be certified by a Registered P.E. as providing the equivalent 
performance in accordance with accepted  standards of practice. Refer to FEMA 
TB 1, Openings in Foundation Walls and Walls of Enclosures, for additional 
guidance.  

c. The interior height of the crawlspace measured from the interior grade of the crawl 
to  the top of the foundations wall must not exceed four (4) feet at any point. 

d. An adequate drainage system must be installed to remove floodwaters from the 
interior area of the crawlspace within a reasonable period of time after a flood 
event. 

e. Portions of the building below the flood protection elevation must be constructed 
with materials resistant to flood damage, and 

f. Utility systems within the crawlspace must be elevated above the flood protection 
elevation. 

C. Non-residential buildings may be structurally dry floodproofed (in lieu of elevation) provided a 
licensed professional engineer or architect certifies that: 

1. Below the flood protection elevation, the structure and attendant utility facilities are 
watertight and capable of resisting the effects of the base flood. 

2. The building design accounts for flood velocities, duration, rate of rise, hydrostatic and 
hydrodynamic forces, the effects of buoyancy, and the impact from debris and ice. 

3. Floodproofing measures will be incorporated into the building design and operable without 
human intervention and without an outside source of electricity. 

4. Levees, berms, floodwalls and similar works are not considered floodproofing for the 
 purpose of this subsection. 

D. Mobile homes or travel trailers to be permanently installed on site shall be: 
1. Elevated to or above the flood protection elevation in accordance with Section 7(B), and 
2. Anchored to resist flotation, collapse, or lateral movement by being tied down in 

accordance with the rules and regulations for the Illinois Mobile Home Tie-Down Act issued 
pursuant to 77 Ill. Adm. Code § 870. 



12 
 

E. Travel trailers and recreational vehicles on site for more than one hundred eighty (180) days per 
year shall meet the elevation requirements of section 7(D) unless the following conditions are 
met: 

1. The vehicle must be either self-propelled or towable by a light duty truck. 
2. The hitch must remain on the vehicle at all times. 
3. The vehicle must not be attached to external structures such as decks and porches 
4. The vehicle must be designed solely for recreation, camping, travel, or seasonal use rather 

than as a permanent dwelling. 
5. The vehicles having a total area not exceeding four hundred (400) square feet when 

measured at the largest horizontal projection. 
6. The vehicle's wheels must remain on axles and inflated. 
7. Air conditioning units must be attached to the frame so as to be safe for movement of the 

floodplain. 
8. Propane tanks as well as electrical and sewage connections must be quick-disconnect. 
9. The vehicle must be licensed and titled as a recreational vehicle or park model, and must 

either: 
a. entirely be supported by jacks, or 
b. have a hitch jack permanently mounted, have the tires touching the ground and be 

supported by block in a manner that will allow the block to be easily removed by 
used of the hitch jack. 

F. Detached accessory structures may be permitted provided the following conditions are met: 
1. The structure must be non-habitable. 
2. The structure must be used only for parking and storage and cannot be modified later into 

another use. 
3. The structure must be located outside of the floodway or have the appropriate county, 

state and/or federal permits. 
4. The structure must be on a single-family lot and be accessory to an existing principal 

structure on the same lot. 
5. The exterior and interior building components and elements (i.e., foundation, wall framing, 

exterior and interior finishes, flooring, etc.) below the base flood elevation must be built 
with flood-resistant materials in accordance with Section 7. 

6. All utilities, mechanical, and electrical must be elevated above the flood protection 
elevation. 

7. The structure must have at least one permanent opening on at least two walls not more 
than one (1) foot above grade with one (1) square inch of opening for every one (1) square 
foot of floor area. 

8. The structure must be no more than one story in height and no more than six hundred 
(600) square feet in size. 

9. The structure shall be anchored to resist floatation, collapse, lateral movement, and 
overturning. 

10. All flammable or toxic materials (gasoline, paint, insecticides, fertilizers, etc.) shall be 
stored above the flood protection elevation. 

11. The lowest floor elevation should be documented and the owner advised of the flood 
insurance implications. 

 

208 . Section 8. Subdivision Requirements 



13 
 

The County Board shall take into account hazards, to the extent that they are known, in all official 
actions related to land management use and development. 

A. New subdivisions, manufactured home parks, mobile home parks, annexation agreements, 
planned unit developments, and additions to manufactured home parks, mobile home parks, 
and subdivisions shall meet the  damage prevention and building protections standards of 
Sections 6 and 7 of this regulation.  

B. Streets, blocks lots, parks and other public grounds shall be located and laid out in such a 
manner as to preserve and utilize natural streams and channels. Wherever possible the 
floodplains should be included within parks, open space parcels, or other public grounds. 

C. Any proposal for such development shall include the following data: 
1. The base flood elevation and the boundary of the floodplain, where the base flood 

elevation is not available from an existing study, the applicant shall be responsible for 
calculating the base flood elevation; 

2. The boundary of the floodway when applicable. 
3. A signed statement by a Licensed Professional Engineer that the proposed plat or plan 

accounts for changes in the drainage of surface waters in accordance with the Plat Act 
(765 ILCS 205⁄2). 

 
209 . Section 9. Public Health and Other Standards 
A. Public health standards must be met for all floodplain development. In addition to the 

requirements of Sections 6 and 7 of this regulation the following standards apply: 
1. No development in the floodplain shall include locating or storing chemicals, explosives, 

buoyant materials, flammable liquids, pollutants, or other hazardous or toxic materials 
below the flood protection elevation unless such materials are stored in a floodproofed and 
anchored storage tank and certified by a professional engineer or floodproofed building 
constructed according to the requirements of Section 7 of this ordinance. 

2. Public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas and electric shall be located and 
constructed to minimize or eliminate flood damage. 

3. Public sanitary sewer systems and water supply systems shall be located and constructed 
to minimize or eliminate infiltration of flood waters into the systems and discharges from 
the systems into flood waters. 

4. New and replacement on-site sanitary sewer lines or waste disposal systems shall be 
located and constructed to avoid impairment to them or contamination from them during 
flooding. Manholes or other above ground openings located below the flood protection 
elevation shall be watertight. 

Critical facilities, which are buildings, constructed or substantially improved within the floodplain 
or the 0.2 percent annual chance flood elevation when defined, shall have the lowest floor 
(including basement) elevated or structurally dry floodproofed to the 0.2 percent annual chance 
flood elevation, or three feet above the BFE, whichever is greater. Adequate parking shall be 
provided for staffing of the critical facilities at or above the BFE or 0.2 percent chance flood, 
when defined. Access routes to all critical facilities should be reviewed and considered when 
permitting. Access routes should be elevated to or above the level of the BFE. 
Floodproofing and sealing measures may also be used to provide protection, as described in 
Section 7, and must be taken to ensure that toxic substances will not be displaced by or released 
into floodwaters. 
Critical Facilities included emergency services facilities (such as fire and police stations), 
schools, hospitals, retirement homes, and senior care facilities.  



14 
 

Critical Facility means any facility which is critical to the health and welfare of the population and, 
if flooded, would create an added dimension to the disaster. Damage to these critical facilities 
can impact the delivery of vital services, can cause greater damage to other sectors of the 
community, or can put special populations at risk. 
Examples of critical facilities where flood protection should be required include: emergency 
services facilities (such as fire and police stations), schools, hospitals retirement homes and 
senior care facilities, major roads and bridges, critical utility sites (telephone switching stations 
or electrical transformers, and hazardous material storage facilities (chemicals, petrochemicals, 
hazardous or toxic substances). 

B. All other activities defined as development shall be designed so as not to alter flood flows or 
increase potential flood damages. 

C. Dams are classified as to their size and their hazard/damage potential in the event of failure. 
Permits for dams may be required from IDNR/OWR. Contact IDNR/OWR to determine if a permit 
is required. If a permit is required, a permit application must be made to IDNR/OWR prior to the 
construction or major modification of jurisdictional dams. 

D. Letters of Map Revision. The Administrator shall require a CLOMR prior to issuance of a 
development permit for: 

1. Proposed floodway encroachments that will cause an increase in the BFE; and 
2.  Proposed development which will increase the BFE by more than 0.1 feet in riverine area 

where FEMA has provided a BFE but no floodway. 

Once a CLOMR has been issued, the development permit may be issued for site grading and 
structures necessary in the area of the map change to achieve the final LOMR. Upon 
completion, the applicant shall submit as-built certifications, as required by FEMA, to achieve a 
final LOMR prior to the release of final development permits. Review Section 9E for the 
construction of buildings in any floodplain issued a LOMR Based on Fill. 

E. When construction of a building following a LOMR Based on Fill is requested, the condition 
where a site in the floodplain is removed due to the use of fill to elevate the site above the BFE, 
the applicant may not apply for a permit from the County to construct the lowest floor of a 
building below the BFE in the floodplain. 

 
210 . Section 10. Carrying Capacity and Notification 
For all projects involving channel modification, fill, or stream maintenance (including levees), the flood 
carrying capacity of the watercourse shall be maintained. 

In addition, the County shall notify adjacent communities in writing thirty (30) days prior to the 
issuance of a permit for the alteration or relocation of the watercourse. 

 
300 . Stormwater Detention Regulations 

301 . Exclusions 
302 . Maximum Controlled Stormwater Runoff Release Rate 
303 . Stormwater storage methods 
304 . Calculations of required stormwater storage
305 . Applications for building permits 

 
This section contains the text of Sec. 50-258. Stormwater detention regulations of the Natural 
Hazard Ordinance which are adopted as the Winnebago County Surface Water Management 
Ordinance, as amended, herein. Its requirements follow:  

 



15 
 

Developments and impacted areas which increase the amount of impermeable area, such as the 
construction of roof structures, paved areas or compacted areas, shall be subject to the terms of this 
article. This section is amended to include Illinois State Water Survey Bulletin 75 that provides 
frequency estimates and their time distributions. 

 
301 . Exclusions 

(1)  The following, however, shall not be included: 
a. Traditional agricultural uses. 
b. The construction of single-family dwellings on lots or parcels of land which were of 

record prior to June 24, 1982. 
c. Modification of single-family dwellings which will continue to be used as single-

family dwellings. 
d. The use of lands adjacent and contiguous to and which discharge directly into the 

Rock, Pecatonica, Sugar, or Kishwaukee Rivers. 
e. Improvement of existing roadways which does not increase the number of traffic 

lanes in the typical cross section of the roadway. 
f. The cumulative increase of impervious area does not exceed 25,000 square feet as 

of the establishment of this ordinance on August 24, 2006. 
1. Developments and impacted areas with less than 25,000 square feet of cumulative 

impervious area shall be required to provide best management practices for 
stormwater management as determined by the Administrator. 

 
302 . Maximum Controlled Stormwater Runoff Release Rate 

(2) The maximum controlled stormwater runoff release rate shall not exceed the natural safe 
stormwater drainage capacity of the downstream system, which has been found to be 0.2 
cubic feet per second, per acre in the county. Pipe outlets of less than 12 inches in diameter 
shall not be allowed. Multiple outlets from a stormwater storage area shall be avoided if 
they are designed to be less than 12 inches in diameter. Removable orifice plates shall be 
employed when these pipe size requirements cannot be met. 

 
303 . Stormwater Storage Methods 

 (3) When the maximum controlled stormwater runoff release rate shall be exceeded, any 
or all of the following stormwater storage methods shall be provided and constructed: 

a. Dry bottom stormwater storage. The following is the dry bottom stormwater storage 
method: 

1. Dry bottom stormwater storage areas must be designed to serve a 
secondary purpose for recreation, open space or similar type of use, which 
will not be adversely affected by occasional intermittent flooding. 

2. The combination of storage of major floodwater runoff from a 100-year 
return frequency storm and the allowable release rate shall not result in a 
storage duration in excess of 48 hours. 

3. Minimum grades for turf areas shall be 0.5 percent (200 units horizontal to 
one vertical) and maximum side slopes shall be 25 percent (four units 
horizontal to one unit vertical). Storage area side slopes shall follow the 
natural land contours as closely as practicable, and a minimum of earth 
excavation shall be used to create the storage facility. 

4. Temporary seeding or other soil stabilization measures shall be 
established in the stormwater storage area and major floodwater 
passageway immediately following the construction or reconstruction of 



16 
 

these areas. During the construction of the overall development, it is 
recognized that a limited amount of sediment buildup may occur in the 
stormwater storage area due to erosion. In no case shall the volume of the 
storage area be reduced to less than three-quarters of the required volume 
during the construction phase of the development. 

5. Permanent erosion control measures such as mulching, hydroseeding, 
conventional seeding, nurse crops, fertilizing or sod installation shall be 
utilized to control soil movement and erosion within the storage area and 
major floodwater passageway. These measures shall meet or exceed the 
standards established by the county soil and water conservation district. 
The installation of these permanent measures shall take place only after 
the majority of construction and other silt- and sediment-producing 
activities have been completed. Prior to the establishment of the 
permanent erosion control measures, the required capacity of the 
stormwater storage area and the excess stormwater passageway shall be 
restored. 

6. The control structure shall be provided with an interceptor for trash and 
debris, and it shall be designed and constructed to prevent soil erosion and 
not to require manual adjustments for its proper operation. An inlet design 
that will produce turbulent flow conditions during any portion of the 
stormwater storage cycle will not be acceptable. 

7. Adequate impact stilling basins shall be provided to ensure that 
downstream soil erosion is alleviated and the regime of the downstream 
drainage facility is not disturbed. 

8. Each stormwater storage area shall be provided with a method of overflow 
in the event a storm in excess of the design capacity occurs. This overflow 
facility shall be constructed to function without specific attention and can 
become a part of the excess stormwater passageway described in this 
section. 

9. The entire stormwater storage area shall be designed and constructed to 
fully protect the public health, safety and welfare. If a condition occurs in 
the stormwater storage area which is hazardous to the public health, safety 
or welfare, the person responsible for the condition will be required to 
provide approved corrective measures. If these corrective measures are 
not provided, the county may eliminate the hazard at the expense of the 
person responsible. 

10.  Low flow conduits or channels shall be provided in stormwater storage 
areas. These conduits or channels shall be so constructed that they will 
not interfere with the secondary usage of the storage area and will reduce 
the frequency of time that the storage area will be covered with water. 

b. Wet bottom stormwater storage. Wet bottom stormwater storage areas shall be 
designed in compliance with all the regulations which are applicable and govern 
the construction of dry bottom stormwater storage areas. The following additional 
regulations shall apply: 

1. The water surface area of the permanent pool shall not exceed one-tenth 
of the area of the tributary watershed. 

2. Protection of the shoreline must be provided to alleviate soil erosion due 
to wave action. 



17 
 

3. Minimum normal water depth shall be four feet. If fish are to be used to 
keep the pond clean, at least one- quarter of the pond area shall be a 
minimum of ten feet deep. 

4. Facilities shall be provided to lower the pond elevation by gravity floor for 
cleaning purposes and shoreline maintenance. 

5. The control structure for stormwater release shall be designed to operate 
at full design release rate with only a minor increase in the water depth in 
order to minimize the land surface wetted by frequent minor stormwater 
runoff conditions. 

6. Measures shall be included in the design to prevent pond stagnation. This 
may be accomplished by fountain aeration or some other method used to 
ensure aerobic pond conditions. 

7. The volume of water permanently stored shall not be considered to be part 
of the required excess stormwater storage volume. 

c. Paved stormwater storage. Design and construction of the pavement base must 
ensure that there is no pavement damage due to flooding. Control structures in 
paved areas must be readily accessible for maintenance and cleaning. Vortex 
control devices will be required. 

d. Rooftop stormwater storage. Rooftop storage of excess stormwater shall be 
designed and constructed to provide permanent control inlets and parapet walls to 
contain excess stormwater. Adequate structural roof design must be provided to 
ensure that roof deflection does not occur which could cause the roofing material 
to fail and result in leakage. Overflow areas must be provided to ensure that the 
weight of stored stormwater will never exceed the structural capacity of the roof. 

e. Automobile parking stormwater storage areas. Automobile parking facilities used 
to store excess stormwater must be constructed having a maximum depth of 
stored stormwater of 1.5 feet; and these areas shall be located in the most remote, 
least used areas of the parking facility. 

f. Underground stormwater storage. Underground stormwater storage facilities must 
be designed for easy access in order to remove accumulated sediment and debris. 
These facilities must be provided with a positive gravity outlet. 

 
304 . Calculations of Required Stormwater Storage 
  (4) Calculations of required stormwater storage shall be made as follows: 

a. Any generally recognized and substantiated method acceptable to the 
Administrator may be used for these calculations. The release rate of the outlet 
structure, when half of the storage area is filled, may be used in lieu of routing 
techniques in small drainage areas. The control structure shall be designed to 
maintain as uniform a flow as possible, independent of the stormwater storage 
volume. Where the proposed structure, project or land development forms only a 
portion of a watershed or contains portions of several watersheds, the storage 
volume calculations shall be based upon the area of the entire project, 
development or land use change. The maximum release rate shall be established 
by multiplying the total acreage of the tributary watershed by 0.2 cubic foot per 
second, per acre. 

b. Stormwater storage areas which will be filled to capacity by high-frequency storms 
shall be designed in a manner that will protect immediate downstream properties, 
and all overflow structures shall be designed to function properly and effectively 
without the necessity of making manual adjustments. A larger outlet for stormwater 



18 
 

storage may be permitted by the Administrator for the orderly management of 
stormwater runoff where large tributary areas are developed without detention. 

c. If the orderly management of the stormwater runoff cannot be achieved by passing 
the entire tributary area runoff through the stormwater storage area, the 
stormwater storage area shall be constructed to exclude the runoff from the 
tributary area originating outside of the area to be developed. 

 
305 . Applications for Building Permits 
  (5) Applications for building permits shall require the following: 

a. Stormwater detention facilities shall be designed by and their construction 
supervised by a registered professional engineer. 

b. Compliance with this section shall be as provided for in section 50-255. In addition, 
the following shall be required by the Administrator: 

1. Upon completion of construction, a set of record drawings certified by a 
registered professional engineer; and 

2. An estimated schedule of development phases. 
c. All applications for building permits shall contain a statement that such buildings or 

structures and appurtenances connected therewith include facilities for the orderly 
runoff or retention of rain and melting snow. Plans submitted with the application shall 
include a signed statement issued by a state registered professional engineer that the 
plans include facilities adequate to prevent harmful runoff. For single-family dwellings 
to be located in a subdivision meeting the requirements of this article, the signed 
statement may, in lieu of other application requirements, be placed on the face of the 
final plat. 

d. When compliance with the stormwater detention requirements of this article will result 
in a facility, the volume of which is 0.3 acre-feet or less, the Administrator may waive 
the requirement for that specific facility. 

 
400 . Post Construction Runoff Quantity Controls 

In principle, development plans should minimize those characteristics that result in the increase of 
stormwater runoff. The amount of impervious cover should be the minimum practical to meet the 
requirements of building, zoning, and subdivision regulations, those of the County and township 
highway authorities, and such other regulations as govern development activities. 

401:  Stormwater Detention is a control currently required by county ordinance. It is recognized that 
the controlled release rate referred to in these requirements (sec 304) is release to surface 
water. Some additional loss of inflow to a stormwater detention facility may be provided by some 
subsurface infiltration technique. The required detention volume can be reduced by such loss 
provided that: 

401.1 the loss is based on a conservative estimate of the long term infiltration rate of the soil 
strata to which infiltration is intended. This analysis shall include conditions of saturated 
or frozen strata and the probable location of groundwater levels; 

401.2 additional inspection and certification is guaranteed during the installation process so 
that the qualifying soil strata is confirmed in place; and that it is not clogged with fine 
material nor compacted by construction operations; 

401.3 there is an acceptable maintenance plan for operation of the infiltration technique; 

401.4 complete failure of the infiltration system does not result in flood hazard within the 
development or to adjacent properties; 



19 
 

401.5 an acceptable plan for restoration of the maximum controlled release rate is provided 
for the case of substantial or complete failure of the infiltration system; and 

401.6 the prevention of groundwater contamination is reasonably assured. 
402:  Shallow depressional storage volumes, below a surface gravity outlet, cannot be used to partly 

or completely replace required stormwater detention storage volumes. Their benefit accrues 
largely to water quality: capturing small storm events, and filled with water and sediments prior 
to a major runoff event. 

 
500 . Reserved 

 
600 . Construction Site Erosion and Sediment Control 

605 . Section 5. General Principles 
608 . Section 8. Erosion and Sediment Control Plan 
609 - 612 . Blank 
613 . Section 13. Site Design Requirements 
614 . Section 14. Inspection 
615 . Section 15. Retention of Plans 
616 . Section 16. Special Precautions 
620 . Summary of Erosion and Sediment Control Requirements 

 
This section contains the text of Sections 5, 8, 13 to 16, and summary of the model Construction 
Site Erosion and Sediment Control Ordinance, drafted and put through public review by the 
Winnebago County Association for Clean Water Action, WinACWA, 2004; and customized for county 
government to meet its requirements under NPDES Phase II. 

 
605 . Section 5. General Principles 
It is the objective of these regulations to control soil erosion and sedimentation caused by 
development activities, including clearing, grading, stripping, excavating, and filling of land, in the 
County of Winnebago. Measures taken to control soil erosion and offsite sediment runoff should be 
adequate to assure that sediment is not transported from the site by wind erosion or a storm event of 
ten-year frequency or less. The following principles shall apply to all development activities within the 
County of Winnebago and to the preparation of the submissions required under Sections 8 and 9 of 
this ordinance: 

(a) Development should be related to the topography and soils of the site so as to create the least 
potential for erosion. Areas of steep slopes where high cuts and fills may be required should be 
avoided wherever possible, and existing contours should be followed as closely as possible. 

(b) Natural vegetation should be retained and protected wherever possible. Areas  immediately 
adjacent to existing watercourses, lakes, ponds, and wetlands should be left undisturbed 
wherever possible. Temporary crossings of watercourses, when permitted, must include 
appropriate stabilization measures. 

(c) Special precautions should be taken to prevent damages that occur due to any necessary 
development activity within or adjacent to any stream, lake, pond, or wetland. Preventative 
measures must be commensurate with the sensitivity of these areas to erosion and 
sedimentation. 

(d) The smallest practical area of disturbance should be exposed for the shortest practical time 
during development. 



20 
 

 
(e) Sediment basins or traps, filter barriers, diversions, and any other appropriated sediment or 

runoff control measures should be installed prior to site clearing and grading and maintained to 
control and remove sediment from run-off waters from land undergoing development. 

(f) The selection of erosion and sedimentation control measures should be based on site limitations, 
project duration, and other factors to provide the necessary site protection during the 
construction development activity. 

(g) In the design of erosion control facilities and practices, aesthetics and the requirements of 
continuing maintenance shall be considered. 

(h) Permanent vegetation and runoff control structures shall be installed and functional as soon as 
practical during development. 

(i) All waste generated as a result of site development activity shall be properly disposed of and 
should be prevented from being carried off the site by either wind, water, or artificial means. 

(j) All construction sites shall provide measures to prevent sediment from being tracked onto public 
or private roadways. 

 
608 . Section 8. Erosion and Sediment Control Plan 
The Owners of the property or his/her authorized designee shall prepare and submit an Erosion 
and Sediment Control Plan (Plan) to the County of Winnebago at the time of proposed land 
disturbing activities. These submissions shall be prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
this Article and the standards and requirements contained in the NPDES Permit No. ILR10 
prepared by the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency and the Illinois Urban Manual prepared 
by the members of the Illinois Urban Manual Technical Review Committee and Steering 
Committee, and adopted by the Boone and Winnebago County Soil and Water Conservation 
District, which standards and requirements are hereby incorporated into this ordinance by 
reference. General guidance can be found in the Illinois Urban Manual under the section, Non-
point Source Pollution Control Processes and Planning Principles. Each plan shall contain 
the following information: 

(a) The name(s) address(es) and telephone number(s) of the owner or [and] developer of the site 
and of any consulting firm retained by the applicant together with the name of the applicant's 
principle contact at such firm. 

 The owner must sign a copy of the certification statement. The certification must be included in 
the plan: 

“I certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments were prepared in 
accordance with a system designed to assure that qualified personnel properly gathered 
and evaluated the information submitted. Based on my inquiry of the person or persons 
who manage the system, or those persons directly responsible for gathering the 
information, the information submitted is to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, 
accurate, and complete. I am aware that there are significant penalties for submitting 
false information, including the possibility of fine and imprisonment of knowing 
violations.” 

(b) The name, address and telephone number of the general contractor(s) that have been identified 
at the time of the submittal. Identify the contractor(s) or subcontractor(s) implementing each 
measure of the plan. All contractor(s) and subcontractor(s) identified in the plan must sign a copy 
of the certification statement. All certifications must be included in the plan except for owners 
acting as contractor(s). 



21 
 

“I certify under penalty of law that I understand the terms and conditions of the general 
National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit No. ILR10 and 
[Chapter 78], Erosion and Sediment Control ordinance that authorizes the storm water 
discharges associated with the construction activities and site identified as part of this 
certification.” 

(c) A vicinity map in sufficient detail to enable easy location in the field of the site for which the 
permit is sought, and including the boundary line and approximate acreage of the site, existing 
zoning, and a legend and scale; 

(d) A development plan of the site showing: 
(1) Existing topography of the site and adjacent land within approximately 100 feet of the 

boundaries, drawn at no greater than two-foot contour intervals and clearly portraying the 
conformation and drainage pattern of the area. 

(2) The location of existing buildings, structures, utilities, streams, lakes, floodplains, wetlands 
and depressions, drainage facilities, vegetative cover, paved areas, and other significant 
natural or man-made features on the site and adjacent land within 100 feet of the boundary. 

(3) A general description of the predominant soil types on the site, their location, and their 
limitations for the proposed use. 

(4) Proposed use of the site, including present development and planned utilization; areas of 
clearing, stripping, grading, excavation, and filling; finished grades, and street profiles; 
provisions of storm drainage, including storm sewers, swales, detention basins and any 
other measures to control the rate of runoff, with a drainage area map, indications of flow 
directions and computations; kinds and locations of utilities; and areas and acreages 
proposed to be paved, covered, sodded or seeded, vegetatively stabilized, or left 
undisturbed. 

(e) Erosion and sediment controls showing all measures necessary to meet the objectives of this 
ordinance throughout all phases of construction and permanently after completion of 
development of the site, including: 

(1) Location and description, including standard details, of all sediment control measures and 
design specifics of sediment basins and traps, including outlet details. 

(2) Plans should ensure existing vegetation is preserved where attainable and disturbed 
portions of the site are stabilized. Stabilization practices may include, but not limited to:  
temporary seeding, vegetative buffer strips, protection of trees, preservation of mature 
vegetation, and other appropriate measures. Location and description of all soil 
stabilization and erosion control measures, including seeding mixtures and rates, types of 
sod, method of seedbed preparation, expected seeding dates, type and rate of lime and 
fertilizer application, kind and quantity of mulching for both temporary and permanent 
vegetative control measures, and types of non-vegetative stabilization measures. 

a. Stabilization measures will be initiated as soon as practicable in portions of the site 
where construction activities have temporarily or permanently ceased, but in no 
case more than fourteen (14) days after the construction activity in that portion of 
the site has temporarily or permanently ceased. 

b. Where construction activity will resume on a portion of the site within 14 days from 
when activity ceased, (i.e. the total time period that construction activity is 
temporarily ceased is less than 14 days) then stabilization measures have to be 
initiated on that portion of the site within one (1) working day and completed as 
soon as possible, but not later than 14 calendar days from the initiation of 
stabilization in the work area. 



22 
 

c. Where the initiation of stabilization measures by the 14th day after construction 
activity temporary or permanently snow cover precludes ease, stabilization 
measures shall be initiated as soon as practicable. 

(3) Location and description of all runoff control measures, including diversions, waterways, 
and outlets. 

(4) Location and description of methods to prevent tracking of sediment offsite, including 
construction entrance details, as appropriate. 

(5) Description of dust and traffic control measures. 
(6) Locations of stockpiles and description of stabilization methods. 
(7) Description of off-site fill or borrow volumes, locations, and methods of stabilization. 
(8) Provisions for maintenance of control measures, including type and frequency of 

maintenance, easements, and estimates of the cost of maintenance. 

(f) The proposed phasing of development of the site, including stripping and clearing, rough grading 
and landscaping. Phasing should identify the expected date on which clearing will begin and the 
estimated duration of exposure of cleared areas, and the sequence of installation of temporary 
sediment control measures (including perimeter controls), clearing and grading, installation of 
temporary soil stabilization measures, installation of storm drainage, paving streets and parking 
areas, final grading and the establishment of permanent vegetative cover, and the removal of 
temporary measures. It shall be the responsibility of the applicant to notify the County of 
Winnebago of any significant changes that occur in the site development schedule after the initial 
erosion and sediment control plan has been approved; 

(g) A copy of the completed Notice of Intent (NOI) required by the Illinois Environmental Protection 
Agency. 

(h) A copy of the completed Illinois Department of Natural Resources Consultation Agency Action 
Report. 

 
609 - 612 . Blank 

 
613 . Section 13. Site Design Requirements 
On-site sediment control measures, as specified by the following criteria, shall be constructed and 
functional prior to initiating clearing, grading, stripping, excavation, or fill activities on the site. 

(a) Land disturbance activities in stream channels shall be avoided, where possible. If disturbance 
activities are unavoidable, the following requirements shall be met: 

(1) Construction vehicles shall be kept out of the stream channel to the maximum extent 
practicable. Where construction crossings are necessary, temporary crossings shall be 
constructed of non-erosive material, such as riprap or gravel. 

(2) The time and area of disturbance of stream channels shall be kept to a minimum. The 
stream channel, including bed and banks, shall be restabilized within 48 hours after 
channel disturbance is completed, interrupted, or stopped. 

(3) Whenever channel relocation is necessary, the new channel shall be constructed in the 
dry and fully stabilized before flow is diverted. 

(b) Sediment traps or anchored filter barriers meeting accepted design standards and specifications 
outlined in the Illinois Urban Manual shall protect storm sewer inlets and culverts. 

(c) Soil storage piles containing more than 10 cubic yards of material shall not be located with a 
downslope drainage length of less than 25 feet to a roadway or drainage channel. Filter barriers, 
including straw bales, filter fence, or equivalent, shall be installed immediately on the downslope 
side of the piles. 



23 
 

 

(d) If dewatering devices are used, discharge locations shall be protected from erosion. All pumped 
discharges shall be routed through appropriately designed sediment traps or basins, or 
equivalent. 

(e)  Each site shall have graveled (or equivalent) entrance roads, access drives, and parking areas 
a minimum of seventy (70) feet long and fourteen (14) feet wide to prevent [minimize] sediment 
from being tracked onto public or private roadways. Any sediment reaching a public or private 
road shall be removed by shoveling or street cleaning (not flushing) before the end of each 
workday and transported to a controlled sediment disposal area. 

(f) All temporary and permanent erosion and sediment control practices must be maintained and 
 repaired as needed to assure effective performance of their intended function. 

(g) All temporary erosion and sediment control measures shall be disposed of within 30 days after 
final site stabilization is achieved with permanent soil stabilization measures. Trapped sediment 
and other disturbed soils resulting from the disposition of temporary measures should be 
permanently stabilized to prevent further erosion and sedimentation. 

 
614  . Section 14. Inspection 
The Administrator shall make inspections as hereinafter required and shall either approve that portion 
of the work completed or shall notify the applicant wherein the work fails to comply with the erosion 
and sedimentation control plans as approved. In order to obtain inspections and to ensure compliance 
with the approved erosion and sediment control plan and this ordinance, the applicant shall notify the 
Administrator within two (2) working days of the completion of the construction stages specified 
below: 

(a) Upon completion of installation of sediment and runoff control measures (including perimeter 
controls and diversions), prior to proceeding with any other earth disturbance or grading, 

(b) After stripping and clearing, 

(c) After rough grading, 

(d) After final grading, 
(e) After seeding and landscaping deadlines, and 

(f) After final stabilization and landscaping, prior to removal of sediment controls. 
If stripping, clearing, grading and ⁄or landscaping are to be done in phases or areas, the applicant 
shall give notice and request inspection at the completion of each of the above work states in each 
phase or area. 
The County of Winnebago shall also reserve the right to inspect disturbed areas of the construction 
site that have not been finally stabilized, structural control measures, and locations where vehicles 
enter or exit the site at least once every seven (7) calendar days and within 24 hours of the end of a 
storm that is 0.5 inches or greater or equivalent snowfall. 

 
615 . Section 15. Retention of Plans 

The applicant shall retain copies of plans and all reports for a period of at least three (3) years from 
the date the site is finally stabilized. The applicant shall also retain a copy of the plan at the 
construction site from the date of project initiation to the date of final stabilization. 

 
616 . Section 16 Special Precautions 
(a) If at any stage of the grading of any development site the Administrator determines by inspection 

that the nature of the site is such that further work authorized by an existing building permit is 



24 
 

likely to imperil any property, public way, stream, lake, wetland, or drainage structure, the 
Administrator may require, as a condition of allowing the work to be done, that such reasonable 
special precautions to be taken as is considered advisable to avoid the likelihood of such peril. 
Special precautions may include, but shall not be limited to, a more level exposed slope, 
construction of additional drainage facilities, berms, terracing, compaction or cribbing, 
installation of plant materials for erosion control, and recommendations of a registered soils 
engineer and/or engineering geologist which may be made requirements for further work. 

(b) Where it appears that storm damage may result because the grading on any development site 
is not complete, work may be stopped and the applicant may be required to install temporary 
structures of take such other measures to protect adjoining property or the public safety. 

(c) Major amendments of the erosion and sediment control plan shall be submitted to the County of 
Winnebago and shall be processed and approved or disapproved in the same manner as the 
original plans. The County of Winnebago may authorize field modifications of a minor nature by 
written authorization to the applicant. 

 
County of Winnebago 

SUMMARY OF THE NEW EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL ORDINANCE 
 
Purpose of this document: 
1. To give contractors, developers, and consultants warning that Winnebago County is 

implementing a comprehensive erosion and sediment control ordinance. 
2. This ordinance will prepare developments for the most current NPDES Phase II requirements 

(March, 2023 or newer). 
 
Main principals of this comprehensive erosion and sediment control ordinance: 
1. Design developments to fit existing topography and natural drainage patterns 
2. Protect natural vegetation on site 
3. Prevent sediment from entering adjacent watercourses 
4. Reduce the exposure of disturbed soil 
5. Methods of different erosion control structures and practices 
6. Continue maintenance of control structures and establish permanent vegetation 
7. Dispose of waste generated from site development activity 
8. Reduce storm water runoff velocities 
9. Prevent sediment on roadways 

 
This comprehensive erosion and sediment control ordinance applies to: 
1. NPDES Phase II projects after March 2003 (development activity affecting an area greater 

than or equal to 1 acre). 
2. Any land disturbing activity that may discharge soil and erosion into any storm water conveyance 

system. 
3. If development activity is determined to be causing or contributing to existing or potential 

new erosion of sediment or impacting the storm water conveyance system. 
 
All erosion and sediment control plans, contained within the ordinance, will require the 
following: 
1. Certification Section 8. (a) signed by owner and engineer. Must include principal contact with 

address and phone number. 



25 
 

2. Certification Section 8. (b) signed by contractor for all NPDES permit projects (contractor may 
sign the approved erosion and sediment control plan if the project is not under a NPDES permit) 

3. Vicinity map of the project 
4. A development plan showing: 

i. Existing topography 
ii. Location of existing structures, buildings, and waterbodies, etc. 
iii. Predominant soil types 
iv. Proposed use of the site 
v. Appropriate erosion and sediment controls 

a. Silt fence, sediment basins and traps, earth dikes, drainage swales, check dams, 
storm drain inlet protection, rock outlet protection, risers, etc. 

b. Construction entrances 
c. Stabilization (needs to be implemented within 14 days once construction stops) 

i.e. temporary seeding, permanent seeding, geotextiles, and sod 
 
Inspection ⁄ Enforcement: 
1. The principal contact must observe construction to assure the project is following the approved 

erosion and sediment control plan; 
2. The [inspector] shall make regular inspections; 
3. The County of Winnebago may require special precautions beyond the approved erosion and 

sediment control plan; 
4. The County of Winnebago will verbally warn the principal contact that an erosion and sediment 

control plan is not being followed or a “special precaution” is needed; 
5. If no action is taken after 3 days of the verbal warning, the County of Winnebago will warn 

in writing the principal contact of the violation or of the “special precaution”; 
6. If no action is taken after 3 days of the written warning, a stop-work order will be issued. 

 
Violations and Penalties: 
1. A Certificate of Occupancy permit will not be granted 
2. Fine of not more than $500.00 for each offense 

 
700 . Post Construction Runoff Quality Controls 

The County encourages developments that incorporate post construction runoff quality controls 
(PCRQC's) beneficial to water quality. However, the county has not established means to measure 
or estimate pollutant loads or rates characteristic of development types nor standards to assess the 
compliance of outflows. Until the adoption of Total Maximum Daily Loads, or some other design and 
performance goals, any specific PCRQC's will not be required. But their presence shall be included 
and described (including maintenance provisions) in the proposed site development plan, with the 
following provisos: 

701.1 they are part of the stormwater conveyance system, covered elsewhere in this regulation; 
701.2 when included in the public rights of way, they must be approved by the appropriate road 

jurisdiction; 

701.3 they must not create a nuisance or hazard; and to avoid that perception, the developer shall 
inform prospective buyers of their existence and operation; 

701.4 the prevention of groundwater contamination is reasonably assured. 



26 
 

{Low Impact Development Principles: grass swales vs. curb and gutter and storm sewers} 
Notwithstanding the conditions for wet- and dry-bottomed stormwater storage areas in Sec 300, the 
freeboard above a surface water release structure may be used to meet stormwater detention volume 
requirements. 

 
800 . Reserved 

 

900 . Reserved 
 

999 End of Technical Regulations Adopted by Winnebago County Board 

 

1000 . Surface Water Management Guidance 
Under Section 50-249, Administration of the Surface Water Management Ordinance is the 
responsibility of the Administrator, who has the duty to review plans for developments governed by 
the ordinance; and the authority to approve or deny permits, or find implementations in violation. In 
this capacity, the Administrator must exercise sound engineering judgment in areas which go beyond 
even the detail of the Surface Water Management Technical Regulations. A Surface Water 
Management Technical Guidance is created as an administrative tool for such areas. Such areas 
are, for example: 

1000.1: Surface water hydraulics and hydrology. Specifically, what techniques, data, coefficients, 
computer programs, etc. may or may not be acceptable under the circumstances of a given 
development to adequately estimate the design flow rates for the specified recurrence 
interval; and then what methods and assumptions could be used to evaluate the capacity of 
the receiving conveyance system, or 

1000.2: Pollutant type and removal rate. Possibly, what pond configuration, filtration media, and/or 
chemical additives can be expected achieve what pollutant removal rate, operating at what 
maintenance cycle, with inputs of some volume and contamination level, to meet any future 
TMDL requirement. 

1001: To maintain proficiency in reviewing plans and implementations, the Administrator needs to 
maintain a knowledge base of proven, scientifically acceptable technology, both analytical and 
physical; and 

1002: Be open to new technologies as they are proven; and 

1003: Share that knowledge with applicants. 

1010: This guidance may be called by reference, or it can be appended to the Technical Regulations, 
as herein, for ease of distribution. 

 
1100 . General Guidance 

1101: The Illinois Department of Transportation Drainage Manual is recognized as a good 
reference, both for general techniques and local conditions:  

https://public.powerdms.com/IDOT/tree/documents/2084523 

 

 

https://public.powerdms.com/IDOT/tree/documents/2084523


27 
 

One should note the ISWS Bulletin 75 Rainfalls are in the Appendix as well as Huff rainfall 
distributions. It can be downloaded from the University of Illinois Library website: 

   https://www.ideals.illinois.edu/items/114209 
 

1102: The appropriate BMP for a parcel will be based on existing watershed plans within 
Winnebago County. Watershed plans can be found at the Winnebago County website:  

https://wincoil.gov/departments/highway-department/programs-and-
information?highlight=WyJ3YXRlcnNoZWQiXQ 

 
1200 . Guidance re: Floodplain Regulations 

1206: The SWMO acknowledges Statewide Permits issued by IDNR⁄OWR and the County reserves 
the discretion to use them as indicators of compliance, but does not adopt them as blanket 
exemptions outside SFHA's. 
IDNR⁄OWR's threshold of regulation is a drainage area of at least 1 square mile. Winnebago 
County uses floodway regulations on as small as 5 acres, and defines floodways the same 
way they are determined in floodplain mapping: i.e. encroachment is defined as 0.1 foot stage 
increase over 'existing' conditions. This is inconsistent with SWP#2. Also 500 S.F. Accessory 
Structures under SWP#10 would not be appropriate in a 20-foot-wide drainage easement. 
Being more restrictive is consistent with 44 CFR 60.3(d) as minimum requirements. 

 
1300 . Guidance re: Stormwater Detention Regulations 

1304: The first sentence of paragraph a has been deleted from the original ordinance. Using "shall 
be...", had been in conflict with the following 2 sentences. It refers to a methodology (modified 
rational method) that would only be generally recognized for a small drainage area, where 
"may be..." is operational. The Technical Guidance reflects on this, and the routing techniques 
mentioned. 

 
The Technical Regulations refer to "routing techniques" for all but "small drainage areas". 
Operationally, this means insignificant, not only in size but location in the context of current 
and future development in the drainage basin. Some urban and urbanizing jurisdictions (e.g. 
Kane Co., which the City of Rockford may emulate in this respect) are requiring the 100-year, 
24-hour duration rain, with AMC 2, be routed. The Department is currently open to arguments 
based on merit for any method, but one should expect that consistency with methods used by 
an adjacent jurisdiction will carry some weight. 

 
1400 . Post Construction Runoff Quantity Controls 

1401: The Administrator’s concern is that a soil absorption system relies on conditions which cannot 
be observed directly. There are possibilities that a poorly envisioned or constructed soil 
absorption system will not function as its design analysis assumes from the day it is installed. 
More likely, over time, its performance will be degraded by the accumulation of fine particles 
or debris. The problem is that a system that operates properly in low-flow conditions, which 
are seldom a problem with flooding, wouldn't reveal a failure until stressed by high flows, 
precisely when flood control is needed. On the other hand, a system might work too well, if 
contaminants are present and not intercepted in some way. For example, direct runoff from a 
gas station should not be drained directly to a drywell, due to the ordinary accumulation of gas 
and oil drips, and possibility of more disastrous spills. 

 
 

https://www.ideals.illinois.edu/items/114209
https://wincoil.gov/departments/highway-department/programs-and-information?highlight=WyJ3YXRlcnNoZWQiXQ
https://wincoil.gov/departments/highway-department/programs-and-information?highlight=WyJ3YXRlcnNoZWQiXQ


NEW BUSINESS 



ANNOUNCEMENTS & 
COMMUNICATIONS 



County Clerk  |  404 Elm St, Rm 104, Rockford, IL 61101  |  Clerk.wincoil.gov 
Phone: (815) 319-4250 | Fax: (815) 969-0259  

Announcements & Communications 
Date: June 13, 2024 
Item: Correspondence to the Board 
Prepared by: County Clerk Lori Gummow 

Governing Statute(s):  State of Illinois Counties Code 55 ILCS 5/Div. 3-2, Clerk 

County Code: Ch 2. Art. II. Div. 4, Sec. 2.86 – Record Keeping & Communications 

Background: The items listed below were received as correspondence.  

1. County Clerk Gummow received from the United States Nuclear Regulatory
Commission a Summary of April 11, 2024, Public Meeting with Constellation Energy
Generation, LLC Regarding Proposed Alternative to Implement American Society of
Mechanical Engineers Operation and Maintenance Code Case OMN-32 (EPID L-2024-
LRM-0050)

2. County Clerk Gummow received Monthly Reports from the Winnebago County
Recorder’s Office and Winnebago County Clerk’s Office for May, 2024.

http://www.wincoil.us/
http://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs4.asp?DocName=005500050HDiv%2E+3-2&ActID=750&ChapterID=12&SeqStart=14400000&SeqEnd=16300000
https://library.municode.com/il/winnebago_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COCO_CH2AD_ARTIICOBO_DIV4RUPR_S2-86RECO


 

Adjournment 


	Revised Agenda
	Awards, Presentations, Public Hearings & Public Participation
	Approval of Minutes
	Consent Agenda
	Appointments
	Pastor Maurice A. West & LoRayne Logan
	Kris Smith & George Fagerstrom
	Reports of Standing Committees
	Finance Committee
	Ordinance for a Budget Amendment for State's Attorney VOCA Grant Renewal
	Ordinance for a Budget Amendment for Bond Paying Agent Fees
	Economic Development Committee
	Resolution Authorizing Execution of Development Agreement with Village of New Milford for a $400,000 Host Fee Loan Pursuant to the Economic Development, Business Incentive & Host Fee Program Policy
	Operations & Administrative Committee
	Resolution Awarding Purchase of Detective Squad Vehicle for Sheriff's Office using CIP 24 Funds
	Resolution Awarding Purchase of Crime Scene Vehicle for Sheriff's Office using CIP 24 Funds
	Ordinance Amending Chapter 6 of Winnebago County Code to give Winn. Cty. Liquor Control Commission the Authority to Grant Exemptions
	Unfinished Business
	Appointments read in on April 25, 2024 & May 9, 2024
	Public Works Committee
	(24-023) Ordinance Amending Chapter 50, Article IV of Winn. Cty. Code & Adopting Surface Water Management - Fee Schedule
	New Business
	Announcements & Communications
	Adjournment



